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1 Dongguan Lee & Man 2 Jiangsu Lee & Man
REEX SRR IE L

Annual 590,000 tons of paper Annual 1.12 million tons of paper
production production
capacity: capacity:
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Guangdong Lee & Man _ Chongqing Lee & Man
EREX : EEEX

Annual 2.30 million tons of paper Annual 900,000 tons of paper,
production and 110,000 tons of tissue - production 180,000 tons of pulp and
capacity: paper _ capacity: 575,000 tons of tissue
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Vietham Lee & Man
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Annual 550,000 tons of paper/
production products
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Annual 350,000 tons of paper and
production 400,000 tons of pulp board
capacity:
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AR EH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sas Jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH sp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas jp

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sas sp
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

DNEEH (&)

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

5th Floor, Liven House
61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
In Hong Kong and Macau:

Hang Seng Bank

Standard Chartered Bank
Citibank, N.A.

HSBC

Bank of China (Hong Kong)

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Bank of China

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3, Building D,

P.O. Box 1586, Gardenia Court, Camana Bay,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1100,

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 54 Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.leemanpaper.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET THT THT
RESULTS £
Revenue A 18,341,677 25,836,884 32,208,082 27,144,210 25,867,966
Profit before tax B B B A 3,354,017 6,323,175 6,127,332 4,020,195 4,321,472
Income tax expense FIE®HTH (491,274) (1,282,883) (1,247.112) (719,930) (X))
Profit for the year FEAF 2,862,743 5,040,292 4,880,220 3,300,265 3,652,512
At 31 December
W2A318
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr FET THT THT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ZERAR
Total assets BEE 34,995,978 43,289,793 42,776,828 43,497,407 46,800,491
Total liabilities BAaE (18,173,013)  (21,373,675)  (19,630,977)  (17,414,787) B LKL
Net assets EEHE 16,822,965 21,916,118 23,145,851 26,082,620 30,750,415
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The global economy was severely impacted by several factors during
2020, primarily the effects from the global novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) pandemic and the rising trade tensions between the US
and China. As a result, the paper manufacturing industry has been
faced with a number of challenges and adjustments. The COVID-19
pandemic was brought under control in China by the second half of
2020, enabling the resumption of production and a return to normal
economic activities, which in turn led to both sales revenue and profit
of the Group increasing for the second half of 2020 as compared
with the first half of the year. For 2020, the Group recorded a total
revenue of HK$25.87 billion, decreasing by 4.7% from the previous
year, while net profit increased by 10.7% to HK$3.65 billion, and net
profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year was
HK$3.52 billion. The earnings per share for the year were HK80.99
cents (2019: HK73.95 cents). The board of directors has proposed a
final dividend of HK18 cents (2019: HK13 cents) per share for 2020.
During the year, the aggregate sales of the Group amounted to 6.22
million tons, while its net profit per ton was HK$587.

INDUSTRY AND BUSINESS REVIEW

With the promotion of supply-side reforms in Mainland China in
recent years, as well as the restriction of new capacity investment
owing to the tightening of environmental protection policies, both
supply and demand within the industry have remained low. In the
international arena, the signing of the first phase of the US-China
trade agreement at the beginning of last year has reduced
uncertainties. However, the COVID-19 pandemic and the ongoing
tensions in the US-China relationship has affected consumer
confidence. With the increase in the cost of paper production, the
operation of the industry is still facing challenges. The Group has
proactively responded to these changes in the market. We have been
committed to developing a vertical business model through active
consolidation of our upstream resources, covering pulp
manufacturing and recycling of waste paper so as to achieve an
integrated industrial chain ensuring the supply of raw materials. At
the same time, the Group continues to expand its scale, control costs
and strengthen production capacity leveraging its existing business;
bringing more opportunities for business development and
performance growth.

8 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

The COVID-19 pandemic is under control in China and the domestic
market is demonstrating a recovery in demand. In 2020, the GDP
exceeded 100 trillion yuan for the first time. The Group will make a
proactive effort to optimize the industrial chain in order to diversify
its paper and pulp businesses. In the meantime, leveraging the
foundation of its existing business, the Group will support the “Belt
& Road” initiatives, targeting the Southeast Asia market for
international development, and introduce new production capacities
in countries such as Vietnam, Malaysia and Indonesia. In the future,
we will continue to seek business opportunities in countries and cities
along the Belt & Road and are confident in the long-term

development of the region’s paper industry.

In regard to the tissue paper business, the Group considers it a major
focus and has therefore established an integrated product chain. Lee
& Man Paper has endeavored to improve the quality of consumer
tissue and boost its scale of production. The Group produces natural
bamboo unbleached tissue in order to satisfy people’s needs for
health and environmental protection as well as consumption
requirements. The tissue business has maintained steady growth as a
whole and our existing capacity reached up to 900,000 tons annually.
The Group is focusing on the requirements of consumers and
continues to adopt effective strategies for developing the tissue
business.

Packaging paper remains the core business of the Group. With the
increasing prevalence of online consumption in Mainland China and
overseas, there is growing demand for quality packaging paper in the
market. This coupled with the implementation of plastic limit order in
Mainland China are favorable to the Group’s packaging paper
business. To cope with the full import ban on waste paper in
Mainland China, effective from 2021, the Group will actively develop
the recycled pulp business in Southeast Asia to replace imported
waste paper and strengthen the allocation of raw materials in order

to ensure its production cost advantage.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

While providing quality products at reasonable prices to maintain its RNEBEHR HUAEBSE R LS E BRI
competitiveness, the Group is also committed to fulfilling its R IFENBITEEESEE - FPEAK
corporate social responsibility. It has reduced pollution and carbon  [B14k & 4 # 4 B B 0T SR 55 S8 R iR HE B
emission by recycling waste paper and adopting advanced production AXFERBEZERFTENER - &&
technology so as to bring more eco-friendly products to customers. M5 @ ERXITENABLLBEANEES
In the long term, the paper manufacturing industry will still have — f o A& EEHE S - HETISEE -
greater room for development. The Group will capture the RIFAEEEERITENTERI -
opportunities to expand its market scale and maintain the Group'’s

competitiveness in the paper manufacturing industry.

4

.
[=]

CONCLUSION o]

all|

The Group would like to express its sincere gratitude to its employees  AEBROEH —HIAL 2B E T MK
and shareholders for their continued support. Leveraging its leading HIA N #  BEAEERNERENFER
position in the paper manufacturing industry and its consistently solid — #{i7 JA R B BB KRN BRERERES £ —
development advantage, the Group intends to further enhance its HIRARNEEEFGE S @ ARESKE A
profitability and maximize returns to shareholders. B Fl 2z o

10 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN W R D

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2020 was HK$25.87 billion and
HK$3.52 billion respectively, while its net profit per tonne was
HK$587.

The earnings per share for the year was HK80.99 cents when
compared with HK73.95 cents for the year ended 31 December
2019.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group's distribution and selling expenses was HK$718 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020 as compared to HK$612 million
for the year ended 31 December 2019. It represented about 2.8% of
the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2020 and was
increased as compared to about 2.3% for the year ended 31
December 2019.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s general and administrative expenses was HK$1,164
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 as compared to
HK$1,163 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. It
represented about 4.5% of the revenue for the year ended 31
December 2020 and was comparable to about 4.3% for the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's total finance costs (including the amounts capitalised)
was HK$314 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 as
compared to HK$418 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in both amounts and
average interest rate on bank borrowings during the year.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS" AND CREDITORS'
TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 71 days and 10 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 December 2020 as compared to 54 days and 10 days, respectively,
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The Group's debtors’ turnover days were 46 days for the year ended
31 December 2020 as compared to 39 days for the year ended 31
December 2019. This is in line with the credit terms granted by the
Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 30 days for the year ended
31 December 2020 as compared to 27 days for the year ended 31
December 2019.

12 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 December 2020
was HK$30,750 million (2019: HK$26,083 million). As at 31
December 2020, the Group had current assets of HK$12,003 million
(2019: HK$12,491 million) and current liabilities of HK$8,585 million
(2019: HK$8,460 million). The current ratio was 1.40 as at 31
December 2020 as compared to 1.48 at 31 December 2019.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$11,327 million
(2019: HK$12,336 million). These bank loans were secured by
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As at 31 December 2020, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of HK$1,185 million (2019: HK$2,919 million).
The Group’s net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of cash
and cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity) decreased from 0.36
as at 31 December 2019 to 0.33 as at 31 December 2020.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to
meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 December 2020.
The Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency

exposure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENBE D (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a workforce of more than
9,300 people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive
level and are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant
labour market and economic situation. The Group also provides
internal training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff

performance and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its

employees.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SRS

TEE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Board of the Company believes that
sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximising
shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, the Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
"Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely
receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-
to-day operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2020, the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of
the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond s8s jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp

Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director:

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas sp

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

During the year, the Board comprises of three executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management

expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business

operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly

identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.
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The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment

within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

FREALEES EE2ABEHRLE
Tttux% ERRZEE FeBRARD

R
REBEZTHRABETEES 0%
RN RS EREIE ©

T EFABRER

BEEHERN  —ExERRERABY
XU RERRA 2 ARERMANEETEE
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REESEW - FTHER -

ExelhEFZ Rz eRLEmEEE
BIRECWERE  MAEERVERED
B E =& XXM MR E F SoE s 1R
RWER  FEREGUNARRBEMNEL
BRERHE -

FR CHARZREZSSE  SEEY
FIERFHIIMT -

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEpE HEER SREKH
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss EXERELwenes cFHt 8/8
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp FXWE L pmns «Fmt 8/8
Mr. Li King Wai Ross PR E 8/8
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas J ERHABBE 22 HEE ATt 8/8
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRUELE 8/8
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviesst 4 8/8
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David IEE e 8/8
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BUZEEFOR BRI ZERERSE
A 2ERBMARER ZABEIN - K
BRZEFHARA 2 EBNEFTEE
B2 WD MBRN LA KA
MEERE NZBEERER -

Each appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure proper
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

EEMREREERLETHAANS MB L
AR/ ARBELER - TRHRIIEE
ER2020F BV EELTARESRZ
AR BERBECHEEXZEREZ
S BT o

The directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to the
Company. The participation by individual directors in the continuous
professional development programme with appropriate emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in
2020 is recorded in the table below.

Attending external

seminars/
Reading regulatory programmes
updates B8
MEEERTE ShRBBEY
Name of director EEpg BHER mHE B
Executive directors HITES
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sgs Jp EBiE T agnes cFet
Mr. Lee Man Bun wmHJp TR L2882 AFHL
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FERE
Non-executive director kBTES
Professor Poon Chung Kwong 685 Jp BRIBR 24028 AFM1 v v
Independent non-executive directors BIUFHITESE
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRELE
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies5t 4
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BERK &
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current

members include:

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. To conform to the
provisions of the Code and the Listing Rules, the written terms of
reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March 2012, and
revised in (i) January 2016 to reflect the additional responsibilities of
the Audit Committee arising from the Stock Exchange’s proposal on
risk management and internal control under the Code applicable to
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016; and (ii)
January 2019 to reflect the amendments of the Code with effect
from 1 January 2019. A copy of the terms of reference is posted on
the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a

review of the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the

individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FAR- - ABRZRERZESSE @ @5
RE®HFEBERFINNAT :

Number of attendance

Name of member BE%SR R
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David ISyt 3/3
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREAE 3/3
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviest 4 3/3
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FNEES

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the HMMZE @M 2005F K WK E R
current members include: &

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) FERK A (EE)

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR £

Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and advises and makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were approved and
adopted on 28 March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the

Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in

the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all

members have attended in the meeting.

Peter A. Daviesst &
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012 and

the current members include:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive directors. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March
2012 to conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy of which is
posted on the Company’s website.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. One Nomination Committee meeting was held

during the year and all members have attended in the meeting.

Nomination Policy

Objectives
The key objectives of the Nomination Policy (the “Nomination

Policy”) shall inter-alia include the following:

o to set out the criteria and process for the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company;

o to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company'’s business; and

o to ensure the Board's continuity and appropriate leadership at

the Board level.
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Appointment and Re-appointment of Director

Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity,
qualification, expertise and experience of the candidate who is
considered for being appointed/re-elected as director and apply due
diligence in compliance with all applicable provisions of the laws of
the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules including any amendments
thereto from time to time. Also, the Nomination Committee shall
consider recommendations for candidates to the Board from

shareholders of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall obtain all applicable declarations
and undertakings as provided under the laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Listing Rules. In the case of independent non-executive
directors, the Nomination Committee shall ensure that the
independent non-executive directors meet the criteria of

independence as laid down in the Listing Rules.

While recommending any potential new member(s)/re-appointment
of existing member(s) to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall

consider the following:

o candidate’s character, integrity, qualifications including
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
and diversity criteria under the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company which are relevant to the Company’s business and

corporate strategy, other commitments and the like;

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

o requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the

independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o the potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,

independence, gender diversity and diversity of perspectives;
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o willingness and ability to devote sufficient time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s);

o such other criteria which are appropriate to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy and the Board’s succession
plan and, where applicable, which may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from
time to time for nomination of Directors and succession
planning; and

o any other factors as the Nomination Committee may deem fit
to consider in the best interests of the Company and
shareholders of the Company.

Once the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or
replacement director is required, the Nomination Committee may
take such measures that it considers appropriate in connection with
its evaluation of a candidate, including inquiry of the person or
persons making the recommendation or nomination, engagement of
an outside search firm to gather additional information, or reliance
on the knowledge of the members of the Nomination Committee,
the Board or the management.

The Nomination Committee may retain the services of other
professional third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating
potential candidates.

The Nomination Committee and the Board shall ensure that the
composition of the Board is in conformity with the laws of the
Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and
regulations.

In accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable laws
and regulations, Professor Poon Chung Kwong and Mr. Wong Kai
Tung Tony, shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company has devised a policy on Board diversity (the “Policy”)
to ensure adequate diversity in its Board, with effect from 1 January
2019.

Vision

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board’s
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to
maintain high standards of corporate governance. The Company will
continue to monitor and develop new objectives for implementing
and achieving improved diversity on the Board as and when it

considers appropriate with regard to the specific needs of the

Company and the market from time to time.

Policy Statement

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diversified Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive

advantage.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, which will include but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and the like. The ultimate decision will be based on
overall contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board and the Company.

Review of the Policy

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Policy and will from time to time review the Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Policy. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any

such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order
to maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills,
experience and background on the Board, the Nomination
Committee developed measurable objectives to implement this policy
and monitored progress towards achieving these objectives during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational
background and professional experience of each director, against the
Company’s business model and specific needs.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the fee payable to the
Company’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:
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FET

Audit services EZRTE 9,119
Non-audit services (included tax matters, EEERE(BEREEE -

review and other reporting services) FEH N EMEBRRE) 1,931

11,050

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group's risk management and internal control systems provide a
clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as
reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage it risks across
business operations effectively.
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The Group has established a risk management framework, which
consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk
Management Taskforce (i.e. Senior Management). The Board
determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and has the overall
responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and the
overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control

systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management
Taskforce identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement
of the Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified
risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and
risk owners are then established and assigned for those risks

considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to provide internal audit services, which assist the Board and
the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design
and implementation of internal controls are identified and
recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant internal
control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are
taken.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a year. The Board
had performed annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, including but not limited
to the Group’s ability to cope with its business transformation and
changing external environment; the scope and quality of
management’s review on risk management and internal control
systems; result of internal audit work; the extent and frequency of
communication with the Board in relation to result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified
and their related implications; and status of compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group's risk management and

internal control systems are effective.
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The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“"SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the
SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The
Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or
false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which requires

equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2020, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and prepared the
accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website
of the Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the

Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual

report.

Dividend Policy

The Board considers sustainable returns to shareholders to be one of
the main objectives of the Company. Stable dividend payment to

shareholders is the primary objective of the Company.

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company, all of the shareholders have equal rights
to dividends and distributions. The Board determines the interim
dividend and recommends the final dividend which requires the
approval of shareholders. In addition to cash, dividends may be
distributed in the form of shares. Any distribution of shares also

requires the approval of shareholders.
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Retained profits can be used to achieve growth in corporate value.
The Board has been making effective use of retained profits to
strengthen the operating base and the development of businesses.
According to the dividend policy adopted by the Company on 1
January 2019, the Board takes into account the following factors
when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

o financial results;

. cash flow situation;

o availability of distributable profits;

. business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings;

o development plans;

o cash requirements;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

o interests of shareholders as a whole;

o any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of dividends;
and

o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

In practice, the Company will not declare any dividend(s) where:

o there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is
or would be, after a dividend payment, unable to pay its
liabilities or discharge its obligations as and when they become
due;

o pursuant to dividend decision date, the Company is insolvent
or bankrupt or where, as a result of paying dividends, the
Company would be rendered insolvent or bankrupt; or

o there is any other case set forth by any law.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder

meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must
be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the
principal office of the Company, which is presently situated at 5/F.,
Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company'’s Articles of Association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general

meetings of the Company.
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ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

With growing concerns from the various walks of life on how
enterprises have shouldered their social responsibilities, Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man Paper”, the “Group” or
“We") has prepared this Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (this “Report” or “ESG Report”) for the period between 1
January 2020 and 31 December 2020 (the “Year”) in accordance
with the requirements under Appendix 27 “Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide” of the Main Board Listing Rules of
Hong Kong Exchange in order that stakeholders can better
understand our performance in respect of environment, social and
governance (“ESG") and related information.

REPORTING STANDARDS AND SCOPE

Unless otherwise stated, this Report focuses on the Group's core
paper manufacturing business in Guangdong, Jiangsu, Chongging
and Vietnam. These three plants located in Guangdong, Jiangsu and
Chonggqing are the important production bases of the Group in the
PRC. As the capacity of plant in Vietnam is increasing year by year,
the Group further widened our reporting scope to include Vietnam
this year. The annual production capacities of above-mentioned
plants accounted for over 72% of all plants of the Group with
thousands of employees hired, exerting a clear and significant

contribution on the Group’s operation and ESG performance.

Since the addition of climate change, global warming, and labour
issues in last year’s report, we have continued to increase our
attention to these issues while further covering issues such as
industrial chain integration, the COVID-19 pandemic and information
technology risks, report on various social key performance indicators

and set targets for certain environmental key performance indicators.
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The Group reports on the policies, measures, performance and key
performance indicators with significant impacts on ESG issues based

on the following four principles.

o Materiality: Significant environmental and social issues are
determined by key stakeholders;

o Quantitative: Measurable key performance indicators are
reported in a quantitative way with narrative and comparative
data where appropriate, and further improvement goals are

set;

o Balance: The Group's ESG performance is reported in an

objective and fair manner;

o Consistency: Consistent methodologies are used to make data

comparable.

Information contained in this Report has been identified by the
personnel in charge of the Group’s ESG together with our key
stakeholders, and material ESG issues have been prioritised in
accordance with the materiality assessment. Preparation of the
Report involved participation of the management and employees
from all departments and has been approved by the Board to ensure
the truthfulness and accuracy of the content and create values for all

stakeholders.
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BOARD STATEMENT

Looking back to 2020, the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19)
pandemic swept across the world. Although the paper manufacturing
industry continued to face challenges of international trade frictions,
domestic supply-side reform and tightened environmental regulations
and so forth, the Group still strove to achieve sustainable strategic
goals in line with sustainable development and was able to overcome
challenges.

The Board assumes the full responsibility of sustainable development,
including formulating the long-term, medium-term and short-term
development directions, evaluating the risks and opportunities of the
Group's key ESG issues, reviewing and ensuring the effectiveness of
the relevant risk management and internal control systems. Besides,
the Board also supervises senior management of the Group to
continually optimize the governance structure, promotes the
implementation of ESG initiatives and reviews reports prepared by
the dedicated working team on a regular basis with an aim of
making progress on sustainable development of the Group.

During the Year, we proactively carried out sustainable development,
including helping frontline workers to combat the pandemic and
adopting the pandemic prevention and control measures throughout
the year to safeguard the health of employees. After Spring Festival
holiday, in order to avoid the shortage of daily necessities that may
be caused by prolonged suspension of work and operation, we have
made every effort to resume production by strictly complying with
local governments’ policies on pandemic control in order to ensure
the provision of household paper while safeguarding the epidemic
prevention.

The Group has also launched and funded a number of charity
projects to fulfill its corporate social responsibility to help the poor
and the disabled. In terms of environmental protection, we have
applied energy-saving and emission-reducing elements in our
domestic and international industry chains and products, and
invested resources in the development of environmentally friendly
production technologies as a timely response to climate changes and
extreme weather conditions, so as to protect the safety of factory
workers and avoid property losses. In addition, we have improved our
labor management mechanism and enhanced staff welfare to bring
benefits to our employees.

EEEE8H

Bl E2020%5F - HIBMHREBEBEI
ERENFEAHREERHESEREK
EAHAGBRERRRERARBEEREZN
ke BARAEENBEAFERESK
MELA - RER P FFE S B R T8

55 -

EEGRAEAAERNIHRESTEEHE
B2E BEHER - BHONERA
M AFEARNEEESESGHE AN R R &
B RE MR AR R B B R e BRI
RENBRM - o BEFENBEELRE
ENeSRERERERLLERRE KD
ESGHREMESE @ WEHBEXESGERET
ENEMERES  TEAEEEARE
BREM EEREE

TFREMEGHRRAIFEERIE &
BEBNABRIEERERE MFE2F
EEELIE - SFEBIRE - 1£2020
FHEORBHE  ARERTEIEE
AREER M EEME EBRRAR - BB
RREMBNNEE BT EEHEN
AIIR T2 LA IR 1B AL EE - (RFERTE
REREKMUERE -

AEETHRYENZEARIEAR @ BT
CEHGECKREDE - EREI@E
BPEBERIMERENERR LEE
FETBEREBENIRIR TR - WIR A B IR
RREERN - REREREE(CLRE
AR AMREIRS T2 RE R ER
Ko R BAMTET S TEEKS -
BMETREMN KB ITHREIL -

BIGERER AR 2020 F£3R 33



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERRSE (&)

Our excellent governance system, combined with stringent
production procedures and quality control, enables us to create value
for our customers, the public and other stakeholders through our
products and services. This year, we were certified as the “Top 10
Enterprises of Paper Industry in China Light Industries” by the China
Light Industry Council and won the “ListCo Excellence Awards 2020”
jointly awarded by AM730, PR ASIA and Phoenix Media, and the
Honorary Chairman of the Group, Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, was
awarded the “Industrialist of the Year Award 2020" by Federation of
Hong Kong Industries, demonstrating that we are recognized by the

community.

Looking ahead, we expect to achieve our targets in sustainable
development matters. In addition to our occupational safety targets,
we have set targets, using the figures in 2019 as baseline to reduce
overall air emissions by 2%, waste water by 1% and non-hazardous
waste by 2%, and to reduce annual unit product consumption (coal,
electricity, water, etc.) at our major plants by 1% in five years. We
will continue to increase our investment in public service and
community, and regularly review the progress on ESG-related targets
on an annual basis and continue to pursue greener performance.
With Lee & Man Paper as our starting point, we will work together
with our stakeholders to drive sustainable development for a better

future.

Board of directors
2 March 2021
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ESG CULTURE AND VISION

Embracing people-oriented principle
Protecting environment and saving energy
Striving for improvements

Contributing to society

Lee & Man Paper always adhered to a principle that places equal
emphasis on production and operation as well as environmental
protection. Through sound corporate governance, we aim at creating
a future in which operation will be performed in parallel with
sustainable development. We continue to invest resources in climate
change management, environmental conservation and technology
research and development to reduce emissions and strive to produce
sustainable products with the highest quality. With our aim of
establishing a people oriented and efficient corporate culture in the
long term, the vision of environmental protection and harmony will
be promoted to the whole country and even beyond.

ESG MANAGEMENT AND POLICIES

The Group has established a sound risk management and internal
control system, which is fully supported by the Board. We have
developed a management structure with established rules and
regulations, and specified the risks and respective persons in charge
of internal processes. Independent third party consultant is engaged
every year to conduct a comprehensive risk assessment and internal
audit for the Group to prepare risk management and internal audit
reports, which will be reported to the Audit Committee. We strive to
provide the Board with all-round information covering the
environmental, social and governance risks, including business

operation, occupational health and safety under the pandemic,
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response to domestic and foreign environmental protection policies, FEEIWILIEKSE - AR G EEF@EETR
compliance and anti-corruption, climate change, etc., to ensure AEBEWAIFERR  JTY THaREE
effective management and control and seize opportunities as they EEXEWESGHEE /N4E @ NEKEBER
arise. The Board of the Company attaches great importance to the HRZFBZZHE - ANBRIPEE - B8
Group’s sustainable development and has established an ESG task  #EBEf& - {TIIE - HERKIES - LA
force led by senior management, whose members including the 3 EZESGHE - THEERNEEMNESG
heads of the quality control department, human resources EAfEEKBRESANEBESGEIR @ WHA
department, information technology department, administration EIEEE®R ETHEB@THEFE 577
managers and sales managers, etc., to identify major ESG issues, EREHEIFZURIABLRIG @ KRB E
manage the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities and monitor the HE& B & - REBMWESGE AL M
Group’s ESG performance on a regular basis, and report to the T :

management. The management will assess its impact and develop

long-term and short-term plans to address potential risks, which will

be reviewed and approved by the Board. The Group’s ESG structure

is as follows:

Formulate the overall ESG development direction and
The Board ensure the effectiveness of the risk management
o and corresponding internal control system in
respect of the Group’s ESG, with a view to minimising the
ESG risks exposed by the Group and capturing opportunities,
while promoting the Group's sustainable development.
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Senior management Establish ESG management approaches, formulate
(including the heads and ESG policies and related measures to
T 6 CEETERiC ___integrate ESG elemints into operations.
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Coordinate and supervise ESG issues
(including ESG report), regularly review the progress
of key performance indicator targets and

N make fine adjustments.
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Dedicated working team
(the environmental protection team,
safety steering team and

Business units and
related personnel

ES A5
MHEAAER
Set personal sustainable development Comprise personnel with relevant
goals and integrate the Group's environmental and safety management

philosophy into daily work. qualifications to materialise the implementation

A EARFHEERART of ESG policies and measures and
BAREEIE S report to the management on a regular basis.
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STAKEHOLDERS
ENGAGEMENT

IDENTIFICATION AND

Our stakeholders are internal and external interested parties of the
Group, which are closely related to the ESG management and
performance of the Group. By sorting out the individuals and parties
that can affect or be affected by the operations of the Group, the
management summarises the following seven key stakeholder
groups. The Group values the engagement of each stakeholder and
actively collects their opinions and expectations through interactions
in daily operation, understands the impacts brought to them by our
operation, so as to identify the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities.
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Stakeholder groups & engagement methods
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Employees
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Customers

®5F

Suppliers and business
partners
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Investors and shareholders
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Government and regulatory

authorities
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Media
B

Community groups

HEEE

Internal communication channels
Intranet and employee newsletters
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Official website

Advertisements and communication
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EREYSS

Business meetings
Audit and performance evaluations
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Annual general meeting
Annual and interim reports
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Public consultation
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Official website
B 5 48k

Social services
Charity activities
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Performance evaluations and

regular meetings
Training and activities
REFERERSE
=SR2

Service hotline and opinion survey
Interviews and meetings with customers
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Site visits

Industry forums
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Circulars and announcements
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Seminars and meetings
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Press releases
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Public consultation
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During the Year, the stakeholders of the Group expressed concerns
in the following areas, among others:

° Use clean energy to reduce emissions

o Improve product quality and thereby increasing customer
satisfaction

o Enhance occupational safety management in factories

The above considerations will be incorporated into the future
operational strategies of the Group in order to respond to the
demands of stakeholders.

ESG MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to determine the ESG issues that are significant to the
Group, the Group has conducted an ESG materiality assessment with
the representatives of the aforesaid key stakeholder groups through
interview and questionnaire. Relevance and materiality of issues are
assessed by internal and external stakeholders in order to identify and
analyse the most significant ESG issues of the Group. Such ESG issues
are determined in accordance with the ESG aspects as stated in the
Appendix 27 “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide"” of the Main Board Listing Rules of Hong Kong Exchange and
based on other factors which have an impact on the Group’s
operation and management system, objectives and core value, and
risks and opportunities.
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Conducted by the representatives
of external stakeholder groups

based on the influence and
materiality of that ESG issue to
such stakeholders
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MATERIALITY MATRIX BEEMER

Based on the assessments by stakeholders on various issues, we have #&&SFNERSERZEMNT D - B4R
identified the 28 issues that are most significant to the Group’s & T28TEE A EBMIFIHELRABFEREM
stakeholders and our development, and these issues are ranked E&RAEZMESGHE @ WHHIZEZRE
according to the materiality. In response to the increased concerns of ~ EBEZI] o B EARF [E AL BIH1H EHIRR
the Group's stakeholders on environmental issues during the Year, HEHET EHA  KRFEEHERELITE
the reporting focus of the Year has also been adjusted. The Group FT#E - AE BB QRETZEEERIE
will continue to improve the group’s development framework to 28 * RESGEIE LM ERFHET o

meet the needs of stakeholders in ESG management.

Anti-bribery, anti-fraud and
! anti-money laundering
After-sale services and sAe‘\r/vearglesigc];;rgi [y 1 BEER « HREE
A o omeen - @ maisiR ® M%ﬁe
v . Compliance
S Recycling of Wastes from !
O o tional health resources production ciperaggijs
5 Cectenalhe Ko el L
[e] Recruitment and BEZE{EFE L 2 15 1% Lficgqua_LVAan >ately
< dismissal Wastes from Protection of privacy ERHERZE
g R R office work FLIBRE
= Procurement and supplier PNFEEY) i
3 H'M o e NREE Management of ;r:;/gsgr:ema\ly friendly
o | R EE T water usage () BRES
.gg Greenhouse gas RKER
Working hours emissions
=] .m[[ and holidays . iEﬁ‘E;%HFESZ. ‘ Use of energy
o & T EES Prohibition of child ® BEIRER
G] ) and forced labour
) ﬂz qua(\ji;y, qi\/‘ersti‘ty and Eom;f)_fnsaft\on and gugoge\%);zllman PirETR@EsT Use of packaging
= anti-discrimination enefits o terial
5 FE - bRk staff members . %a;;;;%i@;ﬁ
8 J‘HK R 7 BB R R Continuing development
of staff members !
ﬁ' = Tk Reasonable marketing
?ﬁ RIFETRE and promotion
= ABITHEREE Green supply chain
© Climate change #EHER g
S AR
] 3
-
©
E Community investment and donation
>[5 403 ==}
Biodiversity HERIRE R B @
E27E253td
Materiality to the Group'’s business >
HEAEBEBNEEY
B Compliance management I Environmental protection Product quality
AN = o0 4=y 00X O O /&
e RIRIRE EmmE
[ Staff development B Community investment
BT ¥R HRIRE
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Awards & Accolades for 2020 2020 F FriE SR TE FI 45

The Group has been putting continuous efforts since its inception A& E B &I AR — BBz - HE
with consistent commitment to our customers, employees and P+ B * (M RAEAGERKN— » RAEALEE
community. Adhering to a principle that places equal emphasis on K& HIRBREVENTE - THREE
production and operation as well as environmental protection, we HREEEMERERE - BBERX
stay committed to offering quality products and services to the 5 ' AFEEHMEFTTZHRAEETE °
customers. With the support from various sectors, we have received %1 /20204F &8 55 SEIHFI & -

a number of recognitions during the Year. The following table sets

out some of the awards and accolades received in 2020:

Awards and Honors Awarded by

RIBMEKE BB

ListCo Excellence Awards 2020 — Main Board (Large-Cap) AM730, PR ASIA and Phoenix Media
B F AR K382020— EHRATE AM730 ~ 55 M 2 B8 Ko B LA Ak
Industrialist of the Year Award 2020 — Federation of Hong Kong Industries

Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the Honorary Chairman
of the Group
2020F B TR R R - SEKBLIFFERE L ERIXRES

Top 10 Enterprises of Paper Industry in China Light Industries China National Light Industry Council

China Paper Association

PEETEERTETRERE HEETERAS
TERERBE
The certificate of “High and New Technology Enterprise” Department of Science and Technology of Guangdong

Province, Department of Finance of Guangdong
Province, State Taxation Administration

SHRMEEES BREAMBRIME BEREMEE BERNBER

Quality Brand Incubator National Quality Supervision and Testing Centre for
Paper Products

BEEmBEEE ARAHEmESEERRT O
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PEOPLE-ORIENTED
Anti-corruption

Anti-bribery and Anti-money Laundering

The Group attaches great importance to integrity supervision, and is
committed to preventing corruption, bribery, fraud and other
behaviors that are illegal and against commercial ethics, to make sure
we have always observed laws and regulations on prevention of
commercial crimes in our daily operations, including but not limited
to the “Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
" Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China”
and so forth. Enterprises are required under laws and regulations to
abide by the principles of fairness, equality and integrity, to act in a
lawful manner, to adhere to commercial ethics, and not to operate
business by means of theft, bribery, deception, compulsion or other
improper means.

The Group believes that anti-corruption depends on the internal and
external cooperation of all parties. Therefore, all employees are
required to abide by the “Standards for Commercial Ethics” compiled
by the Group, which restricts employees to serve the Company and
customers with professional compliance, equality, fairness, and
integrity. The Worker’'s Manual of the Group also clearly stipulates
code of personal and professional conduct for their stringent
compliance, pursuant to which employees are not allowed to accept
any special privilege during transactions, including but not limited to
rebates, expensive gifts, luxury hospitality, etc., so as not to affect
their objectivity and professional judgment. The Group has also put
in place an anonymous whistleblowing mechanism for employees to
report any violations that will be investigated by independent
personnel. We have regularly assessed and reviewed the internal
management system to ensure that potential corruption risks can be
effectively prevented. The results of the above review and audit will
be reported to the Audit Committee to ensure that the relevant risks
are acknowledged, assessed and addressed. In order to emphasise
the Group’s integrity policies and allow employees to clearly
understand the Company’s anti-corruption policy and the importance
of integrity, the human resources department and the legal
department regularly provide anti-corruption trainings to the
management and employees, and new comers are required to
receive integrity education and training.

BLA R
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ERE|ERES - TMERTAS AR
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In the meantime, business counterparties of the Group, including
customers, suppliers and contractors are required to sign an
“Undertaking to Eliminate Bribery” by promising no bribery will be
conducted and integrity will be upheld together with the Group, and
violators shall bear the losses and all legal consequences of the
Group. The Group also encourages its partners to provide their anti-
corruption policies for our reference, ensuring that both parties
cooperate on a fair, open and just basis.

During the Year, the Group did not find anything which constituted
a breach of the aforesaid and other local laws and regulations related
to anti-corruption or anti-money laundering.

Employment

Lee & Man Paper regards employees as one of its important assets
and relies on their contributions to create a competitive advantage
for the Company. The Group actively attracts and motivates
outstanding talents, assists employees in developing their potential to
realise the people-oriented core value.

R - EAREAEXBERNER B
P HEBIEAER HFERI(LE
THERE)  RELEB—UBETA
HKAFRFHRZRE  BREFAZAKE
MBRR—NEARER - AEETNB A
EARHEERBREERMEESRE - #
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BIE -

MARFER » AEEWEERER AR
EREMEENEBRED RAREZL
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Given that staff in Mainland China represents a majority of the
personnel of the Group, the Group fully complied with the
requirements of the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China” and
other relevant local employment laws and regulations. In accordance
with the requirements, employees are entitled to compensation,
holidays and leaves, occupational safety, trainings, insurance and
benefits, the right to propose for the handling of labour disputes and
other labour rights. The Group has established policies and
procedures ensuring the implementation of statutory requirements
and hence providing its employees with a work and living
environment of higher level of quality, fairness and respect. In
response to the expansion of the Group, we have further sorted out
and adjusted our domestic and foreign human resource management
strategy to specify the responsibilities and rights of both employees
and employers, strengthening the protection for our staff.

AEEBEZHETTFEANCPEARK
MESEE) (hEARKMNELHER
YR ) R H A 4R BE A 3t 35 M R B R BIE AR
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Recruitment, Promotion, Compensation and Benefits

Talents are always in demand and the Group has been eager to
recruit those who share the same values and visions with us so that
we can build a diversified and professional team full of passion. By
external recruitment and internal promotion channels to recruit and
promote staff, as well as the establishment of our internal
“Recruitment Management Policy”, “Termination Management
Policy” and other relevant guidelines to govern administrative works
including staff recruitment, appraisal and termination, the Group
ensured high efficiency, compliance and transparency throughout the
process. The Group also distributed the Worker's Manual to staff
introducing its culture and core values, admission and appraisal,
benefits and holidays, working hours and overtime regulation,
training arrangements etc., ensuring that staff had full understanding
of the human resources policy of the Group and the right to protect

their own interests.
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In order to enable employees to better develop on the existing basis,
improve work ability and strength to become outstanding talents, the
management team maintains two-way communication with
employees, and determines the salary, personal development plans
and training of each employee in accordance with their performance,
experience, expertise and job duties, to enable them to grow with
the Company. We strive to provide employees with better-than-
market benefits and compensation packages to attract and retain
talents.

In terms of benefits, the Group maintains social insurances for its
employees, ensuring that they can work only after being insured. It
also takes full consideration of employees’ needs by arranging
convenient accommodation and meals for employees and their
families. Our employees enjoy work injury leave, marital leave,
maternity leave, compassionate leave, business trip leave, annual
leave, personal leave, sick leave and medical insurance, share options
and bonuses based on employee performance and the Group's
profit.

We implement forty hours work week arrangement to ensure
reasonable working hours so as to give employees sufficient rest and
to avoid overwork. The additional working hours must be agreed and
the “Overtime Request Form” must be filled by employees, and then
the form should be submitted to the human resources department
for record. For any complaints relating to working hours which are
against employees’ wishes or unreasonable, the Group will arrange
follow-up investigations by the human resources department to

protect employees’ labour rights and interests.

RERATERANER HE—SEE -
RFATHEENNES  RABHEAL -
EREYHAEE TRESRSA - RS
HER  @% - BXEE LERE A
S—ATHHY  BARRHERE
Hl - MEHEATHFAKE « A - B
TR F AR TIREERTHEENE
FIAF B B IA R 3 3R AT -

EEMNAE  AEERZEEINEMNS
R MRAZRESTAUHEEIE I
REIREFRBRHENNIBNER -
2HUBREIFTE - ATEINFEHT
EEAEE  SEABEIARERELSG
B BR-ER B2 HER F/&-
2R -RBRE-RR 2RBEINZAE
BRE - - BERE STAARRAERAEEH
BFBEREROICAZRES -

BAETERIRN /I - BRIIER
RAE BETEGSRNKE  BRER
BEEFBR o VR Z PRI TIER
HEAMBEIARNARBILHRNARERN
NHBFE) B—RXTANBRIBHER -
HRNERERRETRERAAEENTIER
BEF  ARBESRFANERIBERER
L REEINSBER -

BYGERARAT 2020 F3 45



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERRSE (&)

Employees’ Data for the Year

rXEEETHE

All employees engaged by the reported plants are full-time AFEHERNNTHARANEIZAES
employees. The total number and percentage of employees are as BET @ ETMAHENADLLOHWT -

follows:
Employees by gender

BEMA

?

81%

B Male B ™ Female &

Employment category by position

B R

4%
\ |

25%

71%
B General staff
—MRETL

= Mid-level staff and
management
FRETRERE

B Senior management
mRERE

Contract types
aHER

0%

100%

B Long-term contract ™ Temporary contract

REIEH R &4
Employees by age Employees by region
EEFR B EEEAY

10%

— 17%
44% ‘ 13%
67% J%%

B Aged below 30 H Vietnam H Chongging
30BA T 2] Ed

B Aged 30-49 B Jiangsu = Guangdong
30-497% TLER BER

W Aged 50 or over
505 £
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Total number of employees 2020 2019’
ETHH 20205 20195"

By gender
3]
Male 5,623 5,563

==
3

Female 1,290 1,304
Z

By contract types

aRER

Long-term contract 6,913 6,867
RHEH

Temporary contract 0 0
FRfRF & 4

By position

BARER

General staff 4,924 5,239
—RET

Mid-level staff and management 1,690 1,336
PRETIRERE

Senior management 299 292
BREEE

By age group

FirddRl

Aged below 30 1,615 1,682
308 AT

Aged 30-49 4,628 4,601
30-495%

Aged 50 or over 670 584
505R A £
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Total number of employees 2020 2019’
sTan 20204 2019%"
Region

&

Guangdong 3,047 2,955
B®R

Jiangsu 1,829 1,849
PR3

Chonggqing 864 855
BF

Vietnam 1,173 1,208
g
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Employee turnover rate 2020 2019'

BT RALLE 20204 20195"

By gender

Bl

Male 14% 19%

e

Female 20% 22%

z

By age group

FHAE B

Aged below 30 28% 35%

305 AR

Aged 30-49 12% 15%

30-495%

Aged 50 or over 9% 8%

507% 3k bA £

Region

&

Guangdong 16% 20%

BR

Jiangsu 7% 17%

TLER

Chongqing 8% 15%

BF

Vietnam 31% 25%

21

! This year we have included our Vietnam plants in our reporting and have further ! REEHRMIGBEAMENAEREGE @ Wik —
collected ESG data for our Vietnam plants in previous years. We have therefore SWEBEBETER ESG BUk - Eit &M=
recalculated the 2019 data in this report to include the performance of the et EARRENR 2019 FEIE - UEEMRE
Vietnam plants in 2019 to ensure the information is comparable. MEH 2019 R - BREMEAETLE -
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Employee Care

We foster employees’ loyalty through a positive corporate culture,
promote and strengthen cohesion among teams, cultivate closer
relationship between employees and the Company, and achieve the
objective of “a win-win situation for both employer and employee as
one"”. The Group insists on maintaining good communication with
employees. The interaction between employees and the Company
can make both parties easier to hear and understand each other. We
also continue to improve employee services in terms of meals,

accommodation and amenities based on employees’ needs.

We regularly provide recreational activities and festive celebration
activities, such as the Spring Dinner, the National Day Celebration
Dinner and sports competition and so on, to encourage employees
and their families to participate so as to share the joy of life and
promote physical and mental health of employees. In addition, the
Group has set up an employees’ welfare fund to help them meet
emergency needs. If an employee or his/her family had a need for
financial assistance due to an emergency, the Group would allocate
funding to the employee to help them through the difficult time.

Recreational activities for employees
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Basketball game

EIRLE

Chess gathering
REEE
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Ten Years of Service

In October 2020, a ten-year management service award ceremony
was held at the Guangdong plant. Mr. Lee Ho Chung Jude, Deputy
General Manager of the Group, was invited to attend the ceremony
and awarded gold medals to 25 recipients of the Ten Year
Management Service Award. He also expressed his gratitude and
congratulations to the recipients who worked hard and contributed
to the development and progress of Lee & Man at their respective
positions. By doing so, the Group not only sought to motivate
employees, but also give them the warmth and care of the Group
during the COVID-19 pandemic.

T ERH
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Equal Opportunities and Anti-Discrimination

The Group encourages mutual respect and trust among our
employees, strives to build a harmonious Lee & Man family, and
prohibits any behavior that undermines a harmonious and integrated
team. The Group is committed to creating a working environment
with fairness, openness and mutual trust for its employees since its
establishment. The Group has drawn up its “Management Rules
against Discrimination, Harassment and Torture”, ensuring that our
employees receive equal treatments in our daily operations and in
every aspect of our human resources arrangements and would not
be subject to discrimination on grounds of ethnicity, nationality,
religion, political affiliation, sex, marital status and physical disability.
The Rules also prohibits all forms of harassment, coercion and
misconduct so as to safeguard the wellbeing of our employees. The
Group takes seriously any violation of the Code, and in the face of
unfair treatment or harassment, employees can report such incidents
in written form and put it into our “feedback box”, allowing the
human resources department to conduct investigations and follow-
up. The related employees will be informed of the results and any

form of retaliation is strictly forbidden.

The human resources policies of the Group have been in compliance
with all local labour laws in aspects such as recruitment, dismissal,
salary and benefits, working hours and holiday entitlements. During
the Year, the Group did not find anything which constituted a breach
of the “Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and other
relevant local laws and regulations in relation to employment and

human resources.
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Health and Safety

As the Group's production procedures involve the use of machinery
and the operation with high risks, we have attached great importance
to the occupational safety of our employees, and have taken all
appropriate measures to safeguard the health and safety of our
workplaces. The safety work of the Group is primarily governed
under the “Law of Production Safety of the People’s Republic of
China”, the “Law of the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases of the People’s Republic of China” and other relevant safety
regulations, standards and systems. The regulations emphasised that
production safety is important for the safety of employees’ lives and
property. We shall take the objectives of “Safety First, with Emphasis
on Prevention and Integrated Governance” as our guiding principles
to establish a sound system of accountability for production safety
and the prevention and control of occupational diseases, and to form
policies and procedures for safety management with a view to be
effectively engaged in production safety. The Group complies with

the requirements under laws and regulations in five ways as follows:
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Policies and procedures for Production Safety Management

We have formulated a sound “Policy for Production Safety
Management” to provide for stringent standards for occupational
safety. Employees shall comply with safety requirements specified in
such policy including those on hazardous goods handling, fire safety
management, warehouse safety management, safety requirements
for special operators and so forth. Moreover, employees are required
to implement the responsibility system for production safety, strictly
follow processes and comply with the safety operation procedures.
The Group has also issued its Worker’'s Manual setting forth policies
and practices on occupational safety for reference by all employees,

to facilitate the implementation of its safety policies;

Designated Safety Managers

We appointed safety managers to take responsibility for the
supervision and monitoring of the safety affairs of the Group and to
ensure its effectiveness. Safety managers shall, based on national
laws and regulations and its objectives of safety management,
determine the annual plan on safety work deployment and
investment, and regularly convene safety meetings at all hierarchical
levels of staff, to know the progress and effectiveness of its safety
work and advocate the concepts of production safety to its

employees;

Policy for Safety Roster and Inspection

A comprehensive policy for safety roster and inspection is in place,
pursuant to which the departmental persons-in-charge shall regularly
inspect equipment and facilities, warehouses, electricity and gases,
meters, repair and maintenance, hygiene, fire safety equipment and
fire safety systems and so forth, and immediate rectifications shall be
adopted against potential threats to safety. On a daily basis,
production staff shall inspect specified areas to further ensure
production safety;
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Safety Education and Training

We have established a mechanism for safety education and training,
under which we systematically plan for training programs and
provide trainings on policies and regulations, occupational safety and
health, case study for accidents and emergency management, in
response to employees’ needs for safety trainings. Employees are
required to meet pre-set training hours every year to ensure adequate
acquisition of safety knowledges. The Group also regularly organises
first aid, fire-fighting, evacuation and escape drills. Different posters
and notices are also posted in production workshops to remind
employees of the importance of occupational safety all the time; and
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{EE BRI - BB - REFR
B THEMBLEERMAHAENRER
2EBMETR  BAREETILZ2EE
K

Policy for Prevention of Occupational Diseases and Mechanism
for Management and Inspection of Accidents

Our policy for prevention of occupational diseases and mechanism
for management and inspection of accidents are effective in
safeguarding against the occurrence of occupational diseases, and in
identifying accidents and unsafe factors. The Group has set out
guidelines to be applied in case of emergency to ensure that
employees respond in a correct and timely manner to minimise the

loss arising from and impact of accidents.

BEREHEEFERFHREEMNHE
]
BT RED EIEGE R ERERE
MBS ABREREHBERNE
£ UHEBAREEREINTIRERE -
AEETRS T ESFHEEE - #R
BT IREFMIELRE  BFEBEEKRD
BAMFERIHZE -
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In view of the above, looking forward, our occupational safety goals

are:

o to attain over 99% of the staff safety training achievement
rate;

o to arrange occupational health and safety body checks for all

employees at least once a year;

. to treat noises and air emissions in line with national standards;

o to achieve zero mortality in safety accidents and no fire

accident throughout the year.

Data on work-related fatalities and injuries are as follows:

bR - RERK > RPANBELZ2AE

=R
wAE -

o BIRTHIBEMEZFEII%INAL

BANEATCHETHEEET ¢

Data on occupational safety 2020 2019’ 2018
BEZ28E 20204 20195’ 20184
Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0
AT THAR

Lost days due to work injury 4,086 8,160 No statistics available
EITEMBERNTIERE REFEt

Prevention and Control of the Pandemic

The Group and its plants have established a pandemic prevention
and control team as soon as possible since the outbreak of
COVID-19, and has implemented stringent precautionary measures,
requiring all employees to follow the “prescribed guidelines”, such as
wearing masks, measuring body temperature, sterilising the whole
body and filling in health information form before entering factory
area. Employees’ safety and health are placed as the first priority.

RIGHI#Z

BFERIEBREAR  AEBRETHE
—RREKL TRBEHIETENE BT
RO RERER A TEARBEA
FRlm TAERTERFE BB A - BIBER
2HHE  BERRREAREIREH
Bl BETEAMTEMEBRERES

—fiz °
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Throughout 2020, the Company has continued to carry out a series
of anti-epidemic measures, including recording employees’ health
and travel history, prohibiting employees from entering and exiting
factory casually, providing employees with flexible work
arrangements, strengthening the factory’s epidemic prevention and
disinfection work, purchasing and distributing anti-epidemic supplies,
equipping canteen with partitions, requiring employees to maintain
social distance at canteen, and promoting personal hygiene to
employees. The Group has also arranged leave for all employees who
felt unwell, or have been to high-risk places and exposed to patients.
It will also pay the quarantine and testing fees for employees in need.
The above measures have effectively lowered the risk of workplace
infection.

Caring for the safety of employees, the Group has continued to
enhance its safeguards and investment on improving the employees’
workplace, and has received professional recognition. Our plants in
Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Jiangxi were granted with
ISO45001 certification for occupational health and safety,
respectively. During the Year, the Group did not aware of any
material breach of the “Law of Production Safety of the People’s
Republic of China” and other local laws and regulations in relation to
occupational health and safety.

Training and Development

Talent is the cornerstone of the Group’s development. The Group
treasures every employee and believes that an excellent team can
create greater value for the Group. The Group has customised its
“System for the Management of Training” for cultivating every
employee by inspiring his/her potential and devising annual training
programmes based on the combination of the needs of the Company
and the individual needs of employees, thereby achieving joint
development and attaining goals.

GRERSREER
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F2020F 2 F - RAIERE —RINE
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EREFREETIXMNREAGAER BB
A LA REEELETESMERNAE
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o

AREELEBETILR B THMNBRET2RE
B RHMEZERNEE T TIERE -
WHESEHEEASTE - #1E  I&H  ERRIT
THED D RBEIS045001 BE 2 FE N
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H At 3 [ 1 A B 2 2 BR B &2 2 AE A M0 K 10
EHRBMERBR -
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The training programmes can be divided into three categories: BIRNBTEFTED AU T =A% :

Internal Training

AL

External Training

SMERIE

Management
Trainee Program
EEREBLE
FHE

'

Admission training: It covers introduction to the firm, rules and procedures, and
attendance and salary matters, mainly for familiarising new joiners with the Group’s
background and expectations of the Group on employees

ABSEH  DEEN - MEFIEMEZHHFIMD - FTABET THAEENE S
R E T T{ERHIE

Production safety: It borrows the concepts of 7S management practices originated
from Japan and the relevant ISO requirements, allowing employees to enhance
production quality and to improve working environment

E£ERE  SERNBANTSEETISEEMS - URISO B FEENESR - 8T
REEENTIERREE

Fire safety: It raises employees’ awareness of fire safety and improves their ability to
address emergencies

HERZ RS ETINHARIARZEZERTNREES

Environmental protection knowledge training: It strengthens the importance of
energy saving and emission reduction and environmental protection knowledge, and
raises the awareness of employees toward sustainable development

BRARMEZI - RFHRERPNERN - RS E THREANAIFKEERNER

Expertise training: Employees are assigned to receive training offered by third party
institutions for acquiring the most updated industry information and techniques
desirable for increasing productivity and competitiveness

THEEREI SRR OB TTE - BEITESHEM - BBTE
RA RS - BB LIRS A E 1 MR #F /)

Training for special position: Experts are engaged to conduct trainings for enabling
such employees to attain adequate knowledge and skills for their positions

BREAEI - ZHREREGBTETE BRETARMABMXEBELHE

Targeted training: For employees who have the potential and ability to join the
management, the Group would arrange comprehensive management training
programmes for them to prepare them for promotion

BREN R AEENARNEAEEEBNETL - AEEGRATHHRAEIERE
FIRE - ERETTER

Develop potential successors: We select trainees to attend a two-year diploma
course on paper-making technique offered by the South China University of
Technology in Guangzhou every year. After graduation, those trainees would be
assigned job duties at different positions in the Group

EEEBUEA  GFKERBEDEMNERIET KBEERIAMFOERRITURR
2 WEBREER  EXRKBTHINAEENES BELAR
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Training data of each category

EFEREIIHIE

Percentage of trained employees 2020 2019’
EZEIETIHEIL 20204 20195"
By gender

5]

Male 86% 83%
3

Female 83% 82%
z

By position

B!

General staff 84% 82%
—MET

Mid-level staff and management 88% 7%
PHRETIRERE

Senior management 87% 88%
BRERE

Average training hours per employee 2020 2019'
B TEZEIITFHRY 20204 2019%"
By gender

45l

Male 1.67 0.99
e

Female 1.00 1.00
z

By position

B R

General staff 1.02 0.99
—RET

Mid-level staff and management 310 1.00
RRETRERE

Senior management 111 1.00
RREREE
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Labour Standards

Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour

The Group recruits qualified workers in adherence to the principles of
fairness, openness and free will. Every subsidiary of the Group
entered into legal employment contract with employees in
accordance with the “Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China” or applicable local labour laws and there was no forced
labour. In the meantime, the Group only recruits people who have
attained the age of 16 in strict compliance with the “Labour Law of
the People’s Republic of China” and other applicable local labour
laws and regulations. The Group formulated its own “Management
Rules for the Use of Minors as Labourers and Prohibition against the
Use of Child Labour” to prevent the use of child or illegal labour and
to protect the legitimate rights and interest of the minors. During the
recruitment process, the human resources department would check
the personal information of applicants and conduct background
investigation. If such investigation generated any irregular result, the
Group would retain the record and cease the application process
accordingly. In the “Worker’s Manual”, the Group also encourages
employees to whistleblow on the use of false identity documents in
order to achieve effective control from different perspectives.

In view of the aforesaid internal control measures, during the Year,
the Group did not find anything which constituted a material breach
of any of the abovementioned labour standards or other relevant

laws and regulations.

LR

=

PrlbE TR T

AEERBLF - AR BRHWRAIEE
BRAERNIA - &EFRABRE(P
EARKNMBELEEH S FE)LE i A &
TREBTIRITAZXERAR - Eo2H %
TR AR AEBEBERZB(PEA
RAMBESEZ)REMERNE MBS T
EER - REBEAEMI6ERHIAL
AEERBMRICRRF TERRELLE
RETEERE)MEETHNEAST
REERKFANGERES - ANEREE
ERBEREPZEEEENEAERLE
TERHALE  AEBERETMASTER
ERZEARNEAELLREME - AL
IFEHRE - AEBTR(EIFM)F
BB TRBMAERF HEFAIMIE
N RETEEREZBRR -

AR L AR EIEE - NFER - AR
B RAHBEMER L 85 THERIRE
B EDEPIE R ERER -
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND ENERGY
CONSERVATION

Emissions

The Group is a world-leading manufacturer of containerboard, pulp
and tissue paper and is in possession of several large scale
manufacturing plants for papermaking, pulp-making and tissue paper
in China. Therefore, the operation of the Group is principally
governed by the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Environmental Protection”, the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution”, the “Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Air
Pollution”, and the “Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution Due to Solid
Wastes” and other local laws and regulations and emission standards

in Mainland China.

IRORETRE

B

AREBEA—REDIKAEE ML NHMEIR
Rk @|EBHERARLEERD > BATR
TEEERRRAER TR - &R N E
ERETHE  AEAKREEKEXBRE
ERBPEAARMH(PEARAMBERER
RiEE) (PEARAMBENSRE A
E) (P EARAMBARRITRIGE)
MR E AR KAMBEE G EY S RARRD
VAR D)E R B A M [ 1 A DR AR MR
REMKRE -
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In accordance with the requirements, environmental protection
strategies adopted by enterprises shall follow a principle of “priority
to protection, emphasis on prevention, integrated governance, public
participation and liability assumption of damages”, in order to
prevent and control pollution and damages with compliance
measures, to establish an accountability system for environmental
protection and to clarify responsibilities of enterprises and related
responsible officers, hoping to create commercial value for all
stakeholders while reducing the impact on environment. The use of
advanced and latest pollutant treatment technologies are also
encouraged by China for facilitating the environmentally-responsible
development.

In response to the government’s total ban on the import of solid
waste products from 2021, we have significantly increased our
purchases of domestic waste paper, and set up plants overseas to
process waste paper raw materials before importing to China to
ensure that our green production model of converting waste paper
into environmentally-friendly products is not affected.

Being well aware that environmental protection is an important basis
for its development, the Group has adopted a number of
improvement and monitoring measures to ensure performance of
our environmental responsibilities. The Group has established various
environmental protection policies and measures including:

Setting Up Environmental Team
LR R/NAE

BREER  MERORREESTAREE
£ERE  FERE - AR2H B
SREAERRA - AEBREEN A RAME
TYRBRVRRREEESE - ARELE
LERAEABWNELT HEER/SHEN
FRERMEEENRE  REHRENE
2 - BRI SB b ERFRA L E MR
BISRY) - HBRRER

A FE B BT A 2021 SR B 2 T 28 1H3E O
B BSEE G - B PIE R0E 45 00 3T B 7 S 4R Y
- WHOBINE SIS 88 ) 4 R R
MIFHA  UEREMEERES (L RIR
REGHNGOEEBRATIFE -

AEERARRFERAFELZRNEE
EifE o RIS R BGE i N B 1R T A
BRETHRERRENET - NEBEKER
B RRARBREREEE

Led by our Chief Executive Officer, the environmental team comprises members having the relevant expertise,
including senior flue gas treatment experts, sewage treatment technicians, environmental monitoring professionals
and environmental protection technicians so as to ensure effective implementation of the following measures.

MEFEATERERE AGERET AR  BRESRERLIEN - J5/KEEAR -

BITABSE - (RE TIIHRRRIGRSABRANIT

Duties of Environmental Team
RIRNMEBE

RIBEAAR  REREFRX

1. Holding internal control meetings regularly to review environmental issues in the plants, to update themselves
with applicable environmental laws and regulations and to give advice on any improvements;

2. On an ongoing basis, the team engages themselves in environmental protection measures to be taken in
production processes, including those employed to lower water consumption, treat sewage water and air
emissions more efficiently, save energy and monitoring emissions to ensure continued compliance with high
environmental protection standards.

1. THRAFRNINEESS EEEHAMBEANRREE  BASKERRERZMATEHEING - W RF
EEZEENROREHEE 2R

2. TETELEEBERETNRRER SRR EKE EAEARNEKEERN SHEREAE  RKAE
RIRHERBEIERM R WEES - R FHEEISRRIZE -
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Environmental Policies and Measures

BRARBUREEE

v set up policies for emissions treatment to provide clear targets and state the responsibilities and division of
labour for environmental protection measures adopted by the Group;

v formulate guidelines for energy-saving and reduce emission at the source;

v as part of the various efforts to make us one of the companies which best complies with environmental
protection principles in the world, our different plants have employed technologies with high efficiency to
reduce emission and keep our emission below the latest emission standards laid down by the government as
well as internationally applicable environmental management standards.

v o RIBIRMEEINE - RIRREERMAENBEFENBES T

v RIMERRIBEIRES! - IRSEREE

v BEENRSMERMEEIER - REFERBUTSHABEBRENPEHUKE - HRERRTERRE I8N

RRERENERERRRNABZ— -

The Group is committed to satisfying all applicable laws and AREBE LB — Y HRIRIFERER BN E
regulations on environmental protection, including the &R - B4 Ll AR RAEGLER R E
aforementioned laws and regulations and other local law  fthib[@ ) E B Bk REEIEE - RERE
requirements and emission standards. During the Year, the Group A @ ANEBE W R AR R MERIBEFRE
did not find anything which constituted a breach of relevant #EEBEFERABE N - WIB KRR - A
environmental protection laws and regulations. Looking forward, in  — 3B EHIRBHTE - IA2019F A&
order to further alleviate the impact on environment, the Group has ¥ - AEBE ST T S BESFEHE - 81 -
set up various five-year goals based on the 2019 baseline, including:

reduce emissions by 2%; o ERBEWNPEE2% ;
reduce waste water emissions by 1%:; o REKBEMRBRIEN% ;
reduce non-hazardous waste by 2%: o MEREEVIRI2%

reduce annually unit product consumption (coal, electricity, o FEBRESEBEMNELEESERL
water, etc.) at our major plants by 1%. TRE1% (B~ & - KE) o
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Based on the energy saving and emission reduction measures of the
Group, we recorded progress for all of the above goals during the
Year, including

o reduced sulphur dioxide and particulate matter emissions by
over 20%;

° reduced waste water emissions by 1%;

° reduced non-hazardous waste, including coal ash, cinder,
wood chip, by over 2%;

o reduced coal consumption by 5%.

The Group will continue to invest resources in achieving our targets.
Through improving operation workflow and adopting the relevant
measures below, we are confident in fulfilling our five-year goals and
endeavour towards a sustainable future.

Air Emissions

To ensure sufficient power supply for operating paper-making
machines in our production, the plants of the Group have had their
own thermal power stations operating coal-fired generators and
therefore, there have been gas emissions including nitrogen oxides
and sulphur oxides. Different plants of the Group have established
energy-saving policies to regulate energy consumption for production
activities and offices. Relevant measures also include formulation of
energy consumption targets, establishment of an inspection system
for energy usage, training programs and promotion for energy
conservation etc.

Case Study: Environmentally friendly Thermal Power Station
Environmentally friendly circulating fluidised bed boilers used in our
thermal power stations can achieve efficient combustion of all kinds
of coal. As the combustion temperature in this kind of boilers is lower
than that in pulverised coal boilers, less nitrogen oxides would be
generated.

In each coal-fired power station, the most advanced air emissions
treatment facilities have been installed, including the employment of
highly efficient bag filters to reduce ashes, SCR/SNCR de-nitration
systems to eliminate nitrogen oxides, and limestone-gypsum flue gas
desulfurisation system to curb sulphur dioxide gas. We have
successfully reduced smoke and sulphur by more than 99.9% and
90% respectively.
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Our effective wet desulfurisation facility further reduced sulphur
dioxide emissions to much less than 400 mg/m® as required by the
“Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Thermal Power Plants”
(GB13223-2011) in China. The Group has monitored the quality of
air emissions on a real-time basis by using online detection
equipment to ensure outperforming the relevant national standard.

AN B RSB AR A - B —
SI_EELHEHEREREZEERNER
GB13223-2011C X E R AR5 AW HE KR
IZEYBRME T HKI00ZRIZE o K
EEARATRERREERERNBERER
MEE  BREBKERREREENE
j: °
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|

Circulating Fluidised Bed Boilers

ERMLIRIDIE
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Sewage Discharge

Water is indispensable in paper production operations. In order to

reduce sewage discharge generated from its production and improve

quality of sewage treatment so as to meet regulatory standards, the

Group has put efforts into the following three aspects:

Management Planning

Established a sound “Guidelines for Sewage Treatment”,

B IKBEDR
KRERLEEBEPAARIN IR B
A EEBIER AT - REI5KE

BEnE =

FERBFIZE KRBT R

WAT=7TEETF :

EIRHRE

AR EMNCOITKEBEES)  FIH

setting out a list of key points for operating and inspecting EKEREHENRERREZE -
sewage treatment facilities, procedures for repair and RERETIFIBE@EEEBKOB
maintenance and duties of the relevant responsible teams, to %o E—HRAZEREITRRE
further improve the performance of facilities and ensure its R P 8 2
sewage output;

e Recruited sewage treatment technicians with professional ¢ HEFEZEEIRMNSKEEBME

qualifications and professionals responsible for reviewing the

ZEBENERBRENEZAT

effectiveness of sewage treatment from auto-monitoring data;

gt
e

Sewage treatment station

V57K BE FR Uy
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High-tech Treatment Techniques

Introduced the most effective sewage treatment techniques
employed by the paper-making industry worldwide, specifically
the combined use of physiochemical coagulation-sedimentation
pre-treatment, anaerobic + aerobic digestion and fenton
technologies to achieve thorough treatment;

Implemented the integrated management of sewage discharge.
Our sewage treatment stations have been equipped with
automatic programmable logic controllers and online

surveillance systems to monitor the discharge of sewage;

Strictly followed the monitoring requirements of the standards
for water pollutants. With the use of internationally advanced
sewage treatment techniques and facilities, we have
successfully maintained stability in the volume and quality of
sewage discharge, with the CODcr level of major pollutants as
well as the levels of NH3-N and SS in full compliance with the
maximum limits on discharges by pulp and paper-making
operations under National Standard “GB3544-2008"(Standard
on Discharge of Water Pollutants by the Pulp and Paper-Making
Industry). After multiple treatments, sewage discharged by the
Group’'s operations has achieved more than 99.5% of

pollutants removal;

Achieved water re-use by the rate of more than 80% in its
production and water discharge less than 10 m® per tonne of
paper produced. Our sewage treatment stations have been
equipped with water re-use systems to raise sewage re-use and

reduce water consumption;

BRRERETE
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Enabled a reasonable re-use of sludge and methane generated
in the sewage treatment process. Water content of the sludge
was lowered to around 50% with fully automatic recessed
plate filters and then the dried sludge was burnt at thermal
power stations in order to reduce solid wastes. The methane
generated in the anaerobic treatment systems in the sewage
stations was also collected and used as part of the fuel for the
boilers in the power stations, thus greatly saving the coal

required.

Compliance With Regulatory Standards

68

Annual inspection on the air emissions and sewage disposal

from boilers and sewage stations by environmental department;

Conduct regular calibration for air emissions and sewage online
monitoring systems;

Conduct repair and maintenance for environmental equipment

on a regular basis to meet the emission standards.
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gases of the Group are mainly emitted from coal-fired
power generation. The plants have their own thermal power stations,
producing electricity through operating coal-fired generators, which
discharge greenhouse gases directly and indirectly. With regard to a
series of emission reduction measures adopted this year, our
greenhouse gas emission was reduced by 4.5% in 2020 as compared
with the previous year, which showed our emission reduction
accomplishments.

Emission Data

Major emissions, direct and indirect greenhouse gas’ resulted from

W BE—
IR 2020F BB =R

= R
REERE R

BN EE R ARIERE o
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EREREIAZNRERED

RO BB - B
BERREFTR

BN T AR AR -

B &R
AEEREHBENEETDMELNTE

production activities for the Year within the reporting scope are as  HE#¥ - EEKEEEEREWNT ¢
follows:

Types of Emissions Unit Data in 2020 Data in 2019'
HERYER By 2020F 1% 2019 5’
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,)* tonnes 1,522.08 1,512.41
AE/LPNO,) 7

Sulphur Dioxides (502)3 tonnes 933.66 1,262.61
—%ﬂ: )IL( ) HHE/E\

Particulate matter (PM)’ tonnes 115.48 151.23
FERLYI(PM) > i

Water used for production tonnes 53,613,511.92 53,994,495.58
HERK ]
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Types of Emissions Unit Data in 2020 Data in 2019'
BHYER By 2020 Bi% 20195 845
Direct and indirect greenhouse gas (Scope 1)*  tonnes carbon dioxide 5,211,809.25 5,465,463.50
HERMEELEREE(HE ) equivalent

Wi —RLIEE
Other indirect greenhouse gas (Scope 3)° tonnes carbon dioxide 93,611.57 89,812.65
Hihf R =R (&EE=)° equivalent

W —E LR EE
Intensity of greenhouse gas emission tonnes carbon dioxide 1.19 1.25

70

A oo & Bl R
BRERBERE

products produced
W —RLEE
BHESEM

Since the electricity of the Group comes from our own generator units without
additional purchase of electricity, the indirect greenhouse gas emissions under
Scope 2 of the HKEx Reporting Guide Index are not applicable.

Emissions resulted from the Group’s power generation activities that use fossil
fuels.

Scope 1 emissions are the direct greenhouse gas emissions resulted from sources
owned and controlled by the Group which are calculated in accordance with the
Accounting Methods and Reporting Guidelines of “Greenhouse Gas Emissions
for Paper-Making and Paper Products Manufacturing Enterprises (Trial
Implementation)”, issued by the PRC National Development and Reform
Commission.

Scope 3 emissions are the indirect greenhouse gas emissions resulted from water
used for the Group’s production which are calculated in accordance with
“Greenhouse gas reporting — Conversion factors 2020" issued by the Department
for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy of United Kingdom.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report
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Wastes

The wastes generated in our operations were mainly non-hazardous
ones produced in the course of paper-making, together with a small
quantity of wastes due to routine office work. In order to reduce and
dispose of waste produced in the paper-making process, the Group
has established the “Guidelines for Waste Management” to classify
wastes of all production activities and clarify the workflow of
processing. Policies also provide for guidelines for the storage,
transport and disposal of wastes and require them to be recorded to
ensure that treatment process is in compliance with rules and is safe.

The Group has principally reduced or disposed of wastes generated
from its paper-making operations in three ways:

o Sewage treatment facilities in plants will filter sewage
generated from the paper-making process. This process would
generate certain amount of sludge. It is then burnt in boilers
after treatment and deep drying. The energy generated by
burning the waste in a circulating fluidised bed boilers could be
reused in the paper-making process and therefore, not only
secondary pollution would be avoided but also saving energy;

o The Group used lots of waste paper as a raw material in its
paper-making operations, paper-making residue was left
behind after extraction of useful fibres for the paper-making
process. As the residue contained different impurities, the
residue was carried to a washing line where reusable metal
wires, aluminium cans and plastics in the residue were collected
and sold to recyclers;

° Established “Directory of Hazardous Wastes”, so as to
segregate hazardous wastes before processing or disposal of
the recyclable.
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The Group has actively adopted the aforesaid measures of treating S£BEEIRFER FMIEHEIEEEY @ 5K
wastes, striving to meet the standard of processing solid wastes, 100%EZF|( EH & BRITEYE BT
liquid wastes and hazardous wastes stipulated in the “Measures of &) B jE 5% )N 1% 8 B8 177 85 75 Bk 26 & 13 9%
Guangdong Province on Implementation of Administrative Licensing A )E# T B ska) B BE - REEM B REEE 1T
for Controlled Waste Treatment” and the “Measures on the FRIBFEXE o

Management of Hazardous Waste Transfer”.

Major wastes resulting from the Group’s production activities for the AKEBRKNFE RS SHE RN AEEEIIE

Year within the reporting scope are as follows: EREFEEEMOT

Types of wastes Unit Data in 2020 Data in 2019’

BREYER B 2020 F 1% 20195 '

Non-hazardous wastes

EmEREY

Paper-making residue tonnes 215,607.91 194,434.99

EREEE M8

Coal ash, cinder tonnes 810,966.45 842,099.99

BIR - BoE WA

Impurities contained in waste paper raw tonnes 142,733.93 97,847.42

material (Including plastics, metal wires) L7

BERRAMEME(BRER  #4F)

Sludge tonnes 255,661.07 259,061.89

D= MR

Wood chip tonnes 225.97 256.94

ARIAREE WA

Hazardous wastes®

BEEEY

Waste batteries tonnes 21.35 24.62

BEE WA

Used oil, waste paint, waste liquid etc tonnes 177.42 140.34

FEMOM « BERIR - BERF 7]

Used lamps/bulbs tonnes 1.32 1.85

ERE/BA A

° Types of Hazardous wastes are identified with reference to the “Directory of ~ °© SEhE ARENMEBERESEMN(BER
National Hazardous Wastes” issued by the Ministry of Environmental Protection BEREY RSN EEEYEE -

of the People’s Republic of China.
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USE OF RESOURCES

With sustainable development as the prerequisite, the Group sets
goals for resource consumption to protect environment, to make
rational and scientific use of energy and resources and to reduce
production costs. The Group has formulated the “Guide for Energy-
saving and Control and Management of Resources” to regulate the
use of energy and resources in various activities. The policy specifies
the responsibilities of and division of labour among departments,
whereby departments related to production including the
procurement department, the production department and
departments using maintenance workshops and facilities are required
to control the consumption of energy and resources such as raw
materials, equipment, water, electricity, paper, packaging materials
and so on. Administrative departments including the human
resources department, the administration department, the logistics
department and so on are responsible for carrying out resources-
saving education for all employees of the Group, monitoring,
recording and comparing the monthly usage of energy and resources.
Generally speaking, the Group takes “education as principal and
supplementing with management and control” as the guideline for
resources-saving, and lead employees to implement green
production. The Group has also set targets for coal, electricity and
water usage for the year by achieving 1% reduction in consumption
per unit production of major factories on yearly basis compared with
that of corresponding period in last year and will conduct year-end
review of the amount of resources usage for the year in order to
pursue better environmental performance on an ongoing basis.

&R
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The Group has actively adopted measures for energy conservation

and emissions reduction, striving to curb energy consumption in each

of its production processes. Apart from ISO50001 energy

management certification, the Group has indeed received

commendations of the Government Examination Team for Energy-

Saving and Emissions Reduction for our promotion and

implementation of various measures to save energy, reduce emissions

and achieve environmental protection alongside economic growth.

Measures for saving energy and reducing consumption include:

74

Reducing energy consumption by substituting high-
performance equipment for older ones and making relevant

changes to its electricity facilities;

Adopting efficiency-enhancing and energy-saving technologies
such as the full use of frequency conversion and high voltage

compensation devices;

Closely monitoring energy input and output as well as energy
consumption by production and non-production operations
with an effective mechanism for measuring, monitoring,
analysing and appraising energy consumption, and the
corresponding personnel to manage the use of energy. The
Group has installed water and electricity meters in various
regions of the plants and implemented a system of rewards

and punishments;

Departments are required to conduct data analysis and
comparisons on a monthly basis to effectively promote energy
conservation and environmental protection to the whole
Group.
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Energy Consumption

The logistics and production processes in our daily operations have
involved the use of great amounts of energy. Diesel and coal have
been the major energy sources we used. Each plant has its own coal-
fired generators to ensure availability of sufficient power necessary
for the high power consuming paper-making machines, and
therefore have not purchased electricity power from the national

power grid.

Improving energy efficiency is one of the ways to effectively reduce
energy consumption. To ensure coal quality has met standards, the
Group adopts strict measures on management of coal storage and
transportation. The Group also conducts regular repair and
maintenance on generators to achieve an optimal operation of
generators and efficient combustion of coal and in turn improve
energy efficiency. In addition, the Group has also employed co-
generation technology to turn residual heat from the power
generation process into heat source for use in paper-making, thus
considerably raising the efficiency of energy use and reducing the

consumption of coal.

Additionally, in order to achieve energy-saving and emission
reduction, the Group requires the use of latest technologies in every
segment along the production process. Moreover, the Group has
introduced a number of projects which aimed at lowering energy
consumption, For instance, there was frequency-conversion
modification of high electricity-consuming machines which helped to
achieve better energy saving performance and lowered the
production cost. Moreover, methane and certain of the solid wastes
which were side products in the sewage treatment process referred
in the “Sewage Discharges” and “Wastes” sections above could be
burnt in boilers in the thermal power stations, therefore saving fuel
for the coal boilers.
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The Group has also continued to optimise energy management. It
has raised the efficiency of energy use both in the power generation
process and in the paper-making process and have therefore
successfully lowered the energy consumption per unit year by year.
The Group regularly tracks and records energy consumption. During
the Year, the overall energy consumption per tonne of paper
produced by the Group was less than 0.34 tonne of standard coal,
even lower than the national average which is approximately 0.60

tonne of standard coal comparatively.

AEETHEICERERE  RETBEN
Mo EEBRRERR RS R E @ 15
BUERESFHERRK ANEBETEHER
NCHEREE  AFEEAR  A&KEELE
E — WAV AR A BERE D P00, 34MIR HE KL -
EERNEFEE MR FEA 0. 60MA R AL
MEEFHHE -

Water Usage

As water has been a necessity for our paper-making operations,
water used in our production has accounted for a major part of the
Group's water consumption. In order to minimise the consumption
of clean water resources, the Group:

o Regarding water source: the Group has upon governmental
approval obtained its water supply by directly taking water
from rivers and then carrying out purification process to satisfy
the industrial water standard. In doing so, we have helped

protect the valuable potable water resources.
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e As for water saving: the Group encourages recycling and has o B AKITE  NEESHEBRE

principally adopted the strategy of employment of advanced A - FEXWMRBBRiE SRE
and highly efficient sewage treatment techniques for reusing A KEETIEEEER KBRS
water in its production. The use of closed circulatory system for A YRV TXERKNHHBEERR
industrial water successfully increases the recycled water ratio FoEEREBRFERABRABKRNL
in production to more than 80%. As a result, the amount of FIHEB80% + KRR T KIAKH
natural water required by the Group has been considerably BF -

lowered.

o In regard to maintenance: to prevent leakage from water o EEFHE @ THEATHBE K

pipelines and to preserve water resources, the Group also B BIRKAE - KEEEE RH MK
checks water pipes and repairs water tanks, water taps and Fih o MEFBKEBENREBRTI
other water supply facilities regularly. e BT HKER -

Direct water extraction

from rivers
A BBk Water Paper-making
purification production
BREF EEER
Closed

circulatory system
Reusing water in production
HERRAS
TERKBERBER
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Use of Packaging Materials

Some of our paper products required the use of plastic materials for
packaging so as to prevent products from contamination or damages.
The “Guidelines for Packaging Materials Management” is established
by the manufacturing department for waste reduction purpose
through packaging materials classification, labelling, storage and
usage. Also, simple packaging will continue to be our principle so as

to alleviate any environmental impacts.

Energy and Resource Usage Data

Through the above measures, the Group and our employees together
achieved the objective of resources conservation. This year, energy
and resource consumption in respect of production activities within

the reporting scope of the Group were as follows:

BEVFER
AEENBEOBRBEHRRBOFTERLEEE
FHETTEE  MBREMISRNER -
AEEMEERFISHT T(REDHE
BESIDUNAEEEDHNDE - 8
FREER - BODHRE - AEETE
BHERABOEERA  BROHRENT
@,

EREERAEER

BB LERE  AREEETELHIE
RBTERMOONBE - AFEAR AKH
BERENLERDMYRNERNER
REWT :

2020 2019’
2020% 20194’
Intensity Intensity
Energy and resource Annual (per tonne of Annual (per tonne of

consumption Unit data  production) data  production)
BE(REMW RE(REMHM

BERRERAE By FEER ERE{y) FEER EEEN)

Types of fuel

Coal tonnes 2,983,287.88 0.6700  3,125,314.47 0.7029

B W8

Diesel litres 5,795,669.79 1.3016  8,099,360.72 1.8215

s AT

Petrol litres 111,462.82 0.0250 179,817.40 0.0404

i DT

Water resources

KEIR

Water tonnes 88,984,386.00 19.9850 85,373,241.96 19.2001

K 73

Packaging materials

BRI

Plastic materials tonnes 409.50 0.0001 522.11 0.0001

BRER 7
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The use of the environment and natural resources is closely related to
the climate change. The impact of commercial activities on the
environment and natural resources has always been a great concern
to the Group. As a commitment to reduce the logging of timber and
reduce the impact of human activities on natural environment, we
have been using recycled paper as the materials for paper-making,
the primary business of the Group. In addition to complying with
environmental regulations and international rules on protection for
the natural environment, the Group has also incorporated concepts
of environmental friendliness into our internal management and daily
activities. In our striving to attain environmental sustainability, we
have successfully received I1SO 14001 Certification for Environmental

Management.

With the aim of actively promoting environmental protection and
efficient use of resources, we have monitored the potential effect of
our business operations on the environment on an ongoing basis and
promoted the green office and the green production environment in
adherence to four principles, namely, “Reduce”, “Re-use”, “Recycle”
and “Replace”, in order to minimise the impact of our operations on
the environment.

Noise Treatment

As our plants have been equipped with large paper-making
machinery and coal-fired generators, their operation would cause
rather big noises. In view of this, the Group has implemented the

following measures:

o The Group has chosen to use low noise equipment and
products as far as possible in the course of building the pulp
and paper production lines and the thermal power stations in
order that noises could be lowered at the sources;
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° In an effort to lower sound pollution to the environment, the
Group has installed sound isolation facilities to contain noises
due to running of machines and has added silencers on noisy
equipment such as blowers and exhaust fans;

o The Group has built soundproof control rooms at the pulp and
paper-making workshops where workers can work in a healthy
environment without being influenced by the big noises;

o The Group has added more vegetation in the factory area to
help dampen the spread of noises apart from purifying the air.

Timber Logging

Among the packaging paper produced by the Group, 98% was
made from recovered paper and only 2% from timber virgin pulp.
This was exactly an example of our utmost efforts to protect forests
and creatures, and minimise the impact of our operations on the

natural environment.

Though the pulp used in production is derived from timber logging,
the Group has no activity in respect of deriving pulp directly from
timber logging. In order to lower the price of raw materials and
achieve the goal of environmental protection, the Group is committed
to developing production machinery that can produce green
sustainable product by treating tons of waste paper as raw material.
In the future, the Group hopes to further raise the percentage of
waste paper being used as raw material and become one of the
containerboard manufacturers with the highest recycling rate in the

world.
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Environmentally Friendly Products

The Group invested in the research and development of
environmentally friendly products maximising the efficiency of
utilisation of wastes and minimising the addition of chemicals such as
brightener and fluorescer. The Group currently produces products
including environmentally friendly test linerboard and environmentally
friendly coated white linerboard in pursuit of becoming a leader of
green products in the industry with an aim to alleviate the
environmental impact caused in the process from producing to using
its products and thus offering more environmentally friendly choices
to its customers.

Starting from the selection of raw material, the Group produces
environmentally friendly test linerboard with 100% use of recycled
waste corrugated board, and uses sorted clean newspaper as the
main component of environmentally friendly coated white linerboard,
turning wastes into treasures.

RIRE M

AEBANBAMBRFRER  ZFARE
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Environmentally friendly product

BREM

Environmentally friendly coated white linerboard

RRZMREARE

Environmental Awards and Certifications

As described in the sections on environmental protection above, the
Group has been making great endeavours to keep possible pollutions
and negative impacts of our operations on the environment to a
minimum. The Group has received recognitions from government
authorities, professional bodies and many others in the community
including certifications and awards for the investments and efforts
we have made in respect of environmental protection.

Environmentally friendly test linerboard

RIRFEIRAE
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Over the years, certifications and accolades won by the Group have AEBEFEFMESINORENZAILT ¢

included the following:

The Group/Specific Plants
&M@ HE

Certifications/Accolades Obtained
Rk HE

All plants in Mainland China and Vietnam
B B A P R S % i R R

All plants in Mainland China and Vietnam

BB A T B RS N R R

All plants in Mainland China and Vietnam
B B A P R S % i R R

Hongmei, Huangyong, Jiangsu and Jiangxi
plants

g ER - IE  IAEE
Hongmei, Huangyong, Jiangsu and Jiangxi
plants

Hig BB IHE  IAEKE

Hongmei, Huangyong and Jiangsu plants

Hig BB IEBE
Lee & Man Paper
B ER

Lee & Man Paper
BEAR

Lee & Man Paper
B ER

Hongmei and Huangyong plants
g EERE

Hongmei plant

IR B
Chongging plant

EEmE

ISO9001 Certification for Quality Management
1ISO9001 52 & & HI R &

ISO14001 Certification for Environmental Management
ISO140015RIFE E BB R E

Forest Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-COC) Certification
AMRBRSGEHEETEREB(FSC-COQ)

IECQ QC 080000 Certification for Hazardous Substance Process
Management System
|ECQ QC OSOOOOE%WE/}%* Eiz%r}bum [Ei5

ISO45001 Certificate for Occupational Health and Safety Management
System
ISO4A5001 X RFEL = EIERXMRRE

ISO50001 Certificate for Energy Management System
ISO500018E/RE 12 R A2 &

Named a “National Outstanding Enterprise Proactively Fulfilling Social
Responsibility”
cEBERETHEEAREME

Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner Production Partner (Manufacturing)

BRBREERH(BER)

Named an “Environmentally Friendly Enterprise”
RERFEERE

Named a “Cleaner Production Enterprise in Guangdong” and an
“Qutstanding Labour Law Compliant Enterprise in Guangdong”

EREBREECENERESHMITEESEE

Named an “Advanced Energy Conversation Unit”
EigE M BB R

Named an “Advanced Ecological Improvement and Environmental
Protection Unit”

RERELEEMRE

82 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

R -dEeaRERHRE (F)

Cope with Climate Change

Global warming is notably affecting the natural climate by increasing
the frequency and intensity of extreme weather and natural disasters
such as rainstorm, flood and drought, which greatly aggravated the
damage and impact of various natural disasters. To cope with the
intensified threat of climate change, management of our Group has
regularly assessed the potential risks that may arise from cause
climate change during production and operation and adopted
preventive and contingency measures.

We have strategically selected location for our plants and drawn up
the “Extreme Weather Catastrophes Contingency Plan”. We classify
the extreme weather catastrophes into four degrees, namely very
significant, significant, major and general according to the degree of
harm that may be caused by such risks. Meanwhile, we have
established a clear contingency system and set up the Steering
Committee on Extreme Weather Contingency and Rescue, which
expressly stipulates functions of each member, alert actions and
contingency measures. We arrange publicity, trainings and drills for
employees regularly, aiming at enhancing the vigilance and abilities
towards disasters. We will assess how bad we will be affected by the
extreme weather such as hurricane, rainstorm, thunder, hail and
flood so that we can take relevant safety measures and provide a safe
place for our employees. With these measures, we will safeguard our
employees’ safety and avoid losses arising from the malfunction of
equipment. In addition, our plants have their own thermal power
stations and backup power which are necessary for a continuous and
stable production and can reduce the risk of halt in production due
to regional power blackout.
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STRIVING FOR IMPROVEMENTS
Supply Chain Management

As a production enterprise, supply chain management has always
been a critical aspect in our quality control system. The Group works
closely with suppliers to enhance their sense of responsibility, help
them mitigate environmental and social risks and build a green
supply chain. We hope to work together with the supply chain
partners to purchase environmentally friendly products and services
and to fulfill our commitment to environmental protection to the
extent it is practicable and cost-effective. We have established a
"Policy on Procurement and Suppliers Management” to conduct a
comprehensive assessment on suppliers and contractors in
accordance with ISO guidelines in respect of, among others, their
environmental protection policies, occupational safety policies, to
ensure that they meet the requirements of national safety,
environmental protection, laws and regulations, have a certain level
of social responsibility management, reach the quality of the Group’s
production and service, and adhere to the sustainable procurement.
In case of any irregularities, the Group will suspend or terminate the
cooperation relationship with relevant suppliers.
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Procurement of Raw Materials

The Group uses waste paper instead of virgin pulp as a raw material
for paper-making, and the waste paper is supplied from all over the
world including United Kingdom, United States and Canada. Our
Group has arranged sourcing agents of waste paper around the
world to collect waste papers and purchase the specific dedicated
waste papers in person through various channels including recyclers,
supermarkets, local authorities and retailers, so as to ensure the
quality of our products. The raw materials are shipped by our logistics
teams so that the Group can better control the logistics to ensure
efficient transportation time and use of low-carbon mode.

Besides, the Group has been operating more than 50 waste paper
collecting and packing sites in Mainland China and has also been
sponsoring a number of other business partners in China to source
high quality waste paper locally as a way to develop paper sources as
well as to support paper recycling, so as to improve the green supply
chain.

Number of our suppliers located in Mainland China and Vietnam is as

follows:
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Number of suppliers 2020 2019'
HEFH A 20204 2019%"
Mainland China

RER 1,590 1,757
Vietnam
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BYGERARAT 2020 F3 85



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERRSE (&)

Product Responsibility

Product Safety

With customers as our first priority, the Group has always stressed
the importance of fulfilling their requirements with high-quality
products and services. The Group ensures that product
information is made available to customers in a transparent, true
and accurate manner during its sales process. The paper products
of the Group are subject to the “Product Quality Law of the
People’s Republic of China” and other laws, regulations and
standards related to product safety and quality. Enterprises are
required under laws and regulations to shoulder responsibility for
product quality and ensure that products comply with quality and
safety standards. As such, the Group has established the
"Procedures for the Surveillance, Measuring and Control of
Products” to supervise and inspect incoming raw materials, semi-

finished products and finished products.
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As we highly value product safety, we have obtained IECQ QC
080000 certification for the hazardous substance process
management of our four plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong
and Jiangxi. As a proof that our paper products are free of banned
hazardous substances, the certification can boost customers’
confidence in the products of the Group. Meanwhile, the various
plants of the Group have also successfully obtained 1SO9001
certification for their quality management system. We have also
obtained the Forest Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-
COCQ) certification, a proof that the Group values its product quality
and the sustainability of forest operations. Moreover, the Group has
established a risk assessment team to assess product quality and
safety risks regularly in order to address issues promptly for
protection of the Group’s and customers’ interests. We control our

product quality in the aspects from source, production, finished
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products to after-sale tracking:

01 Source monitoring
01K RE 2

The Group requires suppliers to provide inspection
reports on materials, warranty against the use of
hazardous substances, MSDS and so forth. The quality
department also conducts sample checking and batch
inspection in respect of incoming materials to ensure
the compliance with quality requirements. The
purchasing department is responsible for preparing the
list of qualified materials for reference of other
departments.

AEBERUEAREEDHORATSE  TERE
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02 Production process
02 £EBIE

The Group adopts automated and computer-monitored
production processes, while the quality department
conducts inspection on semi-finished products and
records results on the logbook of inspection during
production process, before moving on to the next
stage. In case of any inadequacy, the relevant
production staff members will be notified immediately
for rectification.
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03 Inspection of finished products

03 Ak Am e i

The Group conducts inspection of finished products for
physical index and the content of hazardous substances
in accordance with the “Operation Guidelines on the
Inspection of Finished Products”. Regular sample
inspection will also be conducted on the finished paper
products after sale, while waste paper and pulp
samples are sent to testing agencies for the inspection
for hazardous substances.

AEBRE(KRRBIEEREEE )N IR T H KRN
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04 After-sale Services

04 &1 MR#5

In each of sales territories in China, the Group has
professional after-sale service team to keep close
contact with customers and ensure that their problems,
complaints and opinions are properly addressed and
handled. The Group has drawn up its “Operation
Guidelines on Customer Services”, which explicitly
stipulates the problem handling time and follow-up
process of the after-sales service team, so as to meet
the customer requirements clearly and efficiently.
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The Group takes customers’ feedbacks seriously. If the customer has
any questions about the quality after sale, the Group will arrange the
customer service department and the specialist from sales department
to go to the customer’s site for verification and quality inspection.
The specialist will keep personal and written communication with the
customers in the process. If the products fail to meet the
requirements of the order, the customer service department will
assist to arrange the recall or discount according to the situation after
checking by sales manager. The management of the Group strictly
monitors the quality of our products and performance of our services.
Complaints and product recalls are assessed and reviewed monthly
for understanding the causes and formulating solutions, so as to
optimize the relevant workflow and improve customer satisfaction.
Looking ahead, we will continue to evaluate our business
performance and strive for providing the best quality products to our
customers.

The percentage of product recalled and data on complaints for the
Year are as follows:

AEEREHFETESE  SREODE
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Product data 2020 2019’
EmEE 20204 20194"
Weight of product recalls accounted for total sales 0.042% 0.038%
EmbBRESHBHEERS

Number of complaint received 2,241 2,191

BRENIRFHA

Responsible Marketing

The Group pays great attention to build a good relationship of
mutual trust with customers, presenting the most authentic and
high-quality services and products to customers. Every salesperson
has received professional training. The Group requires that the sales
department strictly follows the “Operation Guidelines on Customer
Services” prepared by the Group to regulate and standardise the
behavior of employees, and ensures that the relevant sales and
publicity materials are in line with the Group’s guidelines. Once any
false and exaggerated advertising means are found, the Group will
impose severe punishment. The sales department also regularly holds
meetings with the employees, and updates products information and
marketing plans, so as to ensure that the employees have a clear
understanding of the products and unify marketing methods.
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Intellectual Property Rights

Our Group places high importance on intellectual property protection
and respects the intellectual properties of others as intellectual
property can promote innovation and progress. Our Group has over
200 registered patents and has formed the intellectual property
department to coordinate and supervise the management of our
intellectual property rights. In our daily operation, our employees and
cooperators are required to comply with the regulations relating to
intellectual property and the “Policy of Intellectual Property” and the
“"Risk Aversion Plan for Intellectual Property” prepared by the Group,
and access to and transfer of core information within the Group is
subject to clear limits of authority which are only limited to specific
members of the senior management of the Group to avoid excessive
information transfer and reduce the risk of data leakage. The Group
will enter into technical contracts with third parties to safeguard the
interests of technological achievements of both sides.

Data Privacy

The Group is well aware that personal information is governed under
the “General Code on Civil Law of the People’s Republic of China”
and other relevant laws and regulations, which require that
enterprises shall maintain the right of use of personal information. As
a result, the Group has formulated the confidential management
policy and taken data protection measures necessary for protecting
the interests of all stakeholders. We ensure that employees only have
access to the operational data within their permission sets. We would
not allow disclosure of information unauthorised by the information
owner except otherwise required by law.

In addition, the Group continues to improve and maintain its
information technology system, including setting up a network
firewall to prevent external attacks or threats intruding into the
Company’s systems and applications, as well as strengthening the
protection of internal data to prohibit external devices from
connecting to the Company’s intranet, etc. We conduct data backup
on a regular basis to ensure we can still effectively recover our system
data and maintain normal operation in case of unforeseen events
such as natural disasters or power outages.

During the Year, the Group did not find anything which constituted
a material breach of the aforesaid and other local laws and
regulations related to product and service quality.
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CONTRIBUTING TO SOCIETY

The Group actively assumes its corporate social responsibility as one
of the Top 200 Companies in the PRC and one of the top ten paper
manufacturing companies in the world. While continuously achieving
self-development over the past years, it has also made good use of
its corporate resources to support the community. We have made
huge investments in building an environmental protection business
and are keen on public welfare issues, which have earned us
numerous awards in public welfare.

Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the Honorary Chairman of the Group,
nominated by Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, received the
“Industrialist of the Year Award 2020" by Federation of Hong Kong
Industries this year. The award recognizes industrialists who have
made significant contributions to Hong Kong's industrial sector and
social economy, and is a lifetime achievement award for Hong Kong's
industrial sector. Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick is the founder of Lee &
Man Paper Manufacturing Limited and is known as the “King of
Paper Manufacturing”. Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick is a dedicated
philanthropist and made donations to schools in Hainan, Guangdong,
Beijing, Guizhou, Hunan and etc. and provided subsidies for domestic
charities. He has been praised by the community and has been
awarded the China Charity Award 2005 by the Ministry of Civil
Affairs of the People’s Republic of China and the title of “Red Son
Model” by the Hainan Provincial Government.
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Young Industrialist
Awards of Hong Kong
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Community Investment

Lee & Man Paper has been walking with the Community for a long
time. During the Year, we actively contributed to the fight against
the pandemic by making donations and giving supplies to the
community. During the Year, we also continued to contribute to the
community through environmental conservation, support for the
underprivileged and youth development, in order to make progress
together with the public. Through fulfilling our corporate social
responsibility and increasing our philanthropic investment, the Group
hopes to create a better future by improving the ecological
environment, helping the underprivileged and promoting the physical

and mental development of our youth.

In 2020, our total community contribution was HK$26,977,000.

Combat the Pandemic

At the beginning of the Chinese New Year in 2020, facing the fierce
pandemic of the new coronavirus, the Group was the first to respond
to the country’s call to help combat the pandemic. In this action, we
fully leveraged our multi-national supply chain, strong logistics
solutions and top international raw paper production equipment to
donate and present emergency supplies to frontline prevention and
control agencies in Hubei, Guangdong, Jiangsu, Jiangxi, Chongging,
Hainan and other provinces and cities through various branches in
China. Based on the actual needs of the frontline staff in the
pandemic, the Group quickly formulated a donation plan of “tissue

paper + rolls + disinfection protection supply”.
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Through overseas procurement and emergency deployment of
corporate logistics and transportation, we donated materials and
donations amounting to RMB14 million to the Municipal Charity
Federation, municipal governments and municipal primary schools
during January to May. This is a “blessing in disguise” to support the
prevention and control of the pandemic in all regions in practical
ways.
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Furthermore, Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick donated total HK$20 million
to the University of Hong Kong in November 2020 to contribute to
the University's research project “Covid-19 and Cardiovascular
diseases: from Prevention to Treatment” and to support the research
on microbiology and infectious diseases conducted by the
Department of Microbiology respectively. We will keep working
together with society to find solutions to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Social Integration

Environmental Protection

Attaching great importance to environmental protection, the Group
actively engages in local environmental activities in preservation of
the nature. Mr. Lee Man Bun (the Executive Director of the Company)
donated HK$130,000 to New Youth Energy Think Tank Charitable
Foundation for the environmental campaign of “Enough Plastic”. The
campaign cooperated with famous photographers and many artists
to share their experiences in using less and replacing disposable
plastic products in daily life, wishing the community to form the habit
of using less plastic products.
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In addition, the Group has collaborated with the Environmental
Protection Administration of Yongchuan District of Chongging for
the “Daluxi River Regulation Project”. In recent years, the rapid social
and economic development in Yongchuan District and the
development of towns along the Daluxi River and the industrial
development have resulted in the discharge of a large amount of
industrial sewage and untreated domestic sewage. Coupled with the
water interception by upstream hydropower stations, the water
quality of Daluxi River has deteriorated. River management helps to
improve water quality and preserve natural environment. By
establishing the concept of ecological environmental protection in
the community, it takes both economic development and

environmental protection into consideration.
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Support for the Under-privileged

The Group donated over RMB100,000 to support the charity project
of the “Highway Construction for Alleviating Poverty in Siming
Village” by Chongqing Charity Federation, promoting the
infrastructure construction in Siming Village. Maintenance personnel
have repaired 4.4 kilometers of village roads, which enabled
personnel and resource flows of the village. By installing 14
kilometer-long mountain road protective barriers, it protects the
safety of villagers on the road, conveying our concern and care. In
terms of weak collective economy of villagers, leaders specialising in
plantation and cultivation industry have facilitated the development
of plantation and cultivation industry so as to improve product quality
and activate branding effect. Meanwhile, we have established the
online sales channel for marketing the villagers’ specific farm
products and wild mushrooms in order to enhance their popularity.
To teach someone how to fish is better than to just give him a fish,
only in this way can the villagers be self-sufficient and expand the
ways of getting rich.
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Meanwhile, the Group donated RMB50,000 to the “Yongchuan
Examination Fund for Cervical Cancer and Breast Cancer” jointly
established by Chongging Women's Federation and Chongging
Health Committee. The fund focuses on contributing resources on
examination of cervical cancer and breast cancer which pose serious
threat to women’s health. Since the launch of free screening for
cervical cancer and breast cancer in Yongchuan District in 2009, the
project has covered 23 towns and districts and completed the
examination of cervical cancer and breast cancer for 235,787 women
with detection of 422 cancer and lesion before cancer cases. 264
women from impoverished villages have received timely aid.
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Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, Honorary Chairman of the Group, also AEEZETFFERFERBT L TRAIAE
adheres to the principle of “Great love beyond borders, persistence #5E - AZEFEH |25 KU TIEZHE
in doing good” and has established Charity Foundation Fund for & MU{TEERR - EEE SN T BEHY
charitable causes. The main targets of the Charity Foundation Fund S A e@HRE - NERERE  LER
are the impoverished households, orphans and abandoned children. Z2FAZEBRRESHERD K  BEDE
During the year, we visited extremely impoverished families, donated ~ZE Q528K - PHIEBERESE -

supplies to charity schools, and supported poor children’s education.

In 2020, our philanthropic and poverty alleviation initiatives also ~ 7£20204F * I B LIS R LB LW

included:

May

5A

June

6h

June

6 A

BEE

In conjunction with the Chongqing Yongchuan District Disabled Persons’
Federation, we donated more than RMB60,000 worth of household
paper to 1,284 poor households with documented cards in four towns,
including Zhutuo Town, Heji Town, Linjiang Town and Songmu Town.
BasEEmKIRRBKRABSRACE  [HFHE - BITHE DR
HEEAFEMN, 24P BB RERFREBEAREEBHITNE
ERA -

1.5 tonnes of quality rice valued at RMB45,000 was donated to the
Huangyong district Village Committee for distribution to 2,250 elderly
people aged 60 or above in Huangyong district Village for the Dragon
Boat Festival.
MERENZRETEBEAR45,000TH1.5MEBE XK - ARA
EOBNFIMme05EM2,250% K& IR IR TEHE LM -

Our donation supported the 2020 Lunar New Year celebrations
organised by the Hau Giang Provincial Public Security Bureau in Vietnam
by giving 50 New Year gifts to needy families in Thanh Hoa City and
Phong Xuyen County.
BRXBUEEIE AL RERN2020F RENFEEMNEE @ [
RIRBET - Bl 5 E i i) B R K EE X B 5010 #F 184 -
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July

7R

July
7H

November

1A

We visited a brigade of the 71st Group Army of the Chinese People’s
Liberation Army stationed in the Jiujiang area and sent over RMB60,000
worth of supplies to the officers and soldiers fighting against floods.
ARFTAREARBHRERES71S B E X IR TR S 5 &
kel E R WEXEEBEBARBERTNLEEZME -

We provided funds to help to purchase of health insurance for extremely
poor families in Zhoucheng County, Vietnam.

EpUEANENGREERNRER B ZERR

In conjunction with the Poverty Alleviation Office of Yongchuan District,
Chongging, we donated 80,000 catties of rice to poor households, low-
income households, five-poor households and nursing homes in Zhutuo
Town and Songmu Town, benefiting over 3,000 poor households.
BREEBEMKIRBKERMATLE REEREEIRERPS - K
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3,000% = o

BREXERLDEZNREOBEND
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Youth Development

The founders of the Group have spared no effort to support
education and youth development. The Group has frequently
sponsored the building of a number of education facilities, including
the Li Qiang Academy of Jiaji Secondary School in Qionghai City,
Hainan Province, which was built in 2003 with funds donated by Dr.
Lee Man Chun Raymond, and the Patrick Lee Wan Keung Academic
Building in Lingnan University, Hong Kong, whose construction was
funded by the donations of Mr. Lee Man Bun in 2011. In addition,
the Lee Wan Keung Scholarship was also established, demonstrating

the zeal of our founders for corporate social responsibility.

The Group is also concerned about cultivating the youth to become
future pillars of society. Mr. Lee Man Bun donated HK$1.20 million
to Hong Kong New Youth Energy Think Tank and sponsored
HK$300,000 to its charity show “The Sassy Princess”
Fuk Sing Opera Troupe, aiming at promoting the communication of

performed by

youth organizations between Hong Kong and Mainland and
encouraging the youth to make contribution and commitment to

social affairs and public services.
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In terms of the education for school-age children, Mr. Lee Man Bun
donated RMB7.53 million to Yunnan Nujiang Zhou School for buying
books and sponsored HK$1 million to Hong Kong Chinese Importers’
and Exporters’ Association Charity Foundation Limited for funding
the “Reading Together” activity. The Group hopes that the children
can develop habits of reading and exploring and can cultivate rich

imagination and creativity by feeling the power of words.

The Group sponsored HK$300,000 to the Third Inauguration
Ceremony of Directors and Dinner Party in 2019 of Hong Kong Shine
Tak Foundation and donated HK$150,000 to the “2019 Shine Tak
Charity Hiking” in order to support the civilian education for the
youth and students in Hong Kong and help them to explore

opportunities in new environment and challenges.

During the Year, we also made a number of donations to promote
education in Vietnam, including donations for the operation of
kindergartens, primary and secondary schools in Hau Giang Province,
the construction of new school buildings, the provision of
scholarships for children from low-income families and the purchase
of bicycles for use in schools, etc. Through these measures, we hope
to nurture more talents for the community and improve lives through

knowledge.
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HKEX ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE REPORT GUIDE INDEX CREEIELE]

BRERGH(RE - HEREBRH

General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report
—RKER AEHE
BERERIER it HEEH
A Environmental
A ER
A1 Emissions
A1 BB
General In relation to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into | Emissions
Disclosure water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste:
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer.
—MRIKE FAERIMBRERBEN - RKREIMHNEET  BERE | SR
EEREYVNELESH
@@ HE: R
(b) EFHBETABERTENEMERZIIRA -
A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
A1.1 HERm e R MR HE A K B
A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy’s indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas | Emissions
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
A1.2 BE(HBEN) RtREZ (BE2)FHORERBEERE (A | B

WEHE) R (ER) BE (MG ER i - SER M
%) -
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General Disclosures Relevant Information
and KPIs Description in this Report
—BREER KR E

BREEMEEZ it TR EE

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Emissions

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

A1.3 PMEXAERERYHAE (CAWGE) R(ER)ZE (W | Hy
SEBEM - SEREHE) -

Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Emissions
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

Al.4 FEAEEEEMBE (A E) R(WER)BE (W | Zkm
BESEN - FERETE) °

A1.5 Description of emission targets established and steps taken to | Emissions
achieve them.

A15 RAPAT MR E B E R REIE LB RMRROTR o | BERY
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are | Emissions

handled, and description of waste reduction targets established
and steps taken to achieve them.

A1.6 HMMEEEERBEEREZEMHN AL - REMATEIIARE | S
BiERkAEDGELEZMREATR -

A2 Use of Resources

A2 EREMA

General Policies on efficient use of resources including energy, water | Use of Resources

Disclosure and other raw materials.

— R E BRERAER(BFEEIR - KREAMRME)BBUER - BIREA

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. | Use of Resources
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

A2.1 RENESNEER /LHEZELR(NE [h) B8 | BRER
(AFEFESFFARE)RBZE(NMANEGEE SN - BERME
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report
~-BEER KR
BERERIER it HEEH

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of | Use of Resources

production volume, per facility).

A2.2 BFEKENEE(WMAGESEN - BERETE) - BIRME

A2.3 Description of energy efficiency targets established and steps | Use of Resources
taken to achieve them.

A2.3 R FAET M RERE AR E B R R RED E LB RMEN | BRER
BB

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that | Use of Resources

is fit for purpose, and water efficiency targets established and

steps taken to achieve them.

A2.4 i SKEGE KR BRI AR ERE - WERATEI LM AR | BRER
wmEE R AERE LB IZMMERIA S -
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) | Use of Resources

and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

A2.5 B GFTABEEMANESE (BT E) (ER)B4AE
BAGE

BIRER

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 RERXAER

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the Environment and
Disclosure environment and natural resources. Natural Resources
—MR = BIRBEITAHRERRAEREKERZERNBE - RIBERAAER

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the | Environment and

environment and natural resources and the action taken to
manage them.

A3.1 MM EBEDEREERAAERNEAFZERDIRNEE
BHETZENITE -

Natural Resources

RIENAARER
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General Disclosures Relevant Information
and KPIs Description in this Report
—RKER AEHE
BERENIER it HEEH

A4 Climate Change

A4 RIRB1

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate- | Cope with Climate
related issues which impacted, and those which may impact, | Change
the issuer.

—MRIREE BAREHEDERAIEBEHBETAEEZENERRKE | RIS LEY
BEEREGR -

A41 Description of the significant climate-related issues that have | Cope with Climate
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the | Change
actions taken to manage them.

A4.1 MABRKRAREHETAELATENEARKEBESE | RIRE(LEY
B REHTH -

B Society

B #&

B1 Employment

B1 f{EfE

General Disclosure In relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and | Employment
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare:

(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer.

—MRIRE ERAFM L EE  BELEA  TERE - RE - FEH | BTHE

g Zib - RN REA S RAEF -

(a) HER: Kk

(b) BFHBETAGEALENHBERLROINER -
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report
—REKER AEHE
BERERIER it HEEH
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (full-time or part- | Employment
time), age group and geographical region.
B1.1 IR EEEE(NEBERE)  FREMN RS | BTHEE
B E BB -
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical | Employment
region.
B1.2 BIER - FIRAERN R REDHEERKLLE - BTRAR
B2 Health and Safety
B2 RENRZZE
General In relation to providing a safe working environment and | Health and Safety
Disclosure protecting employees from occupational hazards:
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer.
—MRIKEE FHREZ2THERERMREESE#H 2B ELEEMN - [y
(@) HBE R
(b) ETFTHETABERZENHEBEERNLRONER -
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities in each of the past | Health and Safety
three years (including reporting year).
B2.1 BE=F(EHEERFE)SFAITHNAB KL X - REETE
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
B2.2 AIGEATIEBE - [y
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures | Health and Safety
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
B2.3 TS

WP MM B ERFEREZ 2HEE - U RBAERITRESR
T °
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report
—RKER AEHE
BERENIER it HEEH

B3 Training and development

B3 EFIIRERE

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for | Training and

Disclosure discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. Development
— R EE FRRTEERIT IERENMBLREENER - fllF | HlkER
FEF o
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee | Training and
category (e.g. senior management, middle management, etc.). | Development
B3.1 BUFIREER(NEREERE HREEES)EHSH | HIIRER
ZIEEBDL
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender | Training and
and employee category. Development
B3.2 RUERREERMNED  BREETKTIN TR - H o)l B B R
B4 Labour Standards
B4 ZH IR
General In relation to prevent child or forced labour: Labour Standards
Disclosure
(@)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer.
—MRIRE EBAMIEETRBHILTH : L5 TAER]
(a) BUR: &k
(b) EFHBETABERZEBNHEBEERROINER -
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Labour Standards
avoid child or forced labour.
B4.1 R BB B NE R EE T RAHST - TR
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such non-compliance | Labour Standards
practices when discovered.
B4.2 e a7 B3R B R B R H R B BB U PTERER Y 2P B - L5 TAER|
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General Disclosures Relevant Information
and KPIs Description in this Report
—REKER AEHE
BERERIER it HEEH

B5 Supply Chain Management

B5 ftEHEEE

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the | Supply Chain

Disclosure supply chain. Management

—MRIKE ERHEENRRE T ERRBREEK - HEEE IR

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain

Management

B5.1 iR E DR HEHMEE - HiEEE R

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number | Supply Chain
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and | Management
how they are implemented and monitored.

B5.2 R BEEREERNEY  RENTERENNHER | HEEER
HE - ARBEBITRERGE -

B5.3 Description of practices relating to identify environmental and | Supply Chain
social risks at every stage of the supply chain, and how they are | Management
implemented and monitored.

B5.3 MM ERFBHERESRARSNRERESRARNED - | HEEER
IARAEREBIT REDRI X -

B5.4 Description of practices that promote the use of | Supply Chain
environmentally friendly products and services when selecting | Management
suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BS.4 WAEREHBRERESBRREQRREHEN - A | HERsE
NAERIEAT R BRI TTE -
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General Disclosures
and KPlIs

—BREER
REEANER

Description

it

Relevant Information
in this Report

R E
el sz

B6 Product Responsibility

B6 EmEE

General In relation to health and safety, advertising, labelling and | Product Responsibility,
Disclosure privacy matters associated with products and services provided | Responsible Marketing,
and methods of redress: Data Privacy
(@  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer.
— PRI EE FRMREERNMRBNEERLZS BE  BEMLE | EREE - 8ET7H
EHARBRTE BRRE
(a) HR: Rk
(b) ETFTHETABERZENHEBEERNLROINER -
B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls | Product Responsibility
for safety and health reasons.
B6.1 EENCEXERARPELZ2EEREAMAREKNE | EREE
paN A
B6.2 Number of product and service-related complaints received and | Product Responsibility
how they are dealt with.
B6.2 EERNEREIRBEIRFEE AR EE X - EmaE
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Intellectual Property
intellectual property rights. Rights
B6.3 fet B R RE B EREE BN - FBERE
B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. | Product Responsibility
B6.4 el o B A E B AR N B mm B AE R e EmEE
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—REKER AEHE

BERERIER it HEEH

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, | Data Privacy
and how they are implemented and monitored.

B6.5 MU BEERRERLEBERE WERHEBERITRERS | ERHRE

VA o

B7 Anti-corruption

B7 RES

General Disclosure

In relation to prevent bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer.

Anti-corruption

—MRIKE B IEHE 9% BEFRARERN R&S
(a) HER: K
(b) THETABEATENEBEELROIINER -

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | Anti-corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.

B7.1 REZIAAHETAXEEEREYEEANESHAR | RES
HrB B MR ABR o

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing | Anti-corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

B7.2 Ha & Em R RREN - ARBERITRERGE - R&S
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General Disclosures

Relevant Information

and KPIs Description in this Report

—RKER AEHE

BERENIER it HEEH

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training for directors and | Anti-corruption
employees.

B7.3 fimESE R ETRHOREITH - R&S

B8 Community Investment

B8 HERKRE

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of
the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its

activities take communities’ interests into consideration.

Community investment

—RRIE FAUME2ERTREEMEHEFTENBRREAERES | HRKRE
BB R MR BR o

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental | Community investment
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

B8.1 BIEREE(NHKE  REFHE  BIFR #E X | (HRIEE
£ 85) -

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community investment

B8.2 EZEISBEMBBER(NSELRKE) - HERIRE
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEEBN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 50, CPPCC National
Committee, SBS JP, Chairman of the Company is in charge of
corporate planning and investment projects. Dr. Lee has over 27
years of operational experience in paper manufacturing and is
experienced in professional formula of paper making and product
development. Dr. Lee was conferred the Honorary Degree of Doctor
of Laws in 2014 and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science
from the University of British Columbia in Canada. Dr. Lee was
awarded the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2002" and
received an award for “2003 Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young
Persons Selection Awardees”. Dr. Lee is the brother of Mr. Lee Man
Bun, an Executive Director of the Company and Chief Executive
Officer of the Group and is the brother-in-law of Mr. Li King Wai

Ross, an Executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Lee Man Bun, aged 40, the member of the Political Consultative
Committee of Guangdong Province, MH JP, Chief Executive Officer
of the Group, is responsible for production management, sales, daily
operation, quality improvement, repair and maintenance of
production machines and staff management etc.. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree of Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. He is awarded the
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2015” and is the Founding
Chairman of Hong Kong New Youth Energy Think Tank. He is the
younger brother of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, the Chairman and
an Executive Director of the Company and is the brother-in-law of
Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conminuep)

Mr. Li King Wai Ross, aged 45, an Executive Director of the
Company, is responsible for the global procurement of recovered
paper, logistics planning and optimisation, as well as external affairs
for the Group. He holds a Master’s Degree in Science in Electrical
Engineering from Stanford University in USA and a Bachelor’s Degree
in Applied Science in Computer Engineering from University of British
Columbia in Canada. He has over 19 years of experience in
production management, operations and technological research and
development. He is the brother-in-law of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond
and Mr. Lee Man Bun, both of whom are Executive Directors of the
Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, aged 81, GBS JP, a Non-executive
Director of the Company, is the Chairman of Virya Foundation
Limited (a registered non-profit charitable organisation), the Emeritus
Professor and the President Emeritus of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He devoted 40 years of his life to advancing university
education in Hong Kong before he retired in January 2009 from his
18-year presidency at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Professor Poon obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) Degree
from the University of Hong Kong, A Doctor of Philosophy Degree
and a Higher Doctor of Science Degree from the University of
London. He was a Postdoctoral Fellow at the California Institute of
Technology and University of Southern California. He also held the
Honorary Degree of Doctor of Humanities from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2009. He was appointed a Non-official
Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989, received the OBE in 1991, the Gold
Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002, “Leader of the Year Awards 2008
(Education)”. In addition, Professor Poon was appointed as a member
of the Legislative Council (1985-1991) and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(1998-2013). He is also an Independent Non-executive Director of
Henderson Land Development Company Limited, The Hong Kong
and China Gas Limited and Chevalier International Holdings Limited.
All the aforesaid companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange.

112

HITES ()

FREBRE 45 ARRIWITES -
BEASRENZRBEARBEY MR
BLELEMEEREHINER - REFHX
B HEAEMEBEF TIRE LT 2L R
EXRBIMULTARBEAMBEKRTRE
BL8M  BFHERIIFLEERE H £EE
1E R B AMTAT TR A AR B © AR AR BHIT
EEFNERBL2HRREFXOREEZA
%o

FHITES

BREXEE 8lim ' EXAEEANFH
T ARAENITES BEERSESHE
RARI(GEMEENESHE ) 8K - &8
BT REBERHERERRE - K2009
F1ARKA - FEAEEEIRERE
ZHBEISFE  AEE—EBNEHKE
HEIF - BUBREFEEBBRER
BEA4  AEMAABEEFE TR aRE
BiE L WA =R 0N IR T 2B & E i
REBREBLERFRE - HIR2009F
EFRIREEREBAXELERMN - &
M1989F HEZF AIEBEFAFHHLTUP)
1991 4F # 58 H B E & 3) = (OBE) B fi7 -
2002 FEFEE © K H 2 & (GBS) » 2008
FREBIGEHEMEZ(HE)] - i &
HEEWET R ZERZEE(1985-1991)
EHBARBAGEEHEEEZESZE
(1998-2013) - R ABEKEMEFR A
A BAPERKERAFTMETEEE
EERABZEUIFNITES - ZF QT
YR BB LT -

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 78, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries. He is also an Independent Non-executive
Director of the listed company, Lee & Man Chemical Company
Limited.

Mr. Peter A. Davies, aged 78, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is a retired lawyer. He has over 50 years of
experience in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a
barrister in England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a
partner of Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and
the head of the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice
of Hong Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong
in 1974.

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David, aged 57, an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, has over 20 years of experience
in corporate finance and was formerly a partner of one of the big
four accounting firms in Greater China, holding the position as their
Head of Merger and Acquisition and Corporate Advisory. Mr. Chau is
a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and
Wales ("ICAEW"), and was granted the Corporate Finance
Qualification of ICAEW. He is also a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and was an ex-
committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. Mr. Chau is
a Fellow member as well as director of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute, the Chairman of Corporate Outreach Committee and China
Strategy Committee. Mr. Chau is a member of Hospital Governing
Committee of Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital (“PYNEH")
and the Trustee of the PYNEH Charitable Trust. He is also a member
of Jinan Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultation Conference.

Mr. Chau is an independent non-executive director of BC Technology
Group Limited, China Evergrande Group, China Evergrande New
Energy Vehicle Group Limited (formerly known as Evergrande Health
Industry Group Limited), HengTen Networks Group Limited, IDG
Energy Investment Group Limited and Man Wah Holdings Limited. All
the aforesaid companies are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yip Heong Kan, aged 50, is the General Manager of the Group,
is responsible for cost controlling, corporate management and energy
saving projects. He holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from Open University of Hong Kong, is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 27 years of experience in auditing &
accounting and corporate financial management. He joined the
Group in June 2008.

Mr. Lee Ho Chung Jude, aged 46, is the Deputy General Manager
of the Group responsible for the administration, human resources
and information technology management of the Group. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science & Engineering from University
of Toronto in Canada and has over 20 years of experience in IT
supervision and 13 years of senior management experience from
different multinational companies. He joined the Group in October
2011.

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 54, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group and the Company Secretary of the Company, is
responsible for the internal supervision, management of the Group'’s
financial matters and investor relationship. Mr. Cheung is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 32 years of experience in the field of
auditing, accounting and financial management. He is an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Aoyuan Property Group
Limited and DCB Holdings Limited, which are listed on the Main
Board and the GEM Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
respectively. He joined the Group in August 2002.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIREREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr. Ng Hok She Harry, aged 45, is the Head of Production and
Quality Assurance of tissue paper, responsible for the tissue paper
production and product quality of the Group. Mr. Ng holds a
Bachelor’s Degree and a Master’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering
from McMaster University in Canada. He has over 19 years of
experience in engineering safety aspects management. He joined the
Group in October 2011.

Mr. Chu Kwok Lung, aged 58, is the Administration Manager of
Guangdong Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the daily operation
and management of Guangdong Lee & Man Paper and has over 36
years of experience in manufacturing. He joined the Group in June
2006.

Mr. Chung Wai Fu, aged 56, is the General Manager of Vietnam
Lee & Man Paper, responsible for Vietnam plant operation and
management. Mr. Chung holds a Bachelor Degree of Production and
Logistics Management and a Master Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from the University
of Southern Queensland. He has over 27 years of management
experience working in both multinational and local listed companies
in China. Mr. Chung joined the Group in November 2008.

Ms. Li Yuen Ling, aged 59, is the Senior Finance Manager of the
Group, is responsible for the Group’s finance activities, as well as
maintaining banking relationship for the Group. She joined the Lee &
Man group in 1984 and has over 36 years of experience in

accounting and finance for manufacturing operations.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESRaREEERN (FE)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr. Yan Jean Goo, aged 55, is the General Manager of Chongqing
Lee & Man Tissue, is responsible for the overall operation &
management of tissue business of the Group. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics from the University of Xiamen and has over 33
years of experience in production and operation management. He
joined the Group in November 2006.

Mr. Chan Kong Sang, aged 61, is the Manager of power stations of
the Group, is responsible for the set up and operation of various
power plants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong and has over 38 years of
experience in operation and managing production and engineering
aspects of manufacturing businesses. He joined the Group in January
2001.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

EEERE

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries and a joint venture are set out in

notes 44 and 21 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on page 136.

A final dividend for 2019 of HK13 cents per share amounting to
HK$565,063,000 and an interim dividend for 2020 of HK12 cents
per share amounting to HK$521,598,000 in aggregate was paid to
the shareholders during the year. The directors of the Company now
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK18 cents per share
for the year ended 31 December 2020 to the shareholders on the
register of members on 11 May 2021, amounting to approximately
HK$782 million in aggregate, subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

as at 31 December 2020, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$8,319,057,000 (2019:
HK$5,836,518,000), representing the aggregation of the share
premium, the contributed surplus and the retained profits.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 7 of the annual

report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$3,511 million (2019: HK$2,863
million) for the purpose of expanding its business. An amount of
HK$6,858,000 (2019: HK$22,534,000) was transferred from
property, plant and equipment to investment properties for
generating rental income. Details of the movements in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its results and financial position are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis,
respectively, set out on pages 8 to 10 and pages 11 to 14 of this
Annual Report. The outlook of the Company’s business is discussed
throughout this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in
addition to the matters referred to in the Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis.

1.  Economic climate and individual market
performance

The impact of economic conditions of China would affect sales
and results of the Group. The Group continues to implement
its strategies to develop and strengthen penetration of the
relevant markets. The management of the Group will continue
to make efforts to strictly control costs and manage the usage
of capital fund in order to maintain the Group's
competitiveness in the paper industry.

In addition, the on-going US-China trade friction and recent
novel coronavirus epidemic might past uncertainty to the
Group's business performance, details of the uncertainty are
set out in the Chairman’s statement to the annual report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conmivueD)

2.

Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract
and retain talent

Lack of appropriately skilled and experienced resource could
result in a delay in achieving the Group’s strategic goals. The
risk of the loss of key personnel is mitigated by regular reviews
of recruitment and retention practices, remuneration packages
and succession planning within the management team.

Customers’ credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group which will
cause a financial loss due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The Group only extends credit to customers based on careful
evaluation of the customers’ financial conditions and credit
history. Credit sales of products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable amounts.

Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with the relevant loan covenants.

Details of the liquidity risk are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conTinuED)
5. Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions and foreign
currency borrowings, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk. The Group manages and monitors foreign
exchange exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group has
entered into certain foreign currency forward contracts to

mitigate the risks as deemed appropriate.

Details of the currency risk are set out in note 37 to the

consolidated financial statements.

6. Interest rate risk

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate bank balances and bank borrowings
and fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank
borrowings. The management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

Details of the interest rate risk are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

GROUP’S ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high
standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building up
a good corporate and social relationship and motivating staff and
creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are committed to
contributing to the sustainability of the environment and community
in which we conduct business and where our stakeholders live.

Particulars of the Company’s environmental policies and performance
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 31 to 110 of this Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

STAKEHOLDERS" ENGAGEMENT

We obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly.
This communication provides valuable feedback for our business and
assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best way
to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future
business and community development.

Across the supply chain, we have taken steps throughout the year to
ensure that we operate responsibly and in the interests of our
customers, workforce, suppliers and other stakeholders.

An account of the Company’s relationships with employees is
included in the Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 11
to 14.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial

statements.

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its own
ordinary shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”), details of which are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements. The directors considered that the
repurchases would increase the earnings per share of the Company.
None of the Company’s subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed

any of the Company’s shares during the year.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, sas jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun, mH Jp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, G8s Jp

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Professor
Poon Chung Kwong and Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony retire and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun and Mr. Li
King Wai Ross has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 1 April
2020, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by

either party by three months’ prior written notice.

The term of office of the non-executive director and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his

retirement as required by the Company’s Articles of Association.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year, a permitted indemnity provision that meets the
requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance
for the benefit of the directors of the Company is in force.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21 of the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the Stock Exchange (”Listing
Rules”), the following disclosure is included in respect of the
Company’s loan agreements, which contains covenants requiring
performance obligations of the controlling shareholders of the
Company as at the date of this Annual Report.

The Group has certain loan facility agreements where it would
constitute an event of default if any one or all of Dr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick, Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun (together
the “Controlling Shareholders”), the Controlling Shareholders of the
Company, ceases to legally and beneficially own, directly or indirectly,
in aggregate at least 51% of the entire issued share capital of and
equity interest in the Company or do not, or cease to, exercise
management control over the Company. Upon the occurrence of any
of the above events, the outstanding liability under the loan facilities

will become immediately due and payable.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS EERFZETBAERKRAZRE
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT BREZTEAENERRAXE
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests of the directors and the chief ~ 72020512 A31H » EEREETHA
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and 8B M{%F 2B 8 A &R R R M E MR

debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as B &k - HEKG REF+ - #EAE
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to 2R RREFEHF ME GG ([EFHLHE
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), or as  1&%I 1) #3521 FE 2 B e M AT gk 2 #
otherwise notified to the Company and pursuant to the Model Code % ' SKEHE AR A MRE EHETAE
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, the Stock ~ FHETTEF R HHIEAESF RIS MG P

Exchange were as follows: RN
Long positions L)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company RRRER0.0258 L 2 EimAk

Percentage of

the issued

share capital

Number of of the Company

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares {5&RQATERIT
EEpE 54 EERHE REBD L
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner 1,358,991,040 31.27%
FXEEL BEHBEAA
Mr. Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner 1,358,991,040 31.27%
FXH L EmEAA
Mr. Li King Wai Ross Held by spouse 4,564,865 0.11%
FRBrEE mECEBEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 100,000 0.002%
RN EmEAA

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief executives or B £ XX AT # 52 & 5 - 720204 12 A 31
their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares, H @ TFEZ%  FZTHABNRSENHE
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its A L& E AR B s H (F ] A5 B 0% B A9 A%
associated corporations as at 31 December 2020. - MEARNIESFT - HEEAERK

TR

o

i
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, at 31 December
2020, other than directors and chief executives, the following
shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant interests in
the issued share capital of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

BEROIEZ 22 H

ARE -~ EEBRAR - ELANE QA
X [F) Z B B & B F AT iy F A 2
IR HE - MEARREFTAEBA
ARRF AR EIEA BB Z i B S
(BIEEERE) MExS -

FTERR

REBEARAIRE S MG GRDIFE3361%A
FEZIEZRRECRMALE - 12020
F12A318 » THBRR(EERERITR
ABBRINEHNERRBRERARAR
BITRATER 2B -

"R

RRABER0.0258 T2 EidAR

Percentage
Number of of the issued
issued ordinary share capital of

shares held the Company
Name of shareholder Capacity BEERT EAXRATEET
REREE 14 EEREE RAEBDL
Ms. Ho Tsz Wan Held by spouse (note i) 1,358,991,040 31.27%
fa]IEs R+ mECERA (D
Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial owner 411,283,920 9.46%
FEREL BEREAA
Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (note ii) 411,283,920 9.46%

FEEB/RL mBECERA (K aEi)

notes:
(i) Under the SFO, Ms. Ho Tsz Wan is deemed to be interested on the 1,358,991,040
ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Mr. Lee Man Bun.

(i) Under the SFO, Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested on the
411,283,920 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 15 to 30 of this

Annual Report.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all

of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the auditor of the Company to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified
letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in note 43
of the Annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange. The independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
the report of the auditor and have confirmed that the transactions
have been entered into by the Group in the ordinary course of its
business, and in accordance with the terms of agreement governing
such transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

Details of the disclosure connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance

with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance, to which the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were less than 30% of the Group’s total
purchases and the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were less than 30% of the Group's total sales. In
2020, the largest supplier accounted for 7.2% of the Group's

purchase of raw materials (2019: 7.8%).

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital
of any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2020.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Article of Associations, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance, medical cover and share options are also

provided.

The determination of emoluments of the Company’s directors has

taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of
HK$26,977,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
CHAIRMAN
Hong Kong

2 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M % LA ¥

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF

LEE & MAN PAPER MANUFACTURING LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its member’s liability is
limited)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 136 to 268,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter

EEETEE

RREFERTHEBRBEATHEE AL
RBRUAPGAVBRERNEARRER
MEHE ELEHREENTENERES
MBEHRRREABERBETRIERN - K17
TeHELEREHEBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HRETSEE FTMAEERRESER
Impairment assessment of trade receivables
FEWE 5 ARt 2 BRI

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a key
audit matter due to the significance of trade receivables to the
Group’s consolidated financial position and the involvement of
subjective judgment and management estimates in evaluating the
expected credit losses (“ECL") of the Group’s trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period.

RITHANEKE ZHERZHMENEREREFFTHEARKE S

ERHEERGREMBRARZEZE RN BERRAER 2B

WE SRRz RRAEEER(TEHEEEE D FHrREEH

b & B IR B VAT -

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s net trade receivables
amounting to approximately HK$3,225,919,000, which represented
approximately 7% of total assets of the Group.

202012 A31H - SEEKE FEREFFES £
3,225,919,000/8 7T " HEBHEELNT% °

Our procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of trade receivables included:
RITHEEWE ZIRFORE T e R
7

Understanding how the impairment
loss of trade receivables has been
estimated by management and the
approval procedures for recognising
the impairment loss on trade
receivables;

o EBMEBENMMGEWE SRR
BB 18 N HE R E W B 5 BR IR
MEEBEZFH/ERF

o Testing the accuracy of the ECL
adjustment made by the management
and independent qualified
professional valuer;

e RAFAEEENMBIAEBRERM
BREEMEEBEMERE ZE
HEM
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B2 RS (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTER (conTINUED) BREITBIEE)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRETSE TR ERRET SR
Impairment assessment of trade receivables
FEWE 5 AR 2 BRI

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the
management of the Group estimates the amount of ECL of trade
receivables based on provision matrix through grouping of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns, after considering internal
credit ratings of trade debtors, aging, repayment history and/or past
due status of respective trade receivables. In calculating the ECL,
the loss rates are estimated based on comparable probability of
default from internal credit ratings through groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns and recovery rate quoted
from international credit-rating agencies and adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.
In addition, credit-impaired trade receivables are assessed for ECL
individually. The loss allowance amount of the credit-impaired trade
receivables is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows with the consideration of expected future credit losses.

MGEEMBRRMTAMEE  SEERERBRMES - &
BEBRUEBERANTRAEBALS  KERESEBAZ
REEETR - BREK - EXREHESHERNERESERZ S
HAR - et ERKE SRR HEREEBESE - Rt ERS
EEEERE - BAERBABEHTROA LBE OB RET
mE - MALREBEAGXD BB EHERUBRENBEX
(B E R REEMRSI ) 2 TRBEHBAETHE  THES
TEEBRASIAENEAGFE AL EREREMSE o ttoh - &
EREZEKEZRFMIEHEEBREMRRNTE - EERE
ZERWEB SRR BIERESRIIREE 2 REEHEEBRARK
EEBENREZAARKRERERE I EZRHLAE -

As disclosed in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group recognised a reversal of an amount of HK$59,961,000 in
respect of impairment losses of trade receivables for the year.
MERE MR EASHER - SEFARERE S ERER
BEEEE S5 759,961,0008 7T °

Assessing the reasonableness of the
methods and assumptions used in the
Group’s ECL model based on our
understanding on the Group’s
customer portfolio and discussion
with management and the
independent qualified professional
valuer including:

ERATYH SEENEFEAN
B REEEENEBYAERE
FHEMNm - E EEEMAE
BHEEBBEERERXNZ TEREBRA
EREBE

- the credit quality of the
customers, such as any
experience in default, delay in
payments, aging analysis and
historical settlement pattern;
and

- EPWEEEZE flmEME
W8 EEHNR - Rk DT
FMBEAEEER R

- the provision rates, internal
credit ratings and forward-
looking information.

- BEE - AR EEFRRAE
HEE R -

Evaluating the independent
qualified professional valuer’s
competence, capabilities and
objectivity.
FEBLAEREXRGEM A
BE - BRI REEM -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

134

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B2 RS (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine that matter that was of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and is therefore the key audit matter. We describe this matter
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Poon Kam Chuen.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

2 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROHT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melEmRkHEMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #{Z2020F 12431 H IFFE

NOTES
FisE

Revenue WA 5
Cost of sales HHE R
Gross profit EF
Other income LR N 7
Impairment losses on trade receivables,  fEWE 5 R FUREEIE -

net of reversal BRI F 58 8
Other gains and losses Hith s R &8 9
Distribution and selling expenses DHERBEER
General and administrative expenses BERITHER
Share of result of a joint venture EHAEELEER
Finance costs BI TSR 10
Profit before tax B % A& A
Income tax expense FERZH "
Profit for the year FEEF 12
Other comprehensive income (expense) Hftt 2 W (X H)
Item that may be reclassified HEMEEH P EZBm HA -

subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on BERNEBEECERESE

translation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income FEHAZERS

for the year
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to: LA~ ATEEFEERF (EE) :

Owners of the Company KREHEEA

Perpetual capital securities holders KEERBHRBA

Non-controlling interests B R
Total comprehensive income AT AL RN

(expense) attributable to: BwrmlE ()

Owners of the Company V/NETEZZ =N

Perpetual capital securities holders KEBEAREFFAA

Non-controlling interests RS
Earnings per share FRER 16
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2020
HK$'000
TiEr
25,867,966
(20,120,028)

5,747,938
823,685

59,961
(249,474)
(717,620)

(1,163,729)

(8,772)

(170,517)

4,321,472
(668,960)

3,652,512

2,319,219

5,971,731

ERVERYE
128,707
(18)

3,652,512

5,843,107
128,707
(83)

5,971,731

HK cents
Al

80.99

2019
HK$'000
TAT
27,144,210
(22,051,176)

5,093,034
889,955

(54,548)
191,688

(612,268)
(1,162,805)

(324,861)

4,020,195
(719,930)

3,300,265

(1,298,980)

2,001,285

3,235,605
64,721
(61)

3,300,265

1,936,602
64,721
(38)

2,001,285

HK cents
AL

73.95



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma BRI &

At 31 December 2020 #2020F 12 H31H

2020 2019
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
BaE FHET FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE NERE 17 31,890,840 28,176,728
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 18 1,120,714 1,040,495
Investment properties REME 19 596,563 584,336
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, EEWE « BE L& E
plant and equipment and land use rights % + {5 BT ET & 20 1,030,661 1,106,741
Interest in a joint venture GEbEER 21 87,771 —
Loan to a joint venture SEDEED 21 71,376 98,343
34,797,925 31,006,643
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories ey 22 4,350,064 3,571,075
Loan to a joint venture SEDEED 21 — 61,656
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 R EMBER 23 6,064,257 5,355,998
Bills receivables discounted with recourse  Bff 38 224 > fE U Z 2 AL IR 24 303,934 461,824
Amounts due from related companies FEURREE N R IE 25 99,390 120,749
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 27 1,184,921 2,919,462
12,002,566 12,490,764
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
Trade and other payables JERTE 5 R EHMRK 28 2,630,527 2,832,628
Advances drawn on bills receivables BfiE = 2 IR E
discounted with recourse KRR 24 303,934 461,824
Amounts due to related companies JESAE N R A 25 16,056 15,663
Derivative financial instruments TR T A 26 — 3
Tax payable XNERE] 252,605 189,424
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 17,518 4,867
Contract liabilities ARNEE 30 108,948 81,395
Bank borrowings HRITIEE 31 5,255,174 4,874,429
8,584,762 8,460,233
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEERE 3,417,804 4,030,531
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBAEE
LIABILITIES 38,215,729 35,037,174
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e BARRER (&)

At 31 December 2020 #2020F 12 H31H

2020 2019
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
BfsE FTHExT F&T

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Bank borrowings wITEE 31 6,071,631 7,461,118
Lease liabilities HeaE 29 56,383 48,525
Deferred tax liabilities BEIERIEEE 32 1,337,300 1,444,911
7,465,314 8,954,554
30,750,415 26,082,620

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR H#E
Share capital f&% A 34 108,666 109,170
Reserves EE 28,311,406 23,650,317

Equity attributable to owners KAEEB A

of the Company FE(L = 28,420,072 23,759,487
Perpetual capital securities KEBEEKRFESH 35 2,322,814 2,322,814
Non-controlling interests Bi i T 7,529 319
30,750,415 26,082,620

F136EF268ETE MG AEMBHRED
R2021F3A2BREESH ERFET
%W TINEEREREE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 136 to 268 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 2
March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

LEE MAN CHUN RAYMOND ZE3 {8
CHAIRMAN /&

LEE MAN BUN Z=373)
DIRECTOR %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

n‘/T\ * /\"WQEJ’%%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #{Z2020F 12431 H IFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BRENALTREA
Capital Share Non-  Perpetual
Share  Share Translation contribution legal  Special  Other repurchase Retained controlling ~ capital Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Subtotal interests securities  equity
1R v K&

RA  ROGE ERRE LERE  0RE  BARE  HtBE  BEEE 24BN Mt FBRER  EARR  EREE

HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

Tén  TEr  TEn  Thr TR TR TR TRt THr  TEr  TEr  TEr TEr
(notei)  (otei)  (noteii)  (notelv)  (notey)

() () (ws)  Ofim) (M)

At 1 January 2019 R01951A1R 10973 3088  (289298) 12552 97 (2999 (12,0600 (17,236 23311458 23,143,095 275 — B850

Profit oss) for the year EREN(ER) - - - - - - -
Bxchange differences arsing #8250 £75
ontransiaion of foreign 7 ER

3,235,605 3,235,605 (61) 64721 3300265

operations 28 — —(1,299,003) - - - - - — (1,299,003) B — (1,298980)
Total comprehensive income - ERE2EN &

(expense) for the year (%) — —(1,299,003) - — — - — 3235605 1,936,602 (38 64721 200128
Sharesrepurchasedand KB

ancelled iH (553) - - - - - — 86 (n3e (9463 - - (e
Diidends recognised s~~~ R A Z

distributions (note 15) &GRS - - - - - - - — (1.225577) (1,225570) - — (1,25577)
Distribution paid on perpetual Xk EZ4 4% fz‘Eﬁ

capital securiies (note 15~ A& (H15) - - - - - - - - - - N Yl
Capital withdrawal by FaRER

non-controling interest BHRAR — - - - — — - - - - (239 - 239
lsue of perpetual opitel -~ EFTKEEAES

securities (note 35) (&35) - - - - - - - - - - — 230814 2322814
31 December 2019 R2019E12A318 109170 30858 (1588301) 12552 9 (2999)  (12,060) — 25210170 23,759,487 3192322814 26,082,620
Poftfos) fortheyear  EEEA(5E) - oo oo asn oBE3 (8 BT 3651
Brchange diferences arising 4885027

ontransation of foreign B4 7

operations EREE - — 2,319,284 - - - - — — 2319284 (65) - 2319219
Total comprehensive income - £RE2ERE

pensdfortheyer (%) - — 2319284 - - - - ~O3SBE3 SN @) 18707 9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

REERZ2BKR (R)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #{Z2020F 12431 H IFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ERNALRREA
Capital Share Non-  Perpetual
Share  Share Translation contribution legal  Special  Other repurchase Retained controlling ~ capital Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Subtotal interests securities  equity
1R Rk b¢ |
RA  ROGE ERRE LERE  0RE  BARE  HtBE  BEEE 24BN Mt FBRER  EARR  EREE
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKF'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Tén  TEr  TEn  Thr TR TR TR TRt THr  TEr  TEr  TEr TEr
(noted)  (oteil)  (noteii)  (otel)  (notey)
4152 5 R = N 1) N )
Shares repurchasedand ~— ROEER
ancelled i# (504) - - - - - - — (95357 (95861) - - (%%
Dividends recognised s~ BERAAKZRE
distributions (note 15) (R3k1s) - - - - - - - — (1,086,661) (1,086,661) - —(1,086,661)
Distrbution paid on perpetual K EEAEEEH
capital securities (note 15) AE(E15) - - - - - - - - - - —(128,707)  (128,707)

Acquistion of a subsidiary ~ WEHEBLF - - - - - - - - - - 1% - 13

At 31 December 2020 R2000812A318 108666 30858 730983 1252 97 (999 (12,060 — 27551975 28420072 7529 2322814 30,750,415

notes: B 5E -

(i) The capital contribution reserve arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in prior (i) HEREBEIREPHRAEEEFREERA
years to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group’s then ultimate holding A—REEMBRARLEWNBRTFE
company.

(ii) In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the (i) RIBRPI A B A EX AR TSR P A
Company's subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of BARIRARBIMEREDRE - EEETD
the annual net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the REBMAN25% M EBIERETARES HE
subsidiaries, until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. The NELEMBATIRAN—EX A ZZELNE
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders. S TEDIRTRER ©

(i) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the (i) FRFEEEREAEEN2003F9A AEAI
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the BEREOHEBEARNKRAmERBEARN AN
corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal value of the WHEEEmMETORMDEENESE -
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition.

(iv)  The other reserve arose from the acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries  (iv) HihEEERBEFEOHEBAT 2 EZERERE
from their non-controlling shareholders in prior years. I EEE A B A R SEE -

(v) During the period from 20 December 2018 to 28 December 2018, 2,638,000  (v) R2018F 12 5208 £20184F 12 A28 H #IfH
ordinary shares of the company were repurchased at an aggregate cost of B8 0] KR B L@ A% 2,638,0000% © A H kA
HK$17,236,000. Subsequently, the repurchased shares were cancelled on 29 17,236,000/ 7 - fERIR(HBEE 201941 A
January 2019, and accordingly, the Company’s share capital and share premium 20B WA B ARRABRARKGEE D
were reduced by HK$66,000 and HK$ 17,170,000 respectively. B8 266,000 7T 517,170,000/ 7T °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERETMER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #{Z2020F 12431 H IFFE

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXK
Profit before tax B 15 B & R 4,321,472 4,020,195
Adjustments for: B
Finance costs B 765 Ak 2R 170,517 324,861
Depreciation e 171,449 151,792
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BE R
plant and equipment RiEZEE 5,010 7,363
Interest income FLEWA (34,506) (41,981)
Net gain from fair value changes of MESRIAEARE
derivative financial instruments gE)FlE (4,851) (5,740)
Recognition of impairment losses on trade  [EWE 5 BR Z R (B E18
receivables, net of reversal MR B FEER (59,961) 54,548
Share of result of a joint venture EheahEEE 8,772 —

Operating cash flows before movements in &8 & & Z S FiHY
EE‘/\

working capital KEBReRE 4,577,902 4,511,038
Decrease in inventories FER D 720,587 2,312,997
(Increase) decrease in trade and JEWE 5N EMRR

other receivables (3 40) R (204,221) 271,708
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from FE U BE & N 7]

related companies FIER A (38 n) 21,359 (111,746)
Decrease in trade and other payables FERTE 5 K E A BR FOR (150,886) (824,703)
Increase in amounts due to FETRAE R A

related companies SIF L AN 393 3,985
Proceeds from and settlement of HEEITE

derivative financial instruments SR T EMSHIEA 4,848 2,200
Cash generated from operations KEXBEEANERS 4,969,982 6,165,479
The PRC Enterprise B REEERERH

Income Tax (“EIT") paid (TEmMBR]) (534,637) (575,646)
Withholding tax paid BRI (201,225) (218,700)
Interest paid 2RFE (311,545) (415,048)
NET CASH FROM REEBPBREFHE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 3,922,575 4,956,085
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

ReBRERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #{Z2020F 12431 H IFFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Deposit paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment and land use rights
Payments for right-of-use assets
Loan to a joint venture
Addition to investment properties
Proceeds on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Interest received
Consideration paid for acquisition of
a subsidiary

REED
BEME  BERRE

BEME  BFELRER

THERBANET S
EREEEMNR
BELEEN
BT EYE
HEME - BB &

REFE IR
2 &IPS
W B F B R B AT B

NET CASH USED IN REED
INVESTING ACTIVITIES FRAREFR

FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEED

Repayment of bank borrowings BRRITEE

Dividends paid [RENiESS

Issue of perpetual capital securities BITKBERFS

Payment on repurchase of shares B8 21 IR 19 1+ 3K

Distribution paid on B XBEEAESFDIK
perpetual capital securities

Repayments of lease liabilities HEBBENK

New bank borrowings raised MESRITEE

Capital withdrawal
by non-controlling interest

FEPE AR s PR B

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING BESEH
ACTIVITIES FFTARESEEE
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN ReRESEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R 2 ) 1 nF&E
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FPZRER
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR HeZEEY
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES SEZR& g~ 2%
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT ERIBER
THE END OF THE YEAR, REeEEY
represented by bank balances and cash —RITEBRER S
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2020
HK$°000
TRET

(2,331,651)

(988,412)
(19,577)
(2,279)
(1.834)

4,535
34,506

(16,134)

(3,320,846)

(GEALYNAY))
(1,086,661)

(95,861)
(128,707)

(13,607)
12,188,975

(2,333,578)

(1,731,849)

2,919,462
(2,692)

1,184,921

2019
HK$'000
TAET
(2,326,277)
(1,189,409
(52,077

(6,924

)
)
)
(2,285)

14,016
41,981

(3,520,975)

(18,200,370)
(1,225,577)
2,322,814
(94,633)
(64,721)
(10,349)
16,745,422

(2,399)
(529,813)

905,297

2,011,942
2,223

2,919,462



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

B AR I R

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z20204 12431 H IFF/E

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun
and Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick are the substantial shareholders
of the Company. The address of the registered office and the
principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in the
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and a joint venture
are set out in notes 44 and 21, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

— AR

ARrELEMABERAR - R2003F
SH21BIREBEAEHE R FA(2013
FEIMPAHAEFRER I RERD
REHRRBRAF - ROLAEE
BERSMERAA([BRAT]) E
mWe ENEEL  ZEXCHALERS
BERETARARANEERE - AR
ARl 8 B M AE R R 2 Al
RERATER AR -

mfm%—ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁ-xz
BHBEARRAECENETEER
%E\J%ﬁzﬁéﬁﬁﬁi&%WIM&m o

HEBmRRAET(IET]) S
R UR/ARRRZNEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. ERAKRBIEENKRESE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Al (& B EREER )
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily RAFEBHERNLBITE S
effective for the current year B # R 5 2 A
In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to RAFE  AEBEHXAEMNBSD
References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards BEFHAE([EEEMIAE])
and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong MM EER2020F1 A1 BH 2 & FH
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for 16 2 FJE A RS 9a Bl E Rk BB AT
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual #R & 2R S T B2 AE 48 45 5] T2 BA
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the TEETBBEVBREEL - U
preparation of the consolidated financial statements: BT A ISR -
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material BEEGHENFE IR BEANER
and HKAS 8 LEEGEL

EEACCHIR)
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business ERMBWMEEDN EBOHTE

EELACCEIFY)
Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform BEVEREER FIREERE

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 E9% - BABEA

HRIZE395 K&

BERUBRE

HERIZE T

(BETAR)
Except as described below, the application of the Amendments BRNSCRTi AN - AFEREREEH
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS B EEREANSFTHE 2 HESR 5 5] &
Standards and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year KIERI BB BHREEREKRE
had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and RAFERBTFEE 2 HBRRLR
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the RAR/RERGEEHBRR T
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements. BIEEATE -

144 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Company has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments
provide a new definition of material that states “information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements, which provide financial information
about a specific reporting entity.” The amendments also clarify
that materiality depends on the nature or magnitude of
information, either individually or in combination with other
information, in the context of the financial statements taken as

a whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

EREEBITREMBREE
AT EBUBREER ] (&)

RAFEREERNEETEB
MW EER (F)

EREBEEAF IR REFEEE
ERFSH (BRI R EAMNTE 2T
g
AEERNAFEEREMBBEGR
ERF VR RBEGTLERIEST (&
RIAR) - BRIARBEARREHRFNE
& JIAMHER - SERRA KSR
EAANAEEREYE KRR
MBEHRERNTECAEENZER
HEMBERSER I HEANN
MBMERELZRE - AIZEAB
BEX| - BRIANEBEEBYHR
KONBEAR  BEEMBURAREAND
MERRE(EFHREEMERES
M) -

REZRBETAEEAMBREK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. FERAKREBITEBMEREE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS A (BB HREER]) &)
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but BEME R E MBI R &S
not yet effective BRI R
The Group has not early applied the following new and AEBWEREEAUTERMAE
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet AR E R REIEFT B AU
effective: e R
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the BERNBRE RiRE 4 R AEE
related Amendments' ZERIE 175 CHB
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent BEEMBRE 20198 B SZ A
Concessions® R 165 HEHEeER
(E5TA)
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BB BRE B SER
Framework? R E35% heat?
(BFIA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark EEFBREER FERELERE
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS ~ Reform — Phase 2° F95% - HEEE —ERE°
4 and HKFRS 16 RERIE395 - BB
B 75 s 5 22 R

FT% - BAMHB
HEAFAT R

BB B RS AR
F165 (BT A)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets EAPBRE BEEHRARS
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its ZRIE105 % NEIREER
Associate or Joint Venture® EE e £ BBz EE
2285 ({BFI &) HEXZEA®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BB GRTER BENERRD
Current or Non-current and F15R(EFTR) BENEINYE
related amendments to Hong WEERRE
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)' FESHER]
(20204F)"
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment BAG LR ME - BEREK
— Proceeds before Intended E165 (BFIA) BT RB
Use? Al 2 FT1S 5008?
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of BAEYFEL BEEEHN-E
Fulfilling a Contract? E375 (BRI A) TEH KA’
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs BERENBRE #2018 £2020
2018-2020? A (BRTA) FRBER
B MR R
B F 1 ok
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B B R AR M A ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

RS E R RS
B (& B B3R 8 ) ()

3875 1B 14 AR A4 SR O T BT B AR 48

A EBMEREER(F)

T R2023F1AVBRZER%ZEES
GES: R

’ 202251 A1 ARz BB FEH
PESE

C REEABIZENBZEEEEE

4 7202056 A1 8k &R EEH
PESE

> 2021 F 1 A1TB K2 & FRIRRFE
P AR o

ARREEAREAMA N LE
ERIBEBM B HRE LR AR KRR
BredrEERAMBRREL
BEXRE-

TESTHE

RAaPBHRERLIBREELEGQ
ERM2BEMBREERRE -
IRESAVHERERME - HEA
ANEERMEYETRRMAEE
HORE - A FEAMERREKR -
o AP BHRRBEBRME
HFEMBRAUTERRU) REER
ARGIREZERKBEEFR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS
16"), and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories, or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of

Assets.

FEESTTHEXR(#)

GAMBRERELRALRY
WS ERE B RER R EE
EFSMIARS - HBEEMR
R -

2 AR — IR E Y B R 7
PINREZAARE -

ARERNIEARETS2EE
ZHETEFXZREEEEMK
RgBRABEMNOER - T®
ZERRERAERIERAS &
BEAANGFEE - £fhF—BE
EXRRBEZAAER  AEEZE
ME2EERAENRRZEES
BETEREEEZHE - AR Z
ERaMBBRRPHAERARE
ZRAREDREEEEE  ERE
B BHREENFE2HRUAKRG BE
PEAT S &0 T B PARR 0 2 B R 3R
ZRP BREBVHHREERE
16 RME([FEYBRELERF 16
BDOARZHEERS R —EBLURQ
REEFAAENGFEDINELES
AERIF2RFREZ AR FERE
BB EREIREERENER
BE) AIBRSN -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

FEESTTHEXR(#)

gEAN - BB M E - A A ER
ERBAOAEHEBABEZAR
ERERBABRBH AR BEEER
BZEEMWOBERF  F2HEFE3
A& s

s F1RAWABBRERNGE
FHIE R RMISAAR & EX
BERGZHRECRKERE)

s FE2RWABBRMEELR
BEERAHEEABERE 2B AR
B BREE-AAZHRER
o R

s FIRBWABEBAEEZER
M AR AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the

Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in

line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries

upon liquidation.

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 January 2020, the Group can elect to apply an
optional concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, that permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The
concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair value of
the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets
under assessment exclude cash and cash equivalents, deferred
tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred
tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met, the set of
activities and assets is determined not to be a business and no
further assessment is needed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FEETTBERE)
(CONTINUED)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions EBapEEREE)
(Continued)
Asset acquisitions BEWE
When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that EAEEWEL X ES 2 — 4
do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and BEREBE AEEBRELHEE
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and EEREZEEARENRAERE
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to E/cmalE BEEBKRBAR
financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values, REEEHEREZAREBEEED
the remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated MiaEMmA BRI EEREBRE U
to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of Il K2 B 3R P W B 2 i8] 71 BT A Rl B B
their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a REBE EENRINATEESE
transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase BERNERENBE RS -
gain.
Investment in a joint venture BELERER
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that AEPER—BHERATH Bt
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net REHZLHNSE T EAEZERAR
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the HFEE - HAZEGA—EHEH
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, WEHRE I%UZzﬂ?F CEERNRE
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities HEEFBEALXZEHNE T —NE
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. ERAEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment in a joint venture (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses
of a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive

obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in

the period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FEETTBERE)
(CONTINUED)
Investment in a joint venture (Continued) EEDERERE)
The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that FEESTHEEAREELRER
the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When any EETEBRERFBE - ERE
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the MESIBELRE  RE2HEE
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in BE(BEIB)RBEE BT ELE
accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single 36 EERMEERE—BEFERE
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in B - FERKEEMERTKE S
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying HERABERAREBEZESERD
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any BERAR) INALLER o (E1a] 2 1R 2/
asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying BEEEI gITRTEMNEE H B4
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss BE - DEKRZEEAREAEN
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that Do MR E 2 e & B E%E
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently - ARBEES G EREI6E
increases. R EEE 2 BE -
When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the EXEERBEASEZ EELEE
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with TRGR - BHEELERIMES
the joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated NEREREREEEBA a2 1
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the joint ¥Ew IRAKEEZESMBR
venture that are not related to the Group. RKIER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M| KRMEE (&)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct

goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following

criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the

Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset

that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 Ffinancial
Instruments (“HKFRS 9”). In contrast, a receivable represents
the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract

are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

The Group recognises revenue under the following accounting

policies:

(i)  Revenue from sale of packaging paper, pulp and tissue
paper is recognised at a point in time when the customer

obtains control of goods;

(i)  Revenue from supply of steam and electricity is
recognised at a point in time upon transition of steam

and electricity to users; and

(iii)  Revenue from rendering of wharf cargo handing service is
recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group

performs.
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B B R AR M A ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases

Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of

time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification
date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract
are subsequently changed. As a practical expedient, leases with
similar characteristics are accounted on a portfolio basis when
the Group reasonably expects that the effects on the
consolidated financial statements would not differ materially

from individual leases within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of staff quarters and office properties that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another

systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date, less any lease incentives received; and

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-use
assets that meet the definition of investment property are

presented within “investment properties”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments

and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if

the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)

less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under

residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is

reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

=)

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by

interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial

discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;

and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-
use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the

aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as
a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised
as receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to net
investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate
implicit in the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than
those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included
in the initial measurement of the net investments in the leases.
Interest income is allocated to accounting periods so as to
reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net

investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment

properties measured under fair value model.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS 15”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on
the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional

lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through

forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as
a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new

lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of and on the
retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in
the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or

loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interests.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to

non-controlling interests as appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for

their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit scheme are
recognised as an expense when the employees have rendered

services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the

cost of an asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mE

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ because of items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interest are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are

expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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B B R AR M A ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the

right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
over the lease payments for the principal portion of lease

liabilities resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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B B R AR M A ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, are tangible
assets that are held for use in the production of goods or for
administrative purposes, other than construction in progress,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost

less subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Properties in the course of construction for production or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interest for
property which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the

relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except for those
that are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under the cost model. When the consideration cannot be
allocated reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire

properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or

for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual

value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets with finite useful lives to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine

the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-

generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M mARMEE (F)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates

of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market

place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial

recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business

combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling

in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-

taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or
FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

=)

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit

impaired.
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B B R AR M A ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, loan to a joint
venture, bills receivables discounted with recourse, amounts
due from related companies and bank balances.) The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast

of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHEE#E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) TRTE(E)
Financial assets (Continued) TREEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) 2REEME(E)
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. AEBBREREKE ZRNERR

FIEBEEESE -

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss BABEEM TR  AEBUAZER
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a NREAEHEEBEEFAEE Té 7
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in B BRIEBVEEREEERRE
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment A REE R ”Eﬁﬁiﬂﬂf
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on BEEB RS EERREEY
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default EEERNDERBVRERERE A
occurring since initial recognition. BAMA R RRESEELN -
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (i) =ERBEZEIN
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased R E B T EREEERR
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares SREELENS  KEEBER
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument HMEOHELRIARLEEY
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default ZBEBERYIIEER B AR
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of TEHFEEENZRABRIELER -
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group EHFI R  AEERFEZEE
considers both quantitative and qualitative information SEENEEBHNEEREME
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical B BiEAEKERNESTIES
experience and forward-looking information that is BRSNS S Al 5 2 ATIE L&
available without undue cost or effort. K} o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHEE#E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) TRIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) TREEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) 2EEEME(E)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) iy EERMRBEERINE)
AEmME  UTARAFIHEER
e EELNAERENE
significantly: K

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of

‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.

FE

SETBE#)

TRMIAE)

CREEE)
EHEERE(E)

(i)

EERBRBEZEME)

Eim LA 2 BROE - B
BHNKAEBMBEB/IOKR - K
SEINREEERRB MG
RARBERZ  FRIEAKH
BERERBEBNENSIFRE
fH o

BENY  FEFTARES
PHREEREEERR &
SHRARERZEBFTAZEE
[\ Fx B #7046 FE 57 DA SR B FR A
B EHTAREERER
ERE - fmi)EENRERBE
itERA BB E NN ITHE
THEWAEREEME : Kiii)
REMEE R EBARON A 2
BARE - B —E - RIEER
ABTHAHNBREREEED
N - BEEBTARARI
BEETRR/ZDIRERTES
M RERR ] AEBRRZ
EHTABERR -

AEBEEREZERIEBRIRE
IR EEERBEEE MR E
ZEREREERRKERE
ARERZIZETI R £ A A
AEpEERE O BREE D -

182

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Definition of default
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEHEE)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) EITAEE)
Financial assets (Continued) CREEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) 2REEME(E)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (i) EERESRHEE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more E-ERZHENEHEES

events of default that have a detrimental impact on the ZeBMEEMTARRESRE

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have ETRNEE . cREERE

occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired BERE cREEEEREN

includes observable data about the following events: BEAEATSEG 2 EEY
2

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the (a) BETAXBARAGERE
borrower; B R (R 2

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due (b) EX - BMmEXAHE
event; [

() the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or () EBERAZEZRA WA
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s EEUNE DL < §7 3=
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower BHRA - BTERA—
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not EFRATEEENE
otherwise consider; %+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)
(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective

interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEHEE)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) EITAEE)
Financial assets (Continued) CREEE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) 2EEEME(E)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) (v), BHEEEBBEB/NE RER
(%)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for ERBEEEBEAREEL

cases where evidence at the individual instrument level £ EARERNTIEAERFH

may not yet be available, the financial instruments are BEAEEMARHNERLT
grouped on the following basis: SR TABRUTELEMAS !

e Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's e SRTEMME(WMASE
trade and other receivables, bills receivables ZEWRE S REMIE
discounted with recourse and bank balances are o HBEREZEKER
each assessed as a separate group. Loans to a joint BRI RIBTTHEHBE ST AR
venture and amounts due from related companies SHANARFE - aED
are assessed for expected credit losses on an EERREWRERRR
individual basis); At TR E B s R 1E(E

BIEEAE) 5

. Past-due status; o HEHERARR

e Nature, size and industry of debtors; and o BEBAZWE - HERT
ESIN 3

e External credit ratings where available. e EBERARZINBEET
F o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is

calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M| KRMEE (&)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and reward of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESHERE®E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) TRIAE)
Financial liabilities and equity TREBERERTA
Classification as debt or equity DIEBES L Em
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial EEREETAEEMII L ZEH%R
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the HME UkemBERERIA
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial ZEEMOBEASRBEIER -
liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments H#mTA
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual Em T EAER —BERBEHBRERM
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its EEBBRMEERGERZTMNE
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are 2 o RRBEITHE D T A UER
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. PSS s R E B BT AER o
Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation KAMIER HobaHEAREHBES
for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or the NEBRXNE2IEMEHEEK
Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution AREBA2ENBAETERIZ AN
and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are classified as ERERBERAS  WoOHEAE
equity instruments. =T H-
Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is BOARNAEGHEm TEEENE
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is HPR AR BE  BE - B
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or TREHEARTEGEE T AMT
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments. SHEBREREE -
Financial liabilities THEE
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised FrEemBBERABUERRZX
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL. REENASIE R R BT ABRE

% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for
trading or (jii) it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

=)

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would

otherwise arise; or

o the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group’'s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

° it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire

combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For The Year Ended 31 December 2020 #;Z2020% 12531 H 1FFEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk
in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value
attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk that are
recognised in other comprehensive income are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to retained profits upon derecognition of the

financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank borrowings, amounts due to
related companies, trade and other payables and advances
drawn on bills receivables discounted with recourse are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net
amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset

and settle the liability simultaneously.
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4.

194

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. In calculating the ECL, the loss rates are estimated
based on comparable probability of default by internal credit
ratings through groupings of various debtors that have similar
loss patterns and recovery rate quoted from international
credit-rating agencies and adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. Such
calculation of ECL has involved subjective judgment and
management estimates. At every reporting date, the loss rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered. In addition, credit-impaired trade receivables
are assessed for ECL individually.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables (Continued)

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables

are disclosed in notes 23 and 37(ii).

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 December 2020, a deferred tax asset in relation to
unused tax losses of approximately HK$192,000,000 (2019:
HK$212,000,000) was not recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the expectation for future profit streams changes, a
recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be
recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a

recognition takes place.

As at 31 December 2020, no further deferred tax liabilities have
been recognised on the undistributed profits of certain group
companies in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") after
2008 as the Group plans to retain those profits in the respective
entities for their daily operations and future developments. In
case there is a change in such plan, additional tax liabilities will
arise, which will be recognised in the profit or loss for the
period in which the management intends to declare such
profits in the foreseeable future or the Group's future
development plan is amended, whichever is earlier. Details of
the above unrecognised accumulated profits are set out in note
32.
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5.

196

REVENUE

(i)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers

Types of goods
EmER

Segments

7 &8

WA

(i) REFEFAENHWBADH

2020
HK$"000
FTERx

Sales of packaging paper
(including linerboard and
corrugating medium)

HEBRKR
(BIEFEER
TSR )

Sales of tissue paper

SHE R ALK

Sales of pulp

tHE AR

Packaging paper
BEM

Tissue paper
B

Pulp

N

21,517,453

4,316,881

33,632

25,867,966

Timing of revenue recognition
WA TER Z R

A point in time

— (Bl I 2h

25,867,966
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2019
HK$'000
TET
22,387,672

4,754,845

1,693

27,144,210

27,144,210
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5.

REVENUE (conminueD)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with

customers

The Group sells packaging paper, tissue paper and pulp

directly to customers.

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been delivered
to the specific location (delivery) as agreed in the sales
contracts. Following delivery, the customer has full
discretion over the manner of distribution and price to
sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and
loss in relation to the goods. The normal credit term is 45
to 90 days upon delivery.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8

Operating Segments, based on information reported to the

Company’s executive directors, being the chief operating

decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purposes of resource

allocation and assessment of segment performance, which

focuses on types of goods delivered. The Group’s operating

and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

are as follows:

0

(ii)

(iii)

Packaging paper — Kraft linerboard, test linerboard,
coated duplex board, white top linerboard and high
strength corrugating medium;

Tissue paper; and

Pulp.

5.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER(#)
Segment revenues and results DEM AR X &
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results LT AEREERARESHE D 2
by operating and reportable segments: REBWRAREEDT -
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BZE2020F12A31HLLFE

Packaging Tissue Segment
paper paper Pulp total  Eliminations Consolidated
BEE HER US4 ABas Esf g8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THR TR TER THR THER THER

REVENUE KA
External sales HOMEE 21,517,453 4,316,881 33,632 25,867,966 — 25,867,966
Inter-segment sales AHRAHEE — - 795,202 795,202 (795,202) =
21,517,453 4,316,881 828,834 26,663,168 (795202) 25,867,966
SEGMENT PROFIT AHEF 4,166,032 513,188 3,006 4,682,226 4,682,226

Net gain from fair value fTEEBIA

changes of derivative INREEL)

financial instruments Rl 4,851
Unallocated income OB WA 149,128
Unallocated expenses AoBEzEH (335,444)
Share of result of EHAE

a joint venture rEEE (8.772)
Finance costs B (170,517)
Profit before tax ikl 4,321,472

198 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

W

B Y HHRRME (F)
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinuED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2019
Packaging Tissue
paper paper

£35S FER
HK$'000  HK$'000

6. DEER(#)
DERAREEE)
HZE20195128318LEE

Segment
Pulp total  Eliminations Consolidated
A pEAE EaFs &a

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAERT FTET FTET FTET FAET TET
REVENUE A
External sales oM EE 22,387,672 4,754,845 1,693 27,144,210 — 27,144,210
Inter-segment sales Dz EHE — — 926,144 926,144 (926,144) —
22,387,672 4,754,845 927,837 28,070,354 (926,144) 27,144,210
SEGMENT PROFIT SHEF 3,514,538 563,472 253 4,078,263 — 4,078,263
Net gain from fairvalue  $T4 & BT A
changes of derivative DRhEE
financial instruments F R 5,740
Unallocated income AAB WA 310,118
Unallocated expenses AOBEZ X (49,065)
Finance costs B B R (324,861)
Profit before tax BRI BA

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of net gain from fair value changes of
derivative financial instruments, rental income, interest income,
net foreign exchange (loss) gain, share of result of a joint
venture, finance costs and other unallocated administrative
expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the

purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

4,020,195

gDz B R EM 3
ZARH =Jrft5(ﬁﬁ*§ﬂl ° "-‘E‘Bﬁﬂ
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuep)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

by reportable segments:

As at 31 December 2020
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

Consolidated total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

R2020F12A831H
DEEE
ARz BE

Packaging
paper
HK$°000
THERT

35,988,909

1,217,394

7 EBE R (4)
THEERAE

AT RBEAIREDHBE D 2 AKHE
BERBEDN

Tissue
paper Pulp Consolidated
BER RE =a
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
THERT TERT TERT
7,802,914

1,823,747 45,615,570

1,184,921

46,800,491

416,833 1,654,093

14,395,983

16,050,076

Packaging Tissue

paper paper Pulp  Consolidated
[ BHEK N N
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET

As at 31 December 2019 R2019%12831H
Segment assets DEWEE 31,501,578 7,308,854 1,767,513 40,577,945
Unallocated assets Koz BE 2,919,462
Consolidated total assets AR EE 43,497,407
Segment liabilities HEEE 993,060 521,363 23,540 1,537,963
Unallocated liabilities KAEEzBE 15,876,824
Consolidated total liabilities neraE 17,414,787
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER(#)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) DTHMEEREEE)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and REZDBRREERSHBEIBEE
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated R MEEEASE TEE (R
to operating segments other than bank balances and cash and TEHBRBESRAATRES LR
other assets used jointly by reportable segments, and all FrRzEMEERIN ARFIBEAE
liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than AN TEEIH(ITESHBMIA -
derivative financial instruments, tax payable, bank borrowings, ERBLIE - RITEE - BERESR
deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities for which reportable BERABREDBERAEN 2 HME
segments are jointly liable. BERIN) ©
Other segment information Hth > ZBE R
Packaging Tissue
paper paper Pulp Consolidated
BER HER - ma
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT
For the year ended HZ2020F
31 December 2020 12A31BLEE
Amounts included in the SEDHEEY
measure of segment profit DEEEBE
or loss or segment assets: AT &% :

Addition to non-current assets  3ERE)E E I N

(note) (HIsE) 3,086,899 330,366 47,773 3,465,038
Depreciation of property, mE - BER

plant and equipment BlEp s

and right-of-use assets BEWNE 1,087,420 186,001 69,009 1,342,430
Loss on disposal of property,  HEWE - BER

plant and equipment HiEZER 4,738 272 5,010
Impairment loss reversed PRI R Z B

in profit or loss on trade B HHRIRAE

receivables E 18 B (59,961)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER(#)
Other segment information (Continued) Hith oy BBER(Z)
Packaging Tissue
paper paper Pulp  Consolidated
BEA B R R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
For the year ended HZ2019%F
31 December 2019 12A31ALEE
Amounts included in the SFENEBEK
measure of segment profit DHEERLE
or loss or segment assets: TS5 :

Addition to non-current assets  3ERENE E LN

(note) (PH3E) 3,320,223 264,496 70,702 3,655,421
Depreciation of property, E
plant and equipment R RAE AR
and right-of-use assets BEWE 1,054,776 191,768 78,812 1,325,356
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BER
plant and equipment R BB 6,936 253 174 7,363
Impairment loss recognised RIBEER
in profit or loss on trade B E 5K
receivables REEE 54,548 — — 54,548
Note: Amounts included additions to property, plant and equipment, right-of- Mish : @BEBREMLYE  BERRE  £8
use assets and deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and REERBEME  KERRERLH
equipment and land use rights. EREMNETE -
No other amounts are regularly provided to the CODM but not MEEMCSHEDEMRRETEFER
included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment ERREMI|BIEETTED 1B
assets. mANDHEENSEL ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER(#)
Revenue from major products REFTEEMHBA
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its LNTAREEREFEZEERHEA
major products: AT

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Packaging paper (including linerboard £ 2 4%

and corrugating medium) (BELETEREEE 21,517,453 22,387,672
Tissue paper egaari 4,316,881 4,754,845
Pulp R 33,632 1,693
25,867,966 27,144,210

Geographical information Hb 35 & K}

KEEZWAFEIBHI8% (20194
95% )R a AR EINERE P o

Over 98% (2019: 95%) of the Group's revenue were derived
from external customers in the PRC.

AEBFRBEEER DIREERM
based on the geographical location of the assets. FEHET o

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented

Non-current assets
FRBEE

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
The PRC other than Hong Kong FE - BB 27,421,297 26,067,151
Malaysia S2RF S 4,713,285 2,343,481
Vietnam R 2,393,838 2,465,140
Hong Kong BE 269,505 130,871

34,797,925 31,006,643
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER(#)
Information about major customers FRIEREFZER
None of the Group's customers contributed over 10% of the AEk FHIRERRNTEAEER
Group's total revenue for the current and prior reporting PEAEEBUAEIRI0% °
period.
7. OTHER INCOME 7. EABUA
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Value added tax and other tax refund BER R R HE MR 435,118 434,513
Income from supply of steam and HEZRARBEABA
electricity 62,083 36,910
Income from wharf cargo handling EISIEEBIRA 21,990 20,804
Sales of materials and waste paper Mkl RE AR EE 76,401 85,257
Interest income from banks IRITFBUA 34,506 41,981
Others Hih 193,587 270,490

823,685 889,955
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TRADE 8. EWEZRFRMERIE 1
RECEIVABLES, NET OF REVERSAL KR [o] 3¢ 75 28
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
(Reversal of) impairment losses RE R 1R ([ 5 ) fERR
recognised on:
— Trade receivables —RUE 5 RN (59,961) 54,548
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 37(ii). B A B E R FE37(0) ©
9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. HithzmkE#E
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHEIT
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain SFEN (EB) WS (249,315) 193,197
Net gain from fair value changes of MEEBMIAEARE
derivative financial instruments SE)E I = 4,851 5,740
Loss on disposal of property, LEWE - BFE REE
plant and equipment 2 518 (5,010) (7,363)
Others Hb — 114

(249,474) 191,688
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10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BARE R AR
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEABNEER 2,836 3,174
Interest on bank borrowings RITEERNE 311,545 415,048
Less: amounts capitalised to property, BE WE - BER
plant and equipment B2 ER LS (143,864) (93,361)
170,517 324,861
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose from the FAZERNMABERERTIRN—REE
general borrowings and are calculated by applying a HEA VWHUEEREERICE
capitalisation rate ranging from 1.92% to 3.78% (2019: AL FEFEHT1.92%F3.78% (2019
ranging from 3.20% to 3.30%) per annum to expenditures on F : H3.20%%23.30%):1% -

qualifying assets.

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FIEHRZH
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Income tax recognised in profit or loss: RIBZE AR FEH
Current tax REATR IR
—The PRC EIT — P EMEH 564,543 489,506
— PRC withholding tax on dividend —DIRREZ
distribution B TE 201,225 218,700
- Others — HAth = 567
765,768 708,773
(Over)under-provision in previous year FFE(BBE)TERE
—The PRC EIT —hEPEMEHR (1,967) 3,797
Deferred tax (note 32) EIER IR (F15E32)
— (Credit) charge to profit or loss — (Bt AEBZE (94,841) 7,360
Total income tax recognised in profit or loss 18 NIER Z BFI1EF 668,960 719,930

206 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AN
F2 =]

BB AR MY RE (AR)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)

The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of its
operations where its profit is generated and is calculated at the
rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The PRC

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to corporate
income tax at the rate of 25% except that six (2019: six) of
these subsidiaries are entitled to preferential rate of 15% for

the Group’s financial year ended 31 December 2020.

Hong Kong

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

1. FMIEMRZHE)

REEZBNARERNERERE &
BT BANIR - BIRE AR RDA

BEERERZHEE -

]

REBRFPENMBEAR 2 #EAR
EFBHBEER25% « MEF KM
(20194 : "EA)MBRARREZR
202012 ABVB LB EEZFE
BERHE15% ©

BB

R2018%F3A21H @ BB EEB
@207 F R (1EF]) (B 795 ) 15
BR(TBRAIER]) - EHERS
AFEHRBHRE - ZKOIER
R2018F3 A28 ER BEE
WHREBAEFERTE o BIBEMW RS
FIEHE  GEREEEENEM
BAEBILRAEILS 25%EH « B
BARMBEBEETHEFKIE16.5%
Mo THEMNEGHMBHELNE
EER RN BERIR16.5%M 5
— R -

RAREEREBE TG BRI
RS EHEREVBERRBMK
TRE - BEFESHAMEFEH
RIGET R BHFIA16.5%FH ©
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11.

208

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)
Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law no.
58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau
income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant

regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a rate of 10%. They are entitled to a corporate
income tax exemption for four years from the first profit-
making year and a reduction of 50% for the following nine
years. No provision for Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has
been made for both years as the Vietnam subsidiaries entitled

tax exemption for both years.

Malaysia

The Malaysia subsidiaries are subjected to Malaysia Corporate
Income Tax at a rate of 24%. No provision for Malaysia
Corporate Income Tax has been made for both years as the
Malaysia subsidiaries did not have assessable profits subject to

Malaysia Corporate Income Tax during the years.

Others

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTinuED) 1. MEHZE#)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit FARBHLERESRAEERE
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 2 E WSRO BFERNAT -

other comprehensive income as follows:

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Profit before tax [ %3 B B A 4,321,472 4,020,195
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% FERBEE25% 2 Tk
(2019: 25%) (note) (20194 : 25%) (Fff&E) 1,080,368 1,005,049
Tax effect of share of loss of a joint venture FE{G& & EBENTEZE 2,193 —
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR B A S &
for tax purpose M E 209,756 181,408
Tax effect of income not taxable BIERT A AR
for tax purpose Hsee (25,338) (80,775)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTBEENBBTE 975 3,886
Effect of tax exemption granted to RPN B A A
Macau and Vietnam subsidiaries BREHBINTE (144,587) (66,999)
Effect of concessionary rates granted to AR BB A )
the PRC subsidiaries BESERENTE (523,913) (375,788)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 7 H fth B & R & & ) [T B
operating in other jurisdictions NG RNEE RS 0p-2 71,473 49,352
(Over)under-provision in previous years BEFE(BRE) T2 EE (1,967) 3,797
Tax charge for the year FRRIEH X 668,960 719,930
Note: This represents the domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a M WRRAEBRB/ADHEHEEMTZ
substantial portion of the Group’s operation is based. AEEER Z EMFTISTE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & F20204 124318 1L F/Z

12.

210

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

12. FEBF|

2020
HK$"000
FTERx

Profit for the year has been arrived at after
charging (crediting):

FEANEHEGEA)

Directors’ emoluments (note 13) ==2@e (fFzE13) 41,725
Staff salaries and other benefits, BEIFeRAEMEF -

excluding those of directors TEREES 1,192,593
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREMF SR

schemes, excluding those of directors TRIEES 68,596
Total employee benefit expense EERMAZ A% 1,302,914
Capitalised in inventories EFAERE (877,613)

425,301

Auditors’ remuneration ZERN B &

— Audit services —ZE R 9,119

— Non-audit services —IEEBURTE 1,931
Cost of inventories recognised as expense  FE R ANFER A 20,120,028
Depreciation of property, W BER

plant and equipment BT E 1,307,308
Depreciation of investment properties B EIE 22,646
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 35,122
Total depreciation mEBE 1,365,076
Capitalised in inventories EFERE (1,193,627)

171,449

Operating lease rentals in respect of land  + b R IEFEY

and buildings wEHEMS 46,149

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited

2020 Annual Report

2019
HK$'000
FTAT

38,345

1,105,753

87,022

1,231,120
(901,030)

330,090

8,519
1,186
22,051,176

1,293,075
22,576
32,281

1,347,932
(1,196,140)

151,792

41,426
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 & F20204 124318 1L F/Z

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (conminuED) 12. FEBRN#)

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Gross rental income from KREMEZ
investment properties e A
Less: Ve (24,196)
— direct operating expenses incurred for —FRNEEHSRAD
investment properties that generated REYEZ
rental income during the year HEZERY 419
— direct operating expenses incurred for —FREERSBAL
investment properties that did not wREMEZ
generate rental income during the year BEEERY 350
(30,378) (23,427)
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13. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 13. EENEFHITEMS
OFFICER’'S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's remuneration for the FRNEEREENTENHSBRIE
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and HALTMARNRARGHHEEAT

Companies Ordinance, were as follows:

Other emoluments
Hinif <

Contributions

Salaries to retirement

and other benefit
benefits schemes
Fees ek RIREA Total
ok Hit gl TEMR &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
2020 20205
Executive directors HITEE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond FXHEEL 17,625 17,625
Mr. Lee Man Bun FREE
(Chief Executive Officer) (BEHTE) 14,963 17,625
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FRBEE 4,282 4,675
Non-executive director FHITEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong ERAHE

Independent non-executive directors B IHHITEE

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRRAE
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies’t &
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BEK L E

38,670 41,725
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

13. DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 13. EENERAHATEMES (&)
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (conTinuED)

Other emoluments
HEinfi <

Contributions

Salaries  to retirement

and other benefit
benefits schemes
Fees Hek RIKEH Total
ik Hig R STEIH A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TET FTET
2019 20194
Executive directors HITEF
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond ENEEL 16,500 — — 16,500
Mr. Lee Man Bun FOHELE
(Chief Executive Officer) (BERE#HTTE) 14,830 1,670 — 16,500
Mr. Li King Wai Ross TRBRE 2,983 717 — 3,700
Non-executive director HHTEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong BRI 295 — — 295

Independent non-executive directors B HEHTEE

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony THETE 450 — — 450
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviest & 450 — — 450
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BEER L% 450 — — 450
35,958 2,387 — 38,345
The executive directors’, non-executive directors’ and FlITES  ERTESRB T
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown FARTEEF M FTELS T MM
above were mainly for their services in connection with the DRABEARTRAEBEEREH R
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group and ERARRIEENRB2MS -

for their services as directors of the Company respectively.
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13.

14.

214

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (conTinuED)

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond is also the Chairman of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those

for services rendered by him as the Chairman.

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office. No directors waived any

emoluments during these periods.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2019: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 13.
The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid individuals,

including directors, were as follows:

13.

14.

EEREFRITENS (2

FXRBEFASARRAERE - Lit
BEZMeBREFERTFMER
B IR 2 B o

HZE2020F 2019412 A31H 1k
FE AEEBVEINE@HME T
EEERFHEEMALMAREH
BHREEPRRNE2ME - ZFH
M EmENEEREMNS

FuGRESMEAL

rEBEREHMe A AL  HEf
=f1(2019% : =) RARBESF
MEMSERNMEI13WE - Afi&
2HEAB(BRER)ZAHE
LIl

e REAMmET
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes & /K18 | 5T 214t 2k

Salaries and other benefits

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TETT
44,975 41,158
18 36
41,194
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

15.

The emoluments were within the following bands:

14. AfuBReME AT &)
e N T RFER -

2020 2019
No. of No. of
employee employee
ETAE BT A
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001%7C%2,000,000/87C 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7L£2,500,000% 7T —
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7L%3,000,000%8 7T 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7L£E4,000,000%8 7T 1
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7C%5,000,000%8 7T —
HK$16,000,001 to HK$16,500,000 16,000,001 7L £16,500,0007%8 7T 2
HK$17,500,001 to HK$18,000,000 17,500,001 7L%18,000,000%8 7T —
5
DIVIDENDS/DISTRIBUTION TO PERPETUAL 15. BRE KEEXREZHF 22K
CAPITAL SECURITIES
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHET
Dividends recognised as distribution: ERESRZEE
Final dividend of HK$0.13 in respect BHE2019F12A31AEFEZR
of the year ended 31 December 2019 kB EAZ0.13 8L (20194
(2019: final dividend of HK$0.15 in HZE2018F12A31HIEFEZ
respect of the year ended KRR EER0. 1548 T)
31 December 2018) per share 565,063 657,000
Interim dividend of HK$0.12 in respect HE2020F12831BIEFEZF
of the year ended 31 December 2020 P B EA0.128 7L (20197F ¢
(2019: interim dividend of HK$0.13 BZ2019F12A31HLEFEZ
in respect of the year ended FHIR B BA%0.13%T)
31 December 2019) per share 521,598 568,577
1,086,661 1,225,577
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15.

16.

216

DIVIDENDS/DISTRIBUTION TO PERPETUAL
CAPITAL SECURITIES (conTinuED)

A final dividend of HK$0.18 per share in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: final dividend of HK$0.13 per
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019) has
been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In addition, the Company has made a distribution on perpetual
capital securities of HK$128,707,000 (2019: HK$64,721,000)
to the securities holders during the year ended 31 December
2020.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$3,523,823,000 (2019: HK$3,235,605,000) and weighted
average number of 4,350,762,262 (2019: 4,375,449,449)

shares in issue during the year.

No diluted earnings per share in both years was presented as
there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during

both years.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 1% - BERZ®E
Freehold
lands and
owned Furniture,
properties fixtures and Motor
KA¥BE  Computer  equipment  Leasehold vehiclesand Plantand Construction
T#HER system Hfi B improvements yacht ~ machinery  inprogress Total
BENE S ZERRE HENEEL REREE  BERES ERIR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TR TET FiET TR TEL T THEL
cost KA
At 1 January 2019 2019F1 418 7,040,812 59,998 1,035,304 531,969 133,028 24,152,855 2,815,488 35,769,454
Exchange realignment ERENAA (103,357) (1,022) (13,089 (9,057) (1,121 (782,213) (29,500) (939,359)
Additions NE 123,695 803 6,910 4728 i 147,960 2,578,496 2,863,333
Transfers B 358,888 3,709 20,944 9,206 3921 663,346 (1,060,014) —
Transfer to investment ~ EEERENE
properties (Note 19) (Fiz£19) — — — — — — (22,534) (22,534)
Transfer toright-of-use ~ ERZFREEE
assets — — — — — — (5,016) (5,016)
Disposals/witten off e/ B (1,798) (639) (2,384 3) 6,343) 29,810) - (40,997)
At 31 December 2019 2019F12A318 7,418,240 62,849 1,047,685 536,823 130,226 24,152,138 4,276,920 37,624,881
Exchange realignment ELEHMEA 280,703 2,810 36,814 25,114 3,637 1,473,093 159,332 1,981,503
Additions RE 13,745 501 7,613 1,102 14,538 48,181 3,425,451 3,511,131
Transfers ey 116,552 520 24516 7,100 4,661 524,136 (677,485) -
Transfer to investment BRERENE
properties (Note 19) (Fiz£19) — — — — — — (6,858) (6,858)
Disposals/written off e/ HE (876) - (831) 6] (2,384) (16,944) (239) 21,327)
At 31 December 2020 2020F12A318 7,828,364 66,680 1,115,747 570,136 150,678 26,180,604 7,177,121 43,089,330
DEPRECIATION &
At 1 January 2019 201981318 2,034,505 49,047 508,679 277,594 59,295 5,396,335 — 8,325,455
Exchange realignment EREHHEA (36,762) (484) (7,980) (5,054) (745) (99,734) — (150,759)
Provided for the year EREE 329,795 5427 20,646 27,07 11,237 898,899 — 1,293,075
Eliminated on disposals/ & /HERE
written off HH (1,004) (64) (2,219) ) (5,789) (10,535) — (19,618)
At 31 December 2019 2019%12A318 2,326,534 53,926 519,126 299,604 63,998 6,184,965 — 9,448,153
Bichangerealignment ~ E3 EFAA 111,843 1,487 22,509 14,863 2,289 301,820 - 454811
Provided for the year FRER 343,420 4,742 22,872 27,002 11,064 898,208 — 1,307,308
Eliminated on disposals/ % /#BEe
written off gz} (788) — (783) — (1,962) (8,249) — (11,782)
At 31 December 2020 2020512A318 2,781,009 60,155 563,724 341,469 75,389 7,376,744 — 11,198,490
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2020 2020512A318 5,047,355 6,525 552,023 228,667 75,289 18,803,860 7177,121 31,890,840
At 31 December 2019 2019%12A318 5,091,706 8923 528,559 237,219 66,228 17,967,173 4,276,920 28,176,728

BGERER AT 2020 £ 217



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

218

notes:

0]

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)
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The above owned properties of the Group represent owned properties on
land under medium-term lease in the PRC.

Certain owned properties of the Group are erected on land in the PRC
with respect to which the Group has not been granted formal title of
ownership. At 31 December 2020, the carrying value of such owned
properties was HK$1,303,495,000 (2019: HK$1,760,103,000). In the
opinion of directors, the absence of formal title to these owned properties
does not impair the value of the relevant owned properties to the Group
as the Group has paid substantially the full purchase consideration of
these land use rights and the probability of being evicted on the ground
of an absence of formal title is remote. The directors also believe that
formal title of these owned properties will be granted to the Group in due
course.

Certain portions of the owned properties have been leased to a related
party as disclosed in note 43 and independent third parties. These owned
properties were not reclassified as investment properties as the leased
portions are insignificant.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and
equipment other than freehold lands and construction in progress over
their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual values, using the straight-line method, at the following rates per
annum:

Owned properties
Computer system
Furniture, fixtures and equipment

20 to 50 years
10%

20%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of
the lease, or 20 years

5% - 20%

3'3% - 20%

Motor vehicles and yacht
Plant and machinery

17. ¥ - BERKE &)

(if)

(iii)

bz AEBEREBEMETIN B HE

Bt EZRBAME -

SEEETHAVERERNARTE
BEEXNEAREZFELH E - #2020
F12A318  ZEHAWEZER
& % 1,303,495,000 % 7T (2019 4 :
1,760,103,000/70) - EBER A KR
ZERAVETABEERLTEIEEE
EEESAYEEE  BAASEEX
NHABLBEZS T EREZRER
LAZR i 1F =X 4 78 #E 0 32 | 1 4 [0 b A9
e RMTEM - EFNHBEETAS
REHSERTEREREMEZEAE
HRE -

BAMEEHET BB TN
i —BEALRBIE=7 - ANE
ERBOUMTRE  ZEREMELRD
HEREAME -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. EHEEE

As at 31 December 2020

Carrying amount

As at 31 December 2019

Carrying amount

For the year ended

7A2020F12A31H
EREIE

M2019%12H31H
BRTEE

HZ2020F12A831H

31 December 2020 LEE
Depreciation charge wEER

For the year ended

HZ2019%F12A31H

Land and
lands buildings Total
HE LT T RIEF &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET

Leasehold

1,047,502 73,212 1,120,714

985,503 1,040,495

31 December 2019 LEE
Depreciation charge wEER 22,369 32,281

Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEFE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
RHEEEMN 2,975 13,220

Expense relating to short-term leases

Total cash outflows for leases MEZHSREAE 36,159 62,426

Additions to right-of-use assets B A #EE EE 72,237 108,095
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18.

220

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (conTiNUED)

For both years, the Group entered into leases for certain of its
staff quarters and office premises. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 1 year to 19 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the

period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where
its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office
buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these property
interests, including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these property
interests. The leasehold land components of these owned
properties are presented separately only if the payments made
can be allocated reliably.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands except for leasehold lands with carrying
amount of HK$13,560,000 (2019: HK$13,347,000) in which

the Group is in the process of obtaining.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff
quarters. As at 31 December 2020, the portfolio of these
outstanding short-term leases is similar to the portfolio during
the year ended 31 December 2020 with the corresponding
short-term lease expense disclosed in note 12.
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18.

19.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (conTiNUED)
Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$29,234,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$29,234,000 as at 31
December 2020 (2019: lease liabilities of HK$51,002,000 and
related right-of-use assets of HK$108,095,000). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out commercial and industrial properties
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 to 10 years, with unilateral
rights to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees
only. Majority of the lease contracts contain annual lease
payment that are fixed over the lease term.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and lessee’s
option to purchase the property at the end of lease term.

18.

19.

FEREEE®)
HERBIREZY
BEON - 2020128310 » BE{E A

WA FE29,234,00008 LB HE
B 1529,234,000/8 0 (20194 : &
{f F # & 108,095,000/ T A 3
ZHEBES51,002,000/8 ) 2 #®
R REFERIN  BEHZL
ERpEEABACHEEERME
ME# MELETATRAEEREEREZ
KRS -

BREYF

AEERBELHEEREANHEY
HAXRIENE HEBRN
FHARIZ10F ABHAE T EAR
EEHEEVRFRN - KEBOHE
EANERYNEEFEREMNR -

AEBEME L5 B AR INE R
b RATEMEENRSEERAM
Dt ERE - HEAHNAERS
FerBERERAEARESR THE
BB A ZHER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTiINUED) 19. REWHE (&)
HK$'000
FHT
cosT R
At 1 January 2019 R2019%F181H 629,120
Transfer from property, plant and equipment  EE B W - KE K& E
(note 17) (PfFEE17) 22,534
Additions NE 2,285
Exchange realignment [EREHEE (10,957)
At 31 December 2019 2019412 A31H 642,982
Transfer from property, plant and equipment ~ EEBEY ¥ - KE &K BRE
(note 17) (PBFEE17) 6,858
Additions NE 1,834
Exchange realignment &R EHMHEE 29,899
At 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H 681,573
DEPRECIATION weE
At 1 January 2019 R2019%F1H1H 37,117
Provided for the year FNEE 22,576
Exchange realignment fEHEMAES (1,047)
At 31 December 2019 M2019%F12A31H 58,646
Provided for the year F RS 22,646
Exchange realignment R EHMAEE 3,718
At 31 December 2020 720206 12A31H 85,010
CARRYING VALUE BREIE
At 31 December 2020 202012 A31H 596,563
At 31 December 2019 #2019F 12 HA31H 584,336
During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain property, REZ2020F12A31BIEFE -
plant and equipment situated in PRC with carrying amounts of HRERBECHNEYERSE BE
HK$6,858,000 (2019: HK$22,534,000) was transferred to 18 & #06,858,000/% 7t (2019 F :
investment properties as the management had changed the use 22,534,000/ 7 ) 2 & TAL A
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of the properties.
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e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

19.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTinuED)

The fair value of the Group’s commercial properties at 31
December 2020 was HK$145,307,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$138,999,000). The fair value of the commercial properties
has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by EE S
MEME T EETEBRAT (2019 EERMFIFEME T
BEFEAMRAR), an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group using the market
comparable approach, with reference to recent market prices
for similar properties in similar locations and conditions, where

appropriate.

The fair value of the Group’s industrial properties at 31
December 2020 was HK$494,481,000 (31 December 2019:
HK$488,336,000). The fair value of the industrial properties
has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by EE S
MEME T HEETEBRAT (2019: EERMFIFEME T
BEFEAMRAT), an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group using the income
capitalisation approach by reference to the market rentals of all
lettable properties and capitalisation rate observed by the
valuer for the similar properties in the locality and adjusted
based on the valuer's knowledge of the factors specific to the

respective properties.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the

highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

19. BREWHE (%)

AEERNEEMENR2020F12 A
318 22/ A&145,307,000% 7T
(2019412 A31H : 138,999,000
BIT) o FEME AR EREER
CSEEBEZBUAEREEME
MEEMMNEHE THEEFES
PRAGF(20194F : EERFIE 1 E

THEEFEERAR)  EHHIHHT
BEAZ2ERREMENIULE &

AR (M58 PR ) 2 3T B T 35 (B AR 1F
ZfEESH -

AEERITEMER2020F12 A
318 228 A494,481,0007% T
(2019412 A31H : 488,336,000
BIT) c TEWMEZ AR BREBER
CEEERECBUAEREEMBE
MEEMMNEHE THWEEFGS
PRAGE(2019F : EERFIE 1 E
THEEFHEBRAR) - REE
SEWEREMEmMBILEDE
WmisHe REBEMB2EMMNE
MR W RBHEMEEENER
EERABRAFEL A ERRIELDNM
BRFE -

REEFHRENRZAAER - B
MEZEERBEEREREB A
;@ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & F20204 124318 1L F/Z

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTINUED)

Details of the Group's investment properties and information

about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2020 and

2019 are as follows:

Fair value
Category hierarchy
5l ARERF

Commercial  Level 3
properties 34

Industrial Level 3
properties  £3#%
Ixn%

Valuation
Fair value Carrying value Technique
ME REE HERR
2020 2019 2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT TR TER

19. BREWHE (%)

M20204 K% 2019412 A31H » K
EEREVEFBRARBERRZ
BEERFEMWNT

Key unobservable inputs

TEFTBERE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

TUBEABHAAEZBE

145,307 138,999 145,218 138,764 Market comparable  Transaction prices for similar

approach

TELERE

494,481 488,336 451,345
approach

WA

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.
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properties after accounting for
floor areas and floor level -
HK$75,000 per square meter
(equivalent to Renminbi
("RMB") 64,500 per square
meter) (2019: HK$71,744 per
square meter (equivalent to
RMB64,500 per square meter))
AENEEH REAEERER
2R HBEH—FFIKT5,000
BLTESRETHRARE
(T AR )64,5007T) (2019
FBTRAN M4BT IR
SRETHAARE64500

7))

445,572 Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate of 5%

(2019: 5%)
B A5% (20195 © 5%)

Average monthly rent of HK$5.58
per square meter per month
(equivalent to RMB4.94 per
square meter per month)
(2019: HK$5.25 per square
meter per month (equivalent to
RMB4.63 per square meter per
month))

THYREATAGTHRG58E
TEEREAGTARAR
B4.9470)(2019% : BAEYF
HASBET(RERERE
FHAARELE3T))

An increase/decrease in the
market transaction prices for
similar properties would result
in an increase/decrease in fair
value and vice versa.

RENETHR HERLM,/ B
SERESIRDAEEN/
B RZIA

The fair values of the Group's
industrial properties are inversely
related to capitalisation rates
which were determined by
prevailing market transactions,
conditions and expectations.

FEETEMERNLBEERY
R BRERAUR
REATERS - ARE
i

In addition, increase in fair value
of industrial properties is also
attributable to the increase in
market rental during the year.

AN - TEWE DA ERENTR
BERFRTISESEEMN

FRALERAAEBEARBEHEIR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTINUED)

All of the Group's investment properties are located in the PRC.

The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight-
line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 20-50 years

20. DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LAND USE RIGHTS

The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use
rights for new production facilities. The related commitments
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use

rights are disclosed in note 39.

271. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/LOAN TO A

JOINT VENTURE

19.

20.

21.

BREW=R(#)
REERBREMEHIREE -

P EMEREREESRT
E oFRmT
gF 20504

BEYE BERRBRE
i fE AR RT &

FINFATERAKEA T HEERE
MEENME BEMRERLH
ERENE - -BEDE BER
REHBREATERME39WE -

EETERER SELEER
T
TA

2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Cost of an unlisted investment in joint RAE&MHEY
venture (note ii) R ETHRE KA (FEEii) 98,343 —
Exchange realignment ERENAS (1,800) —
Share of profit and other comprehensive &1k & 7| & E 4t
expenses FHEX M (8,772) —
Loan to a joint venture (note iii) B EPEE (ML)
— current —n® = 61,656
— non-current —FETRED 71,376 98,343
159,999
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/LOAN TO A
JOINT VENTURE (conTiINUED)

226

notes:

0]

(i)

Details of the Group’s joint venture and its subsidiary at the end of the
reporting periods are as follows:

21.

EEDERER AL ESE
R(E)

BEE
RBERRAEBZ AL LERENE

()

REFHBEOT :

Name of joint venture Place of
and its subsidiary incorporation and Proportion of issued and fully
BELER Form of entity operations paid up capital held by the Group Principal activity
AHBARER BB RIREEHH FARERECRTRAZRALA TEER
Directly Indirectly
-%:4 GE:3 GF-3
2019
%
Joint venture:
REL%:
Southern Hill Company Limited Limited incorporated ~ Hong Kong —  Investment holding
BEERAT BRARKL i RERR
Its wholly-owned subsidiary:
ERERANBRRE:
HEEXRERAR Limited incorporated  The PRC 50 Provision of port facilities
(Ruichang Lee & Man BRARKL H RAEEOR
Logistics Company Limited)

On 31 December 2020, Lee & Man Industries Company Limited (“LM
Industries”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Lee & Man Chemical Investment Limited (“LM Chemical Investment”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Lee & Man Chemical Company Limited
(“Lee & Man Chemical”), entered into the loan capitalisation agreement
with the Southern Hill Company Limited (“Southern Hill”). Pursuant to
such agreement, the aggregate outstanding amount of the loan in the
principal sum of HK$196,685,000 (the “Loan”) was capitalised into 2
shares of Southern Hill and each share was allotted and issued to LM
Industries and LM Chemical Investment, respectively.

The capitalisation of the outstanding amount of the Loan of
HK$98,342,500 owed by Southern Hill to LM Industries into 1 new share
of Southern Hill pursuant to the loan capitalisation agreement.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report

(if)

M20205 128318 » AREHEL2E
MEBAREBEXIXERAR([EXT
¥)]) BEXMEIAERQA(TEXL
INHZ2EMBRAREXIRERR
AR([EBXEITRE DT UREEER
AR([EE D ZEFRENMBE - RIR
iz Rt AEEERAB|EH
196,685,000/ 7t ([ B3k ) # & LK
F2REIERG R ER D BB KT
FENTEREXIRE -

BEBERENEHE - mMELRIEXT
XEENKREIE S 58,342,500 0 &
e BRI



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE/LOAN TO A
JOINT VENTURE (conTiINUED)

notes: (CONTINUED)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2019, the amounts are unsecured, interest-free and
have no fixed term of repayment and provided to Ruichang Lee & Man
Logistics Company Limited in the form of a shareholder’s loan and forms
part of the net investment in the joint venture, except for an amount of
RMB55,491,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$61,656,000) which
carried interest at the fixed rate of 3.8% per annum, and was repayable
on 31 December 2020.

On 28 December 2020, Jiangxi Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Ltd, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Ruichang Lee &
Man Logistics Company Limited entered into the supplemental agreement
pursuant to which both parties agreed to adjust the principal amount of
the loan from RMB60,000,000 to RMB65,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$71,376,000) and to further extend the maturity date
of the loan to 31 December 2022. The interest rate has been adjusted
from 3.8% to 3.4% per annum.

22. INVENTORIES

21.

22. 78

EEDERER AL ESE
R(E)

BsE - (&)

(iii)

Raw materials

Finished goods

LR ah

BXERAR AR 2020 F3R]

MN2019F12A318  BABARK
55,491,000 7t (48 % 7 47 61,656,000
ETC) TYIRE EF | E3.8% 5 B RAR
2020F 12 A31BEMIN - ZERTE
B REREERTERSE  WUARE
ERERNRHTFHEEXYTRERAA
Rk REECEFREN I o

M20204 128280 © AR EESE
BEMBARIAE X EREGR AR A
WMEBNXYRARARRG MR
#FOBRLEESFRERERACETER
AR # 60,000,000 THAEEARK
65,000,000t (FHE 7R 4771,376,0007%8
T REEREHAE - SERE2022
F12A31H « FHAEEH3.8%AESE
3.4%

2020
HK$'000
FERx
3,427,090
922,974

2019
HK$'000
T
2,743,664
827,411

4,350,064

3,571,075
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. BRE 5 R EMAR

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T FET
Trade receivables TEWE SRR 3,296,960 3,067,681
Less: allowance for credit losses W EEEEEE (71,041) (135,924)

3,225,919 2,931,757
Bills receivables [ S 963,275 722,502

4,189,194 3,654,259

Prepayments and deposits for purchase &% & R #3814 5B
of raw materials ek 789,629 696,219
Other deposits and prepayments HE a4 RFEFRIE 276,615 268,576
Value-added tax receivables JE W HE (B 75 R 08 374,610 457,045
Other receivables JFEE LB At BR R 434,209 279,899

6,064,257 5,355,998
As at 1 January 2019, trade receivables net of allowance for MR2019F1A1H  REREFEHH
credit losses from contracts with customers amounted to JEWE SRR (MBREEBEREBF
HK$3,058,992,000. %) /43,058,992,000 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continueD)

notes:

(U]

(i)

(iii)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit sales are
made to customers with a satisfactory and trustworthy credit history.
Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group
allows its customers an average credit period of 45 to 90 days. The
following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables presented
based on the invoice date.

23. ERESZ R HEMERK (2)

B EE
)

AEBEREREAFELA - SFEZ
BEEZEFPHNEELEENEEEFEER
B EEHENGHLETERLTHRIFN
BEF  BEPEERBEEHMTURY - K
KRERTEFPNTHEERRISHE
90R - LT RIZERAMEINZ BKE
ZREBRRNRED

Aged: BRER
Not exceeding 30 days Ti#iE30H
31-60 days 31-60H
61-90 days 61-90H
91-120 days 91-120H
Over 120 days 1208 k&

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$291,125,000 (2019: HK$38,622,000) which are past due as at the
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$193,919,000 (2019:
HK$33,697,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered
as in default as the Group considered such balances could be recovered
based on repayment history, the financial conditions and the current
credit worthiness of each customers. Other than trade receivables
amounting to HK$47,923,000 (2019: nil), the Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

As at 31 December 2020, the trade receivables of an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$747,393,000 (2019: HK$920,526,000) were secured by
customers’ property interests and machinery being held as collateral.

Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

(if)

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx FIT
3,258,482 3,579,848
639,587 35,789
97,206 4,925
58,014 15,811
135,905 17,886
4,189,194 3,654,259
MW 20204 12 A31H » A& HEJRE

KB ZEREHRTREEREA
£ 291,125,000 # st ( 2019 F
38,622,000 7L ) 2 & A WS H
AKEE@H - TROBHEHRE P
A 193,919,000 % st ( 2019 &
33,697,000/ T) B @ HI90 K sk A £ &
AWRBEY  AALSERET—EF
ZIBEERRE MR RBTEE
RS - RAUL S ERT T LAME - B E
W Z SR A $£47,923,000/57C(2019
FooE)I o REBEW R FHE BT
BAEAERGS -

MR20208F 128318 FEEAHK
747,393,000/ 7T (20194F : 920,526,000
B2 EBE SRS BERFZME
Tz MR R R ERIER -

HK$
us$

BT
I

WIENFRAEEE RN ERWENE
WE S REMBERAT -
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAT
19,847 45,608
55,325 58,703

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set
out in note 37(ii).

(iii)

BXERAR AR 2020 F3R]

e B 5 I M iR K 2 BB AT (A S
AMEE37() ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

24.

230

TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following were the Group’s financial assets as at 31
December 2020 and 2019 that were transferred to banks by
discounting/endorsing these receivables on a full recourse basis.
As the Group has not transferred the significant risks and
rewards relating to these receivables, it continues to recognise
the full carrying amount of the receivables and has recognised
the cash received on the transfer as a collateralised borrowing.
These financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position.

2. cREEEE

AR B A% ER2020F £ 2019
F12A3VB U ERERA R
B/ BEEETRTZEHMEE -
R 7N &R B30 5K % 1 55 FE U AR SR AR
BZBREDRRKERER - i
HESBHERABERER22HER
B THEEMRIRRSERAE
HEH HESHEERAEEZ
A ISR RIABE K AT -

Bills receivables
discounted to
banks with full recourse
IRITHEREEREZ
FEWREIERAR
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Carrying amount of transferred assets EEREEMNEREASR
Carrying amount of transferred liabilities ~ ##:% & (FH) IR 2 58

303,934 461,824
(303,934) (461,824)

Net position FEEAR MR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 25. BEW({T)EBE R RIFKIE
COMPANIES
Amounts due from related companies disclosed pursuant to RIBEBRREGRDIE622G T AR
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap 622G are as o B AR RIBMNT ¢
follows:

Balance at Balance at

31 December 1 January

2020 2020

Name of related company Terms 120205 F20204F
BEARER H 12A318 &% TR1B&#
HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET

Lee & Man Industrial Manufacturing Limited ~ Unsecured and non-interest
("LMIML") (note a) bearing

EBXEXARAA(IEXEE]) (MFa) EEAERE 6,505
Lee & Man Chemical and its subsidiaries Unsecured and non-interest

("LMC Group") bearing
EX/tIREMBARR EEAERE

(MEx{tI%E]) 13,695 14,130
On Wah Environmental Protection Unsecured and non-interest

Technology Company Limited bearing

("OnWah") (note b) EEMALRE
ZERRBEERAR([RE]) (i) 85,695 100,114

99,390 120,749

The amounts due from related companies represent trade FEWBEEANRRBDERIEE
balance due from LMIML, LMC Group and On Wah. The ¥ BEBYCLIEBERLTENE S
amounts are unsecured, interest-free with credit period of 45 B XEHBMOEKE 28 -
days and are aged less than 45 days. HIEEHASA RRE D458 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 25. B () BEE R BRI (%)
COMPANIES (conTiNUED)
notes: MEFE
(@)  The entity is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr. Li King Wai (a) ZEBATKETEZRE TAKA
Ross, who is also a daughter of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the RAEXERRFERFB L2 ARAMELE
substantive shareholder of the Company. Mr. Li King Wai Ross is a R  FEERERERAESE -

director of the Company.

(b)  The entity is indirectly controlled by Ms. Lee Man Ching, a sister of Dr. Lee (b) REBAANAEFEIXEBLRFN
Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun, the directors of the Company. S 2 IR IR IRAE B SO 2 R R
il
The amounts due to related companies represent trade balance JEREERARRENENEXT
due to LMC Group. LMC Group is beneficially owned and SENEBESER  c BEX(EIEHE
controlled by Mr. Lee Man Yan, an associate of Dr. Lee Man BARBEETEXEE LT REXH
Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun, the directors of the EEZHBALSZNELAEEGH
Company. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free, with BREH - 2EFHELEER £
average credit period of 30 days and are aged less than 30 B FHEEH0ARERDMN30
days. B -
26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 26. fTHEE@TE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FH&ET
Derivative financial liabilities fTEEmAsE
- net settlement —FERW
Foreign currency forward contracts INERHAA 4
(note) (F3E) 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

= A
=

BB AR MY RE (AR)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

27.

(CONTINUED)

note:
Foreign currency forward contracts

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at 31
December 2019 are as follows:

Notional amount

26. fTEEBM I A®)

MiEE
IEEHEN

MR2019F 12 A3V BAREIINEERBEN 2 E
ZEFINT ¢

Currency conversion

B

2 contracts to buy USD 1,868,000 in total
21 & #FHE 1,868,000 7T

The above contracts were matured during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The fair values of the above derivative financial instruments were calculated using
discounted cash flow analysis based on the applicable forward foreign exchange
rates.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less.

Bank balances and cash that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

27.

USD1 to HK$7.7869-7.7894
13E7054,7.78698 71-7.7894 8 7T

FHAYOREE2020F12A31AILEFERE
gﬁ °

EfTEERTAZ AR EDNREEBERIN
BEXDMZHRBASRETHE -

RITEHRRRAE

RITHERLACBREAEERFAN
BeLRBEER3MEASIANE
HSRITI AR -

VHNEREEERIEEEHE
MERITHE SR RIRSEIT

HK$ BT

us$ E7T

Euro (“EUR") Bt (T ])
RMB AR

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx TAT
2,784 20,071
33,568 1,578,729
47 192

1,974 —

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 are set out in note 37.

RE220209F % 2019412 A31H
WEFE 2R EF G FEHRHIFE3T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. BTE S RHEMERNR
2020 2019
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Trade and bills payables ENE S REEERER 1,455,188 1,387,515
Construction fee payable FEfS TR 483,478 554,603
Accruals &R 472,108 605,361
Other payables H A FE T 5RI8 219,753 285,149
2,630,527 2,832,628
notes: BT
(i) The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges from 30 to (i) BHEEZ FHREAHE30E1208 1
120 days. The following is an aged analysis of the trade and bills payables Lo TRRNBERRIZERAHZE
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. NEGREBERZERDN -
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
Aged: AR -
Not exceeding 30 days TiBiB30H 644,824 759,184
31-60 days 31-60H 290,524 189,914
61-90 days 61-90H 252,961 243,733
91-120 days 91-120H 118,145 123,059
Over 120 days 1208 £ 148,734 71,625
1,455,188 1,387,515
(i) Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies other than (i) WIHAEHREEERNEEEAENE
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below: NEZREMBTAT
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
HK$ BT 2,931 1,367
EUR BT 7,268 27,677
us$ xE7T 969,893 547,889
RMB AR 8,488 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HEEE

31 December 31 December

2020 2019
2020F 20194
12A31H 12A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Lease Liabilities payable: ENHEEAE
Within one year —F R 17,518 4,867
Within a period of more than one year HlE—FELRMEZ R
but not more than two years 10,127 6,497
Within a period of more than two years BEmTFRELRAT ZEE
but not more than five years 10,749 5,940
Within a period of more than five years Bl F 2 B 35,507 36,088
73,901 53,392
Less: Amount due for settlement with B NREAREBEZ
12 months shown under SERRBEEIT
current liabilities (17,518) (4,867)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1218 A& fE/5 &~
shown under non-current liabilities SHERIERBEEIR 56,383 48,525
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30. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 30. BHEE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Receipts in advance from customers KB EP 2 FEKK 108,948 81,395
Contract liabilities represent receipts in advance from customers AEHEBEERAERPHATKEY
for unsatisfied performance obligations and are recognised as EAzERR  YEAEEZEKE
revenue when the Group performs its obligations under the HHBLHEERBERERA - £A
contracts. At contract inception, performance obligation is HHEE  BHECHEHRE—FR
expected to be satisfied within one year. FERK °
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRIVIRRAFE ZWARERS
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward EZVBANABHEEREBEL VE
contract liabilities and how much relates to performance BEPEAERRKCBEOET -

obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx TR

Revenue recognised that was included BIEE 4 LB EE )
in the contract liability balance at the 4548 2 W A FER
beginning of the year 81,395 92,025
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ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & F20204 124318 1L F/Z

31. BANK BORROWINGS 31. SRITEE
The Group’s bank borrowings, all of which are unsecured, AEEZRTEE (2 AER
comprised: )8

2020 2019

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH T FHET

Bank loans IRITER 11,098,063 12,162,312

Bank import loans IRITHEOER 228,742 173,235

11,326,805 12,335,547

The bank borrowings are repayable as follows: $R1T{& & 8B T

5,255,174 4,874,429

3,075,032 1,389,486

2,996,599 6,071,632

11,326,805 12,335,547

(5.255,174) (4,874,429)

Within one year —F R

More than one year, but not exceeding BR—FELRME
two years

More than two years, but not exceeding BEMFEEIRASE
five years

Less: Amount due within one year shown B YR AREBER

under current liabilities —FRE|EFE
Amount due after one year —F & E|H AR

6,071,631 7,461,118
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31. BANK BORROWINGS (conTiNUED) 31. RITEE &)

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings are as follows: AEBEERRAT :

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET
Fixed-rate borrowings EBEE 1,618,589 316,891
Variable-rate borrowings ZEEE 9,708,216 12,018,656
11,326,805 12,335,547

notes: Mtz -

(i) As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s variable-rate borrowings carry (i) MW2020F12A318 - AEEZEEE
variable interest rates ranging from Hong Kong Interbanks Offered Rate FEERBEBRTRAERE([HER
("HIBOR") plus 0.75% to HIBOR plus 1.31% (2019: ranging from HIBOR TTRZESHRB ) MN0.75%ZE1.31%(2019
plus 0.80% to HIBOR plus 1.35%). F:EBRTEERSIN0.80% E

1.35%) °
The weighted average effective interest rate of the Group’s bank AEBMBTEEZEBR R NEFESR
borrowings are as follows: U
2020 2019
Variable-rate borrowings FEEE 1.36% 3.95%

(ii) HK$2,694,742,000 (2019: HK$3,770,485,000) in bank borrowings of (i) —F AN B HIR 4T & & 5,255,174,000
HK$5,255,174,000 (2019: HK$4,874,429,000) which are repayable # 5T (20194 © 4,874,429,0005% 7T )
within one year contain repayable on demand clauses. B 2,694,742,0007% 7L (20194 -

3,770,485,0008 7T ) B EERER 2
1R -
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32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 32. EEBIEEE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised TRAFZEBREEREBEEER
and movement thereon during the current and prior year: RNEEREFEZEE

Undistributed

earnings

Accelerated of the PRC

tax subsidiaries

depreciation Hh B ffY
B E AT Total
wE KOBER aFt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FAET FET
At 1 January 2019 R2019%F181H 1,076,285 368,085 1,444,370
Charge (credit) to profit or loss &t A (B A ) 1B 2% 109,675 (102,315) 7,360
Exchange differences EH =% (897) (5,922) (6,819)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A318 1,185,063 259,848 1,444,911
Charge (credit) to profit or loss &t A (# A ) 182 106,384 (201,225) (94,841)
Exchange differences P& =% 582 (13,352) (12,770)
At 31 December 2020 202012 A31H 1,292,029 45,271 1,337,300

MR2020F12A31H » "KEBH K
FREAERINARAT ZFHE
&5 18 49 192,000,000 7T (2019
£ : 212,000,000 7T ) » B E
EEFRREMER - MEFE

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$192,000,000 (2019: HK$212,000,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of such losses for both years
due to unpredictability of future profit streams. As at 31

December 2020, tax losses of approximately HK$36,000,000
(2019: HK$37,000,000) attributable to the PRC subsidiaries,
approximately HK$84,000,000 (2019: HK$84,000,000)
attributable to the Vietnam subsidiaries will expire at various
dates up to and including 2022 (2019: 2022) and
approximately HK$37,000,000 (2019: HK$61,000,000)
attributable to the Malaysia subsidiaries will expire at various
dates up to and including 2026. The remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$35,000,000 (2019: HK$30,000,000)
attributable to the Hong Kong subsidiaries may be carried
forward indefinitely.

VTARZEFIBERARLCHESE
B o W2020% 128318 » HIEE
8 #7 36,000,000 78 7T (2019 &F :
37,000,000/ ) R EFEIM B A
7 & #784,000,0005 7T (20194
84,000,000/ 7T ) 2k B M M B
A BREZTEFE2022F (2019
F2022F) 2% ETR A HE
By - K #37,000,000 % jr (2019
F : 61,000,000 0) KRB HRA
THBARIZHMBERBEREEY
BIE2026F 2 Z AT R HERRIHS -
T 2 T T K518 4935,000,00058 7T
(20194 : 30,000,000/87T)KEF
BB AR - AR ER A & o
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32.

33.

240

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (conTinueD)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable to
retained profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
HK$10,612,731,000 (2019: HK$7,022,821,000) as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. The Group contributes monthly the lower of
HK$1,500 or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the
MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is
to make the required contribution payable on the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
HK$68,596,000 (2019: HK$87,022,000) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes.

33.
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VIREREEE (E)

RIBEFBIMEMSHE - B20085F
TATEREFREMBARRIMA
FZRBBINEATENT o KB
NABEFEAEFA£10,612,731,000
0 (20194 : 7,022,821,000 %
TU) PR 2 B R E R BN AR S B
WMERFIBELEHE AAEEATE
FlEREZHEOENERAREREZE
BRI Al R AR R BT = B o

RARE R ET
REMHKET S

AEBEEBRERMEAERERR
Y-IHREEE o wE & E
MEEREAKENEESHATH -
NEBAERABENESR - A&
121,500 LA B A HFRAK
5% @ AEIEERE  MBEDsE
HR - BEEZHK -

AEEHRESAANE—TIH
EERRFEFLABBRMAER -

TEMNEQAREANEESSEF
Bl AT & #t A9 B R B R R K 1R A
E - FEKMBARAREET S
BETFTED L - mRAREFR G E
Ko ERBRZA AEBERK
BARAGFEIMM —EARRELERS
K o

REZEF R 2 8% 168,596,000
T (20194 : 87,022,000870) &
AEBIRMEHRTEZIETL B3Z
ZErE PR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34, B
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EBERYE &5
Note HK$'000
it TER
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 201961818 »
at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019 2019F12A318 Rk
and 31 December 2020 2020%12A31H
FR0.0258 TR L@k 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2019%F 1818
at 1 January 2019 F0.0258 LR L& 4,388,908,000 109,723
Share repurchased and cancelled B BB Rt 88 (i) (22,100,000) (553)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2019%F12A31H
at 31 December 2019 BRR0.025BTHEBR 4,366,808,000 109,170
Share repurchased and cancelled AR i (i) (20,166,000) (504)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 720206 12A318
at 31 December 2020 FAR0.0258 LA & B 4,346,642,000 108,666
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L —
34. SHARE CAPITAL (conTiNUED) 34. BA(#)
Note: Bt 5
(i) The Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as (i) RABRBERAEEE & 2RHNAT :
follows:
2020 20204
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each BRI ER expenses)
Month of H1%0.025%8 T Highest Lowest AFEARE
repurchases e A5 2EBR BE RIE (EEE)
HK$ HK$ HK$°000
BT BT THERT
March 2020 202043 A 20,166,000 95,861
2019 20195
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each R ERE expenses)
Month of Fh0.0258 T Highest Lowest AHERNRE
repurchases fEmAH 2 EmR &= &K (EFE)
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT FET
January 2019 2019414 6,270,000 6.54 6.48 40,790
August 2019 201948 A 12,169,000 413 3.94 49,631
October 2019 20194104 1,023,000 4.09 4.06 4,212
19,462,000 94,633
2,638,000 share were repurchased during the year ended 31 December 2,638,000 X RN E £2018F 12 A
2018 and were cancelled in January 2019. BTRIEFEEEKLN2019F1 A5EH -
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35.

36.

PERPETUAL CAPITAL SECURITIES

On 29 May 2019, the Company (the “Issuer”) issued USD300
million perpetual capital securities at an issue price of 100 per
cent which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Distribution is
payable semi-annually in arrears based on a fixed rate of 5.5
per cent per annum. Distribution by the Issuer may be deferred
at its sole discretion. These perpetual capital securities have no
fixed maturity and are redeemable in whole, but not in part, at
the Issuer’s option on 29 May 2024, or any distribution
payment date falling thereafter at their principal amounts
together with any accrued, unpaid or deferred distributions.
While any distributions are unpaid or deferred, the Company
will not declare, pay dividends or make distributions or similar
periodic payments in respect of, or repurchase, redeem or
otherwise acquire any securities of lower rank.

Distribution to holders of perpetual capital securities may be
deferred at the Group’s discretion and in which event, the
Company and the Issuer will not declare/pay any dividends or
distributions, redeem, reduce, cancel or buy-back any of the
Company'’s and/or the Issuer’s share capital.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include the bank borrowings and lease liabilities as disclosed in
note 31 and 29, respectively, and perpetual capital security and
equity attributable to equity holders of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

35.

36.

KBEARGE S

M2019F5H29H » KA F (31T
A BT T3.00BE T KEELE RFE
% - LA100% Wy B 1T B B 22 FT b
Me BRI EEFRTF5.5%
METLLEDIK - FITATBITH
BEDIRIELL - ILFKEBERFS
YeEEER B RATRET AR
BN 2024F5 A29B8 S BEE TR D
A RBHAARS SREER A E
RN SEE S KRG KEEARNE
HF2B(LIFEIMH)ER - BT
KIIRMNSKIERLE - RARBRAE
K~ REER B ENL 2R S 2R
UM TR BB - Ok
BATAEEAFNES

HKBEABFZRBEAZDIK -
AAASEBBREEMNRK - it
BAT  ARAAERZBETAKLTE
Bk KBEEMBRESEDIK - B
B F A EENE I AR A
R/ HEBET AN -

EXRERERE

AREBEREEAUERAEEDN
ERAFELEXEDT  TEBRE
B kB P RERFAE ARH
REEH o AEBEMNBERBRES
BEF -

AEEBMNEALRBEERE 9
BIEED BIRM E31 R29W B 2 817
EBEELRHEARE  URKEELRE
HERANFEEHFEAELEZ(E
FEEBITRARZERE) -

ARBEETHRBRIENER - 1F
RBHHN—8D  BEBFEZEELNK
AAREZHREABROAR - 1R
BEENES AKE/KBBIKNT
BB~ BATE IR KRR [ A DA K
THEXEDNRETFGEERED
R o
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

244

(i)

(ii)

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report

Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets tREE

Financial assets at amortised cost REHER AN S REE

Financial liabilities Ed =L

Fair value through profit or loss — BARER ABE—
derivative financial instruments MTEemIE

Amortised cost SO RN

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loan to a
joint venture, trade and other receivables, bills receivables
discounted with recourse, amounts due from (to) related
companies, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, advances drawn on bills receivable discounted
with recourse and bank borrowings. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

37. €T A

TR EER
2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FBT
6,283,024 7,596,192
— 3
(ERDLPAUEY 15,040,301

M EREEENWRBER

AEENTIESRTABEA
BEEER EBUREZREM
R MEREZEBEEER
B () BREARRIA -
RITEHR LIRS  ENESR
HiR®  MERBEZEEERE
BRBABANMNRRRITEE - 2
BMTAMNFBRAARMER
BE-HZRFeRITAARORA
REEMEER (SR RR &
MEmERE)  FEERR MRS
BED R o A& MZE R R
MBRFIINTX - BBEE
EREEZEFRR - ARERR
BB U SR FE E W i
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(a)

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions, which
expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.
Management monitors other foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider the use of
hedging instruments when the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group's significant
monetary assets and monetary liabilities, excluding
intercompany balances and derivative financial
instruments, that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities at the reporting dates are as follows:

Monetary assets (note):

37. T T R#)
MBEREERNWREE

(i)

HK$ BT
Us$ ETT
EUR BT
Monetary liabilities (note):

HK$ BT
Us$ ETT
EUR BT

The above amounts exclude HK$/US$ amounts where the
functional currency of the relevant group entities is US$/
HK$ because HK$ is pegged to the US$, as a result of
which the exchange exposure is not significant.

note:

BXERAR AR 2020 F3R]

(&)

mi5
(a)

Gy
B E R

rEBGFEINERZ S <
AR ER B R AR SN [ R
ol mGRER - BT
BRESNERER - AR
EHTERINEZSHET LI
HeHaR EEESE
PEREMINEREE - A
ERRUEBRERE T
Ao

AREBERHE B I IELAE
AEEERY S E

LEEEBEAERERR
BE(RBRRERRITE
SR T ARSI MREE
m
BRAE (M) -

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTAT
22,631 65,680
88,893 1,637,718

a7 192

ERAEMEE) -

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FTAT

1,091 1,367
971,087 721,321

7,268 27,677
M EReEASEAEEE

BRI AEL,

TTETT ETERRE |
PBTTERTTH - FEt
WRmEBRELRR
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37.

246

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminuep) 37.

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(@) Currency risk (Continued)
In addition, intercompany balances denominated in

foreign currencies are as follows:

eI E®)

(i) BERREEBNREE
(%)

5 E g (&)

(a) EEER(E)
BESN - AN SHE 2 B
NEERGHIAT

2020 2019
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET FBT

Assets EE

us$ e 969,203 349,671
HK$ BT 886,797 316,729
EUR BT 76,707 51,237
Liabilities =L

us$ ETT 1,007,718 377,220
HK$ BT 241,668 552,686
RMB ARKE 5,588,744 5,340,356
EUR BT 76,707 51,237
Sensitivity analysis BRE ST

The Group is primarily exposed to the fluctuation of AREBXZmMHBTRETL

HK$ and US$ against RMB.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

37. €T B(#)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (#&)
Market risk (Continued) miZEE (&)
(@) Currency risk (Continued) (a) E®REpR(E)

The following tables detail the Group’s sensitivity to
a 5% (2019: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies to the extent
that the exposures have not been hedged. 5%
(2019: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items (including
intercompany balances denominated in foreign
currencies) and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. On
this basis, there will be an increase/decrease in
post-tax profit and equity where the functional
currency of the relevant group entities strengthens

against the foreign currencies by 5%, and vice

TR FF AN SR B A
FREBEIERT - HEE
EERB e EHHE
HEINE EFARTRES%
(20194 : 5% ) B B
f& °5% (20194 : 5%)
BERNRETEERABE
e HNES e B B AR O K
EE - REEERING
ERMAIEREEBIED
RIETE - HRESTRE
FEUINETHEMRERNE
BIgH (BENINEEE
ZABARAEK) TR
FRABREBRE - Dk
HNEETE RENS5% BB - £
IEET - EHEEEE
B2 EEHINEAE
5% + Tt B &
#EnmWA  RZIRA o

versa.
(Decrease) increase Increase (decrease)
in post-tax profit in equity
BRERR D) & I OGr 2)
2020 2019 2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET THRT FET
HK$ BT (18,474) (10,233) 14,418
us$ e 52,497 2,186 3)
RMB AR 104 233,330 222,960
EUR BT 349 (26) (7)
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)
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(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2020 Annual Report

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances carry floating-rate of
interests and have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rates. However, the Group
considers that the bank balances are within short
maturity period, and the fluctuation in interest rate
and the cash flow interest rate risk arising from

bank balances are insignificant.

The Group's fair value and cash flow interest risks
mainly relate to fixed and variable rates borrowings
respectively. The Group has not entered into any
interest rate hedging contracts, but considers that
the interest rate of bank borrowings is relatively
stable and so no interest rate swap was used to
hedge the exposure to interest rate risk in current
year. The management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant

interest rate exposure should the need arise.

37. €T B(#)

(ii)

BREREERNREE
(%)

EE1EAC P

(b)

& E R
REERITHERIIES -
HRBRITHISH XK -
RITHEBAR RS RER
K o AT - AEER
RRIRITHER IR AR
Bl - BYEIRITAERSIRE
MERBH LB REN X
R RE -

AEBEZRARERRER
ENREREZDRIEE

BMIREEAM - A&
Elli: S RvARR OS2 ped
B4 ERBRITEEN
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, to the
extent that they were not hedged by effective
instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease in
interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the

reasonably possible change in interest rates.

For bank borrowings at variable-rate of
HK$9,708,216,000 (2019: HK$12,018,656,000), if
interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2020 after taking into account the
capitalisation of borrowing costs using the
capitalisation rate ranging from 1.92% to 3.78%
(2019: 3.20% to 3.30%) would decrease/increase
by HK$3,067,000 (2019: decrease/increase by
HK$35,862,000).

37. €T B(#)

(ii)

EGERER AR 2020 F£3R
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FRIRITEEMS - WA
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2 KEEBEZE20205F
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F :320%%E3.30%):F
B2 ERBERANE
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

250

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model under
application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually or
based on provision matrix. In this regard, the directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial
instruments is limited because the counterparties are

banks with good reputation.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Accordingly, the Group’s concentration of credit risk is
considered minimal.

37. €T B(#)

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

37. T T R#)
(i) MBEAREERNREE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

In addition to the credit risk on trade debts, the Group is
also exposed to concentration on credit risk on its loan to
a joint venture. Because the Group’s involvement in the

(%)

EERE R KR EF G (E)

%TEE%TT%“E’MZEH@
Sy ARERABEEEENR L
FEETEERR - BREAS%

management of joint venture, the Group is in a position E2HESEPENER KI5
to monitor their financial performance and would take @%J&‘fﬁt? HUBRBNLE
timely actions to safeguard its assets and/or to minimise WA R R FTE LARERLE
its losses. Accordingly, management believes that the ENSORIEEE - Eit
Group's exposure to the credit risk associated with loan EREMEELRE IEQ\A%AM/\
to joint venture is low. ¥EREIENEERBER -
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment NEE 2 AEEERR & BT

comprises the following categories:

HBEREATER

Internal creditrating  Description Trade receivables Other financial assets/other items
NEEE R BE EWEHER EtSRERE/HMIER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
R B and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired NEAEHEEER
BFFENARBEETALRRNEGE RIBHEEEE-
FEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but ~ Lifetime ECL - 12-month ECL
8 AR usualy settle in ful not credit-impaired NEAESEEER
ERABEHARENERRELUEE KIRPEEER-
FEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired
[ credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired KREBHEEBE-HEERE
information developed internally or BaBREEEEE-
external resources FEERE
RANTEEENINBERETRE N
ERNREERBEEEM
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired
B credit-impaired credit-impaired RERHEERE-EERE
BRBELABENEERE RABHEERE-
EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
HEE in severe financial difficulty and the FEME FORMER

Group has no realistic prospect of

recovery
ﬁ*ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%/\ﬁﬁﬁ“iﬁmﬁéﬁﬁ

AEETEERLRKETY

BXERAR AR 2020 F3R]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 37. €M T A#)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (#&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERBNBER & (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRAFMAZTEREEEIEN
Group's trade and other receivables, loan to a joint HZAEBERE S MKEMEE
venture, bills receivables discounted with recourse and HEEREENR  WERE
amounts due from related companies which are subject ZERWNEBRRRERREER
to ECL assessment: AIRIEREERR
Financial assets at amortised costs HRESEAE R BR R 2 B EE
12-month
or 2020 Gross 2019 Gross
External Internal lifetime ECL carryingamount  carrying amount
Notes  creditrating  creditrating NEAZLES 2020F 2019%
M HBEEFSR ABEEFR EHCEFR BEREE BEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FaL
Trade receivables 23 N/A (Note 2)  Lifetime ECL (provision 3,290,540 3,050,647
ERESER TER GEZ) matrix)
REEHRER
BiE(BE)
Loss Credit-impaired 6,420 17,034
B EERE
3,296,960 3,067,681
Amounts due from 25 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 99,390 120,749
related companies TER (1) NEAERHEEESR
i E=UNSE O]
Bank balances 27 Low risk N/A 12-month ECL 1,182,115 2,917,366
FITEERR &R TER REABRBEERR
Bills receivables 23 Low risk N/A 12-month ECL 963,275 722,502
EWEE i TR 2EABREERS
Bills receivables discounted 24 Low risk N/A 12-month ECL 303,934 461,824
with recourse EER TEA REABREERR
MRRE EREEER
Loan to a joint venture 21 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 71,376 159,999
BEREER TR iEa)) NEABHEEFE
Other receivables 23 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 434,209 279,899
FERE IR TR GEL NEAEREESE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD) 37. @@ T A (#)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) ()
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERBNBER & (&)
Financial assets at amortised costs (Continued) AR 2 & E
(%)
Notes: FtzE -
1. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group 1. ANEE DS H KB AR KRS
uses past due and repayment information to assess whether credit BYRERANREERRER A
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. EIEARNSEERBEE o
Not past due/
No fixed
repayment
terms
JEBEEmE T
BRIER
HK$'000
FERT
Amounts due from related companies iz NI 99,390
Loan to a joint venture BEBEER 71,376
Other receivables P W LAt BR X 434,209
o = ,
2. For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified z BB SR - AREEA

BEEMBREEAE RO
FE R ST E B 8 AR
EEREE BREEREZEBA
Sh AEBEYWHEFEBRBER
BXIZABEEFRENELEE
TEHIEERE - BE2020512
A31BILEEZFHEEERA
1.96% (20194 :3.90%) °

approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. Except for credit-impaired debtors, the Group determines the
expected credit losses on these items by using a provision matrix,
grouped by internal credit rating. The average loss rates for the
year ended 31 December 2020 was 1.96% (2019: 3.90%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuep)

37. €T B(#)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (#&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERBNBER & (&)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRBERRIEB(CT AR ER
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the HEOEFCRIBRFAMER
simplified approach. BRZZE -
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
“wHES HKETEH
FEER FEEE Total
(FEERE) (FERE) &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
As at 1 January 2019 A2019F181H 67,939 17,034 84,973
Impairment losses recognised & 1B &5 18 #E 7R 122,487 - 122,487
Impairment losses reversed  J&{{& 518 [B] (67,939) - (67,939)
Exchange adjustments (RIS (3,597) - (3,597)
As at 31 December 2019 M2019F12H31H 118,890 17,034 135,924
Impairment losses recognised 3 {& &5 18 T 72 58,929 - 58,929
Impairment losses reversed 3 {& &5 48 [B] # (118,890) - (118,890)
Write-offs i S - (10,614) (10,614)
Exchange adjustments PE W o2 5,692 - 5,692
As at 31 December 2020 420205 12A31H 64,621 6,420 71,041
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep) 37. ®M IR #)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as significant
source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2020, the Group
has available unutilised banking facilities of approximately
HK$23,199,742,000 (2019: HK$15,093,800,000). Details

of bank borrowings are set out in note 31.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from

interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

EGERER AR 2020 F£3R

(%)
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BRACERTRERENR
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TRFMRIBLEH T B RIER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
In addition, the following tables detail the Group’s

37. €T B(#)

(i)

BEREERNRBE
(&)

MEBEE R (&
AN TRAFAANEE ST

liquidity analysis for its financial instruments. The tables B2 REMEDN - R IIBE
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted RFHEEENITETARKRE
contractual net cash flows on derivative instruments that MENFREREINR o WE
settle on a net basis. When the amount payable is not NRIETEE - BT ERIE

fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by T2 BRI EBRRRITH R

reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by
the yield curves existing at the end of the reporting
period. The liquidity analysis for the Group's derivative

BRI RIARMKREE - &
SEREANIBARHITE
ERMTANRBUESINT  BE

financial instruments are prepared based on the BERRBEHINEBHBT TR
contractual maturities as the management consider that ATERERCKENEEZER
the contractual maturities are essential for an e
understanding of the timing of the cash flows of
derivatives.
Liquidity tables MBEZ K
Weighted Repayable on Carrying
average  demand or Total  amount at
effective less than 1-3 3 months 1-5 undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year years  cash flows 2020
20205
ERAZ  RERER AR 12A318
nE¥EE  SHRMER 12387 3WARIE 1258 REmEAT KA
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Al TR TR TR TERT TR TR
31December2020  2020%12831A
Non-derivative financial 374 $BEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables  [EFTZ 5 R Eflk 1,600,690 344,679 213,050 2,158,419 2,158,419
Advance drawnonbills  HEREENEE
receivables discounted BB
with recourse 303,934 303,934 303,934
Amounts due torelated  ENBEA A
companies 16,056 16,056 16,056
Bank borrowings R/iTRE
- fixed rates -8 . 296,114 450,567 889,056 1635737 1,618,589
Bank borrowings BiRE
- Variable-rate -%8 2,936,054 706,936 6,269,518 9,912,508 9,708,216

5,152,848

795246 1809042 6269518 140,026,654  13,805214
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmmuen) 37. $MT A ()
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (#&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER(E
Liquidity tables (Continued) THENE DK ()

Weighted  Repayable on Carrying
average  demand or Totdl  amountat
effective less than 1-3 3 months 15 undiscounted 31 December

interest rate 1 month months to 1 year years  cash flows 2019
2019
ERAE  ERLER AR 12A3A

mEFSE  gOMERE  1E3AR 3MEARIE 125F Bansas  EREE
% HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
EEyt FEn TEn TAnL TEn FEL TEn

31 December 2019 201912A31A
Non-derivative financial 374 2RARE
liabilities
Trade and other payables R EFREMER — 1,641,645 397 446 188,176 — 207261 2227267
Advancedrawnonbills — HTERERNZSY
receivables discounted B3

with recourse — 461,824 — — — 461,824 461,824
Amounts due torelated B/ B4 AIZUR

companies - 15,663 - - — 15,663 15,663
Bank borrowings RiTRE

- fixed rates -E8 38 53,631 87,750 179,325 - 320,706 316,891
Bank borrowings RIMEE

- Variable-rate -%8 39 3.9%,137 18,686 559,901 8,355,098 12930422 12,018,656

6,168,900 503,882 927,402 8355698 15955882 15,040,301
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

37. €T B(#)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (#&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER(E
Liquidity tables (Continued) THENE DK ()
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause MAEREERERBGERZR
are included in the “repayable on demand or less than 1 TEER M EBASW
month” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at AT EZRERSK DM
31 December 2020 and 2019, the aggregate 8 A1z A - R20205F &k
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loans 2019 12 H31H » &R
amounted to HK$2,694,742,000 and HK$3,770,485,000 TERZATRAZRED
respectively. Taking into account the Group’s financial Rl A 2,694,742,000 & 7T &
position, the directors do not believe that it is probable 3,770,485,000/8 7T ° & & 3
that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to REE2HBMRR  EEH
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that B RITPKRATEITEBNE
such bank loans will be repaid after the reporting date in o BRAEEARER - H
accordance with the following scheduled repayment EHE - ZERITEEBRA
dates set out in the loan agreements: REBBZERBERBHEM
BoBEERABMERAT
Bank borrowings subject to repayment on demand clause B 75 FE SRR FUR R 2 SRIT 18
based on scheduled repayments: ERHETEENRE
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than 1-3 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 month months to1year  cash flows amount
ERAE LS}
MEFHE  HSRMBERE 123EA 3MBARIE REREAH REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Rl FhR TR TR TR TR
As at 31 December 2020 7202012 318 136 1141263 214506 1347473 2703242 2694742
Asat 31 December 2019 #2019 12 A31H 3.95 3,677,156 101,120 246 3,778,522 3,770,485
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep)

(i) Fair value (iii) 2RE
Fair value measurements recognised in the RERE M BIRRERBRZ AN
consolidated statement of financial position BHitE
This note provides information about how the Group AT REAEEBOFNEE T
determines fair values of various financial assets and AemEEReRBEAAE
financial liabilities. ZER o
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial rEEBRELEMEERSREA
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each BERERERRZA L BER
reporting period. The following table gives information 2 TREHNNEEZES 2
about how the fair values of these financial assets and MEEREREBEARENE

financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the

valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Fair value as at Fair value as at

BOLEGBATARMAERZ
IR -

Financial assets/ 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 Fair value Valuation techniques

Financial liabilities R20209F12A4318  M2019F12A318  hierarchy and key inputs

CREE/CRAR ZBRE ZRNRE ARERE HEAAREEKE

Foreign currency forward - Liabilities - HK$3,000  Level 2 Future discounted cash
contracts classified as B1E—3,000&T F2 flows are estimated
derivative financial based on the applicable
instruments in the forward foreign
consolidated statement exchange rates
of financial position ARABREHENER

NSRS R AR BT AROR ERNERHERRE
RoBRITEEMIA

The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial EERANGEMBRERESR

assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost EERCRAGEREHENAZ

in the consolidated financial statements approximate to B RHEEREEQLE -

their fair values.

BXERAR AR 2020 F3R]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

38. OPERATING LEASES 38. EEAY
The Group as lessor SEEREEA
During the year ended 31 December 2020, rental income in REE2020F12A31BIEFE -
respect of industrial properties, office spaces, certain shops and ERAPEMNIEME  BRE A
staff quarters and plant and machinery in the PRC was TEHHENMEIBTE RKE &S
HK$62,167,000 (2019: HK$58,919,000), net of negligible WESWKRA(EHBRBRTIREZH
outgoings. Leases are within one to ten years. %) /62,167,000 5L (2019 F -
58,919,000 L) - HEH R —F
ETF o
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Minimum lease payments receivable on REEZ R HIE
leases are as follows: MERZRET :
Within one year —FRw 61,455 55,889
In the second year RE—F 61,961 57,425
In the third year RE=F 63,582 53,294
In the fourth year RE I F 65,060 54,646
In the fifth year RERF 64,419 55,392
After five years RAEFE 92,161 149,630
408,638 426,276
39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. ERKIE
2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Capital expenditures contracted for but not FtE 5] #1{B RN 4E A B G x
provided in the consolidated financial REEEBETIEED
statements in respect of acquisition of: BARFL -
- property, plant and equipment — ¥ - B NERE 2,921,471 3,194,166
- land use rights — T ib{E A 124,505 135,121

3,045,976 3,329,287
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 40. RERETRELENERE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TREFMIEAEEHBEETHE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash EMBEED  BREBASkIIFRS
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for 2y mEITHEENABEILIER
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified EREXAKRBERER D BAEAR
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash SECEERENERAREGD
flows from financing activities. FrigzREneE -
Distribution
payable
onperpetual
capital
securities
Lease Bank Dividend K&
liabilities borrowings payable BxES Total
HERE RTEE EfRE 2K At

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TERT TATL TATL

At 1 January 2019 #2019F1 A1H 10,465 13,790,495 — — 13,800,960
Finance cost recognised (Note 10) Bt B AN B2 (25 10) 3,174 — — — 3,174
Additions 1 51,002 — — — 51,002
Exchange realignment EXEHAL (900) — — — (900)
Financing cash flows BEBESRE (10,349) (1,454,948 (1,225,577) (64,721) (2,755,595)
Dedlaration of dividend BIRRE — — 1,225,577 — 1,225,577
Distribution of perpetual capital kBB AEED K

securities — — — 64,721 64,721
At 31 December 2019 #2019 12A31H 53,392 12,335,547 — — 12,388,939
Finance cost recognised (Note 10)  Bf % A% AN B2 (Fi5£10) 2,836 — — — 2,836
Additions =0 29,234 — — — 29,234
Exchange realignment EXEFAE 2,046 — — — 2,046
Financing cash flows HERERE (13,607)  (1,008,742)  (1,086,661) (128707)  (2,237,717)
Declaration of dividend BN — — 1,086,661 — 1,086,661
Distribution of perpetual capital K BEREH 7k

securities — — — 128,707 128,707
At 31 December 2020 #2020F12A31H 73,901 11,326,805 — — 11,400,706
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

FRERS

HZE2020F12A8318BILFE -
AEEBEVE BELAREE
F1,106,741,000%8 7T (2019 F
505,415,000/ 7)) It BEFED
BRI &R -

42. INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42. R BB E R
THE COMPANY

A summarised statement of financial position of the Company

41. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 41.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group's acquisition
of property, plant and equipment was settled through transfer
of deposits paid in the prior years to the extent of
HK$1,106,741,000 (2019: HK$505,415,000).

N FEIR20204F 2 20194F 12 A 31

262

as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

Bz M#BIRR BT

2020 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Non-current asset FRBEE

Investments in subsidiaries RPN E e 637,977 637,977

Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUHT B A R IE 10,112,786 13,536,657
Other receivables JFE L L Ath BR FR L 1,946
Bank balances RITEERR 4,230 1,552,805
10,117,017 15,091,408

Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables FETE A BR 5K 5,749
Amount due to a subsidiary FERTH B A R EIE 7,455,134
4,457 7,460,883
Net current assets REBEESE 10,112,560 7,630,525
10,750,537 8,268,502
Share capital B’ 108,666 109,170
Reserves (Note) EXECOES) 8,319,057 5,836,518
Perpetual capital securities KEERFESH 2,322,814 2,322,814
Total equity farEn 10,750,537 8,268,502
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

42. INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42. NN B BARRER (&)
THE COMPANY (conTivuED)

Note: B EE
Movements in reserves G
Share
Share Contributed repurchase Retained Total
premium surplus reserve profits reserve
&1 % B BHAS% ROBLORHE BIF&F BB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FET FET
At 1 January 2019 R2019F1 418 30,858 634,977 (17,236) 2,446,249 3,094,848
Shares repurchased and A& (D B 12l KR 7t 8H
cancelled — — 17,236 (111,316) (94,080)
Profit for the year FERAF — — — 4,061,327 4,061,327
Dividends recognised as REDIR LS
distributions — — — (1,225,577) (1,225,577)
At 31 December 2019 2019912 A31H 30,858 634,977 — 5,170,683 5,836,518
Shares repurchased and &7 BB Bl R s 88
cancelled — — — (95,357) (95,357)
Profit for the year FEREF — — — 3,664,557 3,664,557
Dividends recognised as BRI IS
distributions — — — (1,086,661) (1,086,661)
At 31 December 2020 72020912 A31H 30,858 634,977 — 7,653,222 8,319,057
The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between the KRB ZEHBARTIARRFB2003F9IAZ
aggregate net tangible assets of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company SEEEMBE NBEAR BV EEFE
pursuant to a group reorganisation in September 2003 and the nominal value of MERARNARZEEMBTIRAAEZE
the Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition. o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

43. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 43. HEAKRBEEALEE
DISCLOSURES
During the year, the Group had significant transactions with FR - AEEREEBAALT(ETAL
related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be IR B AR AR £ T AR A 4 4R 1 A B
connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. Significant AT)VHETERRS - FREZFA
transactions with these parties during the years are as follows: THETHERR AT
(i) Related and connected party transactions (i) HERBEALRZ
2020 2019
Name of party Nature of transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALER XHME TR THT
LMIML (as defined in note 25) Finished goods sold by the Group
BN E¥(EERME25) EEHERKR 605 33,311
Income from supply of steamand
electricity
REZRRENZHA 1,637
Raw materials purchased by the Group
SEEERA 3,061
Lee & Man Paper Products Company Limited  Licence fee expensesincurred
(notea) by the Group
BYXHmERAR (M) SEFTEEXL 1,903
LMC Group (as defined in note 25) Income from supply of steamand
Byt T&E(EE RME25) electricity
REEZIRENZBA 72,052 71,490
Raw materials purchased by the Group
SEBERH 124,993 91,383
Rentalincome in respect of office spaces
BREHEEBA 1,817 1,849
Steam and electricity fee paid by the Group
SEENERLEEREE 76,218 70,779
Rental fee paid by the Group
SEENES 2,092 2,156
Winfibre Group. (note b) Agent fee paid by the Group
Winfibre & (fi5tb) EEDNRES 53,815 56,121
OnWah (as definedin note 25) Raw materials purchased by the Group
ZE(EHERME25) SEBERME 267,423 27,090
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

43. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY
DISCLOSURES (conTinuep)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Related and connected party transactions

(Continued)

notes:

(a) The entity is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr. Li King
Wai Ross, who is also a daughter of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a

substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Li King Wai Ross is a
director of the Company.

(b) The entities are ultimately controlled by Mr. Ng Yu Hung, a step
brother of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a substantial shareholder of
the Company.

Related and connected party balances

Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with related
parties who are also the connected parties are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position and note
25.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remunerations of the directors and other members of
key management during the years were as follows:

43. EBERBEEALTEE &)

(i) HERBEALRSZ(HE)

MEE

() HEBRFLBELEZREBHENT
RARREBERRFERBLZ
LREEEERE FEEBELE

b) ZEERMAATNEERESSE

BELT 2 ELBETREERK
I o

(i) rEEERBEEA &R
AEEEAEALTREINARS
BATZREELEHBFBIRN
RE SRR R M 325 ©

(iii) TEZEEEREFHH

E=NHEBIEEEEKER
FRZBMEWT :

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERx TR

Short-term benefits %2 #pE A
Post-employment benefits RIREF]

44,975 41,158
18 36

41,194
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & F20204 124318 1L F/Z

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 44, RRTBEEMBARFE

OF THE COMPANY

KRB EEMEARR2020F &
201912 A31AMEBHT ¢

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2020 and 2019 are as follows:

266

Place of Nominal value
incorporation/ ofissued and
establishment/ fully paid
registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership
Name of subsidiary HRAL/BL/ BRARERBARE/ interest held by the Company Principal activities
WEATLE BRREESY e ALNRFEERRILA IEEE
Directly Indirectly
E# [
2019
Able Advance International Limited ~ British Virginslands (note ) Ordinary shares - US$4 - Investment holding
AERTHE () 2RR-4E7 FEBR
Lee & Man Industries Company Limited ~~ British Virgin Islands (note i) Ordinary share - US§ 1 100%  Investment holding
AERTHE () 2ER-157 FEBR
Viantage Dragon Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - HK$2 100%  Investmentholding
HEERAR 3 ERk-2En FEBR
Million Profit Corporation Limited ~ Hong Kong Registered capital - HK$100 100%  Investment holding
BEEZRRAT 3 ERR-100AT FEBR
Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial Macau MOP100,000 100%  Procurement of raw
0ffshore) Trading Limited A AM%100,0007 materials
HE(ERERERRE)ES RERE
BRAA
Wang Kei (Macao Commercial Macau MOP100,000 100% Procurement of raw
0ffshore) Trading Limited jil! AM%100,0007 materials
TE(AFEREERKESRRAT TERE
RRENESHERLT The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
(Dongguan Lee & Man Paper Rl (i) US$156,480,000 trading of paper
Factory Co. Ltd) AR 156,480,000 FAEERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REPBHRRMWE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 & F20204 124318 1L F/Z

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 44, KPR FENB LA RFHB &)
OF THE COMPANY (conTinUED)

Place of Nominal value
incorporation/ ofissued and
establishment/ fully paid
registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership
Name of subsidiary #RAL/BL/ BRARERBARE/ interest held by the Company Principal activities
WEAT4E BRREESY e ALNRFEERRILA E:E34
Directly Indirectly
B# Bt
2019
ERENEAARAT The PRC (noteii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
(Guangdong Lee & Man hE (Fti) US$680,000,000 trading of paper
Paper Manufacturing Limited) A% -680,000,000% 7 FHEERES
THEEEARRLT The PRC {noteii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
(Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper R (i) 5$393,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Company Limited) AR 393,000,005 FALERES
ERENEAERAT The PRC (noteii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
(Chongqing Lee & Man Paper R (i) 5$322,430,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) AR -322,430, 00057 RALERES
ERENEHARAT The PRC (noteii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
(Chongging Lee & Man Pulp Rl (i) US$172,830,000 trading of pulp
Manufacturing Limited) FEE-172,830,000% 7 UREERES
TREEARRAT The PRC {noteii) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturing and
(Jiangxi Lee & Man Paper R (i) US$100,000,000 trading of paper
Manufacturing Limited) AR -100,000,000% 7 FALERES
EFENELRARERRLA The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
(Chongqing Lee & Man Tissue R (i) 5$425,000,000 trading of tissue
Manufacturing Limited) & A -425,000,000% T products
GEAEERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #; Z2020F 12 H31H It F/E

44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES A4, RABEEMWEBRARIFEE)
OF THE COMPANY (conTinuED)

Place of Nominal value

incorporation/ ofissued and

establishment/ fully paid

registration share capital/

and operations registered capital Proportion ownership
Name of subsidiary HRAL/ &L/ BRTRARRAEE/ interest held by the Company Principal activities
bl PEEL BRREESY iftEs LT ] 3534

Directly Indirectly
E# Bt
2019
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Vietnam Registered capital - 100%  Manufacturingand
Manufacturing Limited i 15$300,000,000 trading of paper
A %-300,000,000%T RALERES
Grand Fortress Global Limited British Virgin Islands (note ) Ordinary shares- US§100 100%  Investmentholding
BEERERAT ARRAEE(M) £BR-1005T REER
notes: BEE -
(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong. (i) HENBEEBEE -
(i) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the (i) ZERAAEFBEKT ZINEERED
PRC. *

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in FRINHBESERATELELRSE
the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results or XENEEHBEONADTMNE
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other NE - EBEERE  HVEEMHBL
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in AINFEEEAR AN TR -
particulars of excessive length.
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at REKRSFERTMEMERD @ ERBLD
the end of the year, or at any time during both years. A ETMAEENERE
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